



Love Draft

No Known Copyright

Princeton University Library reasonably believes that the Item is not restricted by copyright or related rights, but a conclusive determination could not be made.

You are free to use this Item in any way that is permitted by the copyright and related rights legislation that applies to your use.

Princeton University Library Disclaimer

Princeton University Library claims no copyright governing this digital resource. It is provided for free, on a non-commercial, open-access basis, for fair-use academic and research purposes only. Anyone who claims copyright over any part of these resources and feels that they should not be presented in this manner is invited to contact Princeton University Library, who will in turn consider such concerns and make every effort to respond appropriately. We request that users reproducing this resource cite it according the guidelines described at <http://rbcs.princeton.edu/policies/forms-citation>.

Citation Information

Morrison, Toni. 1931-

Love Draft

2 folders

Contact Information

Download Information

Date Rendered: 2019-09-05 01:08:46 PM UTC

Available Online at: <http://arks.princeton.edu/ark:/88435/44558j88z>

CORRECTIONS: yellow = minor change; blue = insert; red = yet to do.

8

31

36 — 105 (blue)

107 — 110, 111, 112

116

123

157

165

174

178 — 184 (blue)

187 — 185

189

207 — 211

239

252

260

262

284 ?

298

306

308

309-310

316-317

Title page
 Chap Divisions - w/o numbers (9)
 Blank p. before L's (4)

1964/5
 BONG thrown? 1968

scary

Ch. 14 A
 Portrait p. 15
 FRIEND p. 46
 Stranger p. 78
 Benefactor p. 108

Query: evil
~~water~~

Changes
 "heaven" type

| | | | |
|-------|----|------------|--------|
| p. 2 | 7 | p. 65 | p. 81 |
| p. 7 | = | p. 68 down | p. 83 |
| p. 9 | le | p. 71 next | p. 84 |
| p. 10 | le | p. 74 | p. 87 |
| | | p. 75 hang | p. 88 |
| | | | p. 89 |
| | | | p. 91* |

L's sentences: 5

| | | |
|--------|--------|--------|
| p. 117 | "PAPA" | |
| 118 | " | |
| 119 | "do" | 141 |
| 122 | "with" | 163 |
| p. 134 | | 169 |
| | | p. 172 |

1. Portrait
2. Friend.
3. Stranger
- 3 4. Benefactor p. 108
- Stranger

on
 Came back, baby
 I understand
 Came back baby
 Take me by the hand.

p. 8

p. 31

p. 34

~~p. 46~~

p. 107 p. 114

p. 123 ?

p. 157

p. 165

p. 174, 78

~~p. 181~~

p. 187

p. 189

207

239

252

260

262

308

309

p. 316
p. 317

blue = insert

yellow - minor word ch.
or type

(red flags) to do

p. 284

It's dead eyes

and easy truth telling

p. 310 expand

The women's legs are spread wide open, so I hum. Men grow irritable, but they know ~~its~~ all for them. They relax. Standing by, unable to do anything but watch is a trial, but I don't say a word. My nature is a quiet one, anyway. As a child it was considered respectful; as a young woman it was called discreet. Later on it was thought to be the wisdom maturity brings. Nowadays silence is looked on as odd and most of my race has forgotten the beauty of meaning much by saying little. Now tongues work all by themselves with no help from the mind. Still, I used to be able to have normal conversations and, when the need arose, I could make a point strong enough to stop a womb—or a knife. Not anymore, because back in the seventies, when women began to straddle chairs and dance crotch out on television;

when all the magazines started featuring behinds and inner thighs as though that's all there is to a woman, well, I shut up altogether.

Before women agreed to spread in public there used to be secrets—some to hold, some to tell. Now? No. Barefaced being the order of the day, I hum. The words dance in my head to the music in my mouth. People come in here for a plate of crawfish, pass the time, and never notice or care that they do all the talking. I'm background—the movie music that comes along when the sweethearts see each other for the first time, or when the husband is walking the beach front alone wondering if anybody saw him doing the bad thing he couldn't help. My humming encourages people; frames their thoughts like when Mildred Pierce decides she has to go to jail for her daughter. I suspect, soft as it is, my music has that kind of influence too. The way "Mood Indigo" drifting across the waves can change the way you swim. It doesn't make you dive in, but it can set your stroke, or trick you into believing you are both smart and lucky. So why not swim farther and a little farther still? What's the deep to you? It's way down below, and has nothing to do with blood made bold by

coronets and piano keys, does it? Of course, I don't claim that kind of power. My hum is mostly below range, private; suitable for an old woman embarrassed by the world; her way of objecting to the way the century is turning out. Where all is known and nothing understood.

Maybe it was always so, but it didn't strike me until some thirty years ago that prostitutes, looked up to for their honesty, have always set the style. Well, maybe it wasn't their honesty; maybe it was their success. Still, straddling a chair or dancing half naked on tv, these nineties women are not all that different from the respectable women who live around here. This is coast country, humid and God fearing, where female recklessness runs too deep for short shorts or thongs or cameras. But then or now, decent underwear or none, wild women

never could hide their innocence—a kind of pity ⁼ kitty hopefulness that ^{their prince} ~~love~~ ^{his} was on ^{its} way. Especially the tough ones with their box cutters and dirty language, or the glossy ones with two-seated cars and a pocketbook full of dope. Even the ones who wear scars like Presidential medals and stockings rolled at their ankles can't hide the sugar-child, the winsome baby girl curled up somewhere inside,

between the ribs, say, or under the heart. Naturally all of them have a sad story: too much notice, not enough, or the worst kind. Some tale about dragon daddies and ~~ice-veined~~ ^{falschearted} men, or ~~love-blind~~ ^{mean} mamas and friends who did them wrong. Each story has a monster in it who made them tough instead of brave, so they open their legs rather than their hearts where that folded child is tucked.

Sometimes the cut is so deep no woe-is-me tale is enough. Then the only thing that does the trick, that explains the craziness heaping up, holding down, and making women hate one another and ruin their children is an outside evil. People in Up Beach, where I'm from, used to tell about some creatures called Police-heads—dirty things with big hats who shoot up out of the ocean to harm loose women and eat disobedient children. My mother knew them when she was a girl and people dreamed wide awake. They disappeared for a while but came back with new and bigger hats starting in the forties when a couple of "see there, what'd I tell you?" things happened at the shore. Like that woman who ~~made love~~ ^{furrowed} in the sand with her neighbor's husband and the very next day suffered a stroke at the cannery, the grappling knife

^{still}
~~gripped~~ in her hand. She wasn't but ³24 at the time. Another woman—she lived over in Silk and wouldn't have anything to do with Up Beach people—well she hid a flashlight and a purchase deed in the sand of her father-in-law's beachfront one evening only to have a loggerhead dig them up in the night. The miserable daughter-in-law broke her wrist trying to keep the breezes and the Klan away from the paper she'd stolen. Of course nobody flat out saw any Police-heads during the shame of those guilty women, but I knew they were around and knew what they looked like too because I'd already seen them in 1942 when some hard-headed children swam past the safety rope and drowned. As soon as they were pulled under, thunderclouds gathered above a screaming mother and a few dumb struck picknickers and, in a blink, those clouds turned into gate-mouthed profiles wearing wide-brimmed hats. ^{I could swear I}
~~Some swore they~~ heard whoops of joy. From that time on past the fifties they loitered above the surf or hovered over the beach ready to pounce around sunset (you know, when lust is keenest, when loggerheads hunt nests and negligent parents get drowsy). Of course most demons get hungry at suppertime, like us. But Police-

heads liked to troll at night, too, especially when the hotel was full of visitors drunk with dance music, or salt air, or tempted by starlit water. Those were the days when Cosey's Hotel and Resort was the best and best known vacation spot for colored folk on the east coast. Everybody came: Lil green, Fatha Hines, T Bone Walker, Jimmy Lunceford, The Drops of Joy, and guests from as far away as Michigan and New York couldn't wait to get down here. Sooker Bay swirled with first lieutenants and brand new mothers; with young school teachers, landlords, doctors, businessmen. All over the place children rode their fathers' leg shanks and buried uncles up to their necks in sand. Men and women played croquet and got up baseball teams whose goal was to knock a homer into the waves. Grandmothers watched over red thermos jugs with white handles and hampers full of crab meat salad, ham, chicken, yeast rolls and loaves of lemon flavored cake, oh my. Then, all of a sudden, in 1958, bold as a posse, the Police-heads showed up in bright morning. A clarinet player and his bride drowned before breakfast. The inner tube they were floating on washed ashore dragging wads of scale cluttered beard hair. Whether

the bride had played around during the honeymoon was considered and whispered about, but the facts were muddy. She sure had every opportunity. Cosey's Resort had more handsome single men per square foot than anyplace outside Atlanta or even Chicago. They came partly for the music but mostly to dance by the sea with pretty women.

After the drowned couple was separated—sent to different funeral parlors—you'd think women up to no good and mule-headed children wouldn't need further warning because they knew there was no escape: fast as lightning, night time or day, Police-heads could blast up out of the waves to punish wayward women or swallow the misbehaving young. Only when the Resort failed did they sneak off like pick-pockets from a bread line. A few people still sinking crab castles in the back bays probably remember them, but with no more big bands or honeymooners; with the boats and picnics and swimmers gone; when Sooker Bay became a treasury of sea junk and Up Beach itself drowned, nobody needed or wanted to recall big hats and scaley beards. But it's forty years on, now; the Cosey's have disappeared

from public view and I'm afraid for them almost every day.

Except for me and a few fish shacks, Up Beach is twenty feet under water; but the hotel part of Cosey's Resort is still standing. Sort of standing. Looks more like it's rearing backwards—away from hurricanes and a steady blow of sand. Odd what ocean front can do to empty buildings. You can find the prettiest shells right up on the steps, like scattered petals or cameos from a Sunday dress and you wonder how they got there, so far from the ocean. Hills of sand piling in porch corners and between bannister railings are whiter than the beach, and smoother, like twice-sifted flour. ^(over) ~~R~~oses, which all the time hate our soil, rage here, with more thorns than blackberries and weeks of beet red blossoms. The wood siding of the hotel looks silver plated, its peeling paint like the streaks on an unpolished tea service. The big double doors are padlocked. So far nobody has smashed their glass panels. Nobody could stand to do it because the panels mirror your own face as well as the view behind your back: acres of chive grass edging the sparkly beach, a movie screen sky and an ocean that wants you more than anything. No matter the outside loneliness, if you look

Faxglove grows waist high
around the gazebo and

inside the hotel seems to promise you ecstasy and the company of all your best friends. And music. The shift of a shutter hinge sounds like the cough of a trumpet; piano keys waver a quarter note above the wind so you might miss the hurt jamming those halls and closed up rooms.

Our weather is soft, mostly, with peculiar light. Pale mornings fade into white noons, then by 3:00 the colors are savage enough to scare you. Jade and sapphire waves fight each other, kicking up enough foam to wash sheets in. An evening sky behaves as though it's from some other planet—one without rules where the sun can be plum purple if it wants to and clouds can be red as poppies. Our shore is like sugar, which is what the Spaniards thought of when they first saw it. Sucra, they called it, a name local whites tore up for all time into Sooker.

Nobody could get enough of our weather except when the Cannery smell got to the beach and into the hotel. Then guests discovered what Up Beach people put up with everyday and thought

that was why Mr. Cosey moved his family out of the hotel and built that big house on Monarch Street. Fish odor didn't used to be all that bad a thing in these parts. Like marsh stench and privies, it ~~was~~ just ^{added} another variety to the senses. But in the 60's it became a problem. A new generation of females complained about what it did to their dresses, their appetite and their ^{Romance} ~~love-making~~. This was around the time the world decided perfume was the only smell the nose was meant for. I remember Vida trying to calm the girlfriend of a famous singer who was carrying on about her steak tasting like conch. That hurt me, because I have never failed in the kitchen. Later on, Mr. Cosey told people that's what ruined his business, ^{that} ~~the~~ whites had tricked him, let him buy all the ocean front he wanted because the Cannery, so close by, kept it unprofitable. The fish smell had turned his Resort into a joke. But I know the smell that blanketed Up Beach hit Sooker Bay only once or twice a month--and never from February to August when crab castles were empty and the Cannery closed. No. I don't care what he told people, something else wrecked his Resort. Freedom, May said. She tried hard to keep the place going when her

father-in-law lost interest, and was convinced that Civil Rights destroyed her family and its business. By which she meant colored people were more interested in blowing up cities than dancing by the seashore. She was like that, May; but what started out as mule-headed turned into crack-brained. Fact is, folks who bragged about Cosey vacations in the forties boasted in the sixties about Hyatt's, Hiltons, cruises to the Bahamas and Ocho Rios. Truth is, neither shell fish nor integration was to blame. Nevermind the woman with the conch-flavored steak, customers will sit next to a privy if it's the only way they can hear Wilson Pickett or Nellie Lutcher. Besides, who can tell one odor from another while pressed close to a partner on a crowded dance floor listening to "Harbor Lights"? And while May kept blaming Martin Luther King every day for her troubles, the hotel still made money, although with a different clientele. Listen to me: something else was to blame. Besides, Mr. Cosey was a smart man. He helped more colored people here than forty years of government programs. And he wasn't the one who boarded up the hotel and sold seventy-five acres to an Equal Opportunity developer for thirty-two

houses built so cheap my shack puts them to shame. At least my floors are hand planed oak, not some slicked-up pine, and if my beams aren't ruler smooth, they're true and properly aged when hoisted.

Before Up Beach drowned in a hurricane called David, there was a drought with no name at all. The sale had just closed, the acres barely plotted when Up Beach mothers were pumping mud from their spigots. Dried up wells and brackey water scared them, so they gave up the sight of the sea and applied for a two per cent HUD mortgage. Rainwater wasn't good enough for them anymore. Trouble, unemployment, hurricanes following droughts, marshland turned into mud cakes so dry even the mosquitoes quit—I saw all that as life simply being itself. Then the government houses went up and they named the neighborhood Oceanside—which it isn't. The developers started out selling to Vietnam veterans and retired whites, but when Oceanside became a target for people thrown out of work onto food stamps, churches and this affirmative action stuff got busy. Welfare helped some till urban renewal came to town. Then there were jobs all over the place. Now, it's full of people commuting to offices and hospital

labs twenty-two miles north. Traveling back and forth from those cheap, pretty houses to malls and movie-plexes, they're so happy they haven't had a cloudy thought, let alone a memory of Police-heads. They didn't cross my mind either until I started to miss the Cosey women and wonder if they'd finally killed each other. Who besides me would know if they were dead in there—one vomiting on the steps still holding the knife that cut the throat of the one that fed her the poison? Or if one had a stroke after shooting the other and, not able to move, starved to death right in front of the refrigerator? They wouldn't be found for days. Not until Sandler's boy needed his weekly pay. Maybe I best leave off the tv for a while.

I used to see one of them driving along in that rusty old Cadillac—to the bank or in here, once in a while, for Salisbury steak. Otherwise, they haven't left that house in years. Not since one came back carrying a Wall Mart shopping bag and you could tell by the set of her shoulders she was whipped. The white Samsonite luggage she ran ^{left} off with was nowhere in sight. I thought the other one would slam the door in her face, but she didn't. I guess they both knew they deserved

each other. Meaner than most and stand offish, they ~~have~~ ^{stet} the regular attention disliked folks attract. They live like queens in Mr. Cosey's house but since that girl moved in there a while ago with a skirt short as underpants and no underpants at all, I've been worried about them leaving me here with nothing but an old folk's tale to draw on. I know it's trash: just another story made up to scare wicked females and correct unruly children. But it's all I have. I know I need something else. Something better. Like a story that shows how brazen women can take a good man down. I can hum to that.

P 14 A

1

PORTRAIT
IMAGE

The day she walked the streets of Silk, a chafing wind kept the temperature low and the sun was helpless to move outside thermometers more than a few degrees above freezing. Tiles of ice had formed at the shoreline and, inland, the thrown-together houses on Monarch Street whined like puppies. Ice slick gleamed, then disappeared in the early evening shadow, causing the sidewalks she

marched along to undermine even an agile tread, let alone one with a faint limp. She should have bent her head and closed her eyes to slits in that weather, but, being a stranger, she stared wide-eyed at each house searching for the address that matched the one in the advertisement: One Monarch Street. Finally she turned into a driveway where Sandler Gibbons stood in his garage door ripping the seam from a sack of Ice-Off. He remembers the crack of her heels on concrete as she approached; the angle of her hip as she stood there, the melon sun behind her, the garage light in her face. He remembers the pleasure of her voice when she asked for directions to the house of women he has known all his life.

"You sure?" he asked when she told him the address.

She took a square of paper from a jacket pocket, held it with ungloved fingers while she checked then nodded.

Sandler Gibbons scanned her legs and reckoned her knees and thighs were stinging from the cold her tiny skirt exposed them to. Then he marveled at the height of her boot heels, the cut of her short leather jacket. At first he'd thought she wore a hat, something big and

fluffy to keep her ears and neck warm. Then he realized that it was hair-blown forward by the wind, distracting him from her face. She looked to him like a sweet child, fine-boned, gently raised but lost.

"Cosey women," he said. "That's their place you looking for. It ain't been number one for a long time now, but you can't tell them that. Can't tell them nothing. It 1410 or 1401, probably."

Now it was her turn to question his certainty.

"I'm telling you," he said, suddenly irritable—the wind, he thought, tearing his eyes. "Go on up that a way. You can't miss it 'less you try to. Big as a church."

She thanked him but did not turn around when he hollered at her back, "Or a jail house."

Sandler Gibbons didn't know what made him say that. He believed his wife was on his mind. She would be off the bus by now, stepping carefully on slippery pavement until she got to their driveway. There she would be safe from falling because, with the forethought and common sense he was known for, he was prepared for freezing weather in a neighborhood that had no history of it. But the "

jailhouse" comment meant he was really thinking of Romen, his grandson, who should have been home from school an hour and a half ago. Fourteen, way too tall and getting muscled, there was a skulk about him, something furtive that made Sandler Gibbons stroke his thumb every time the boy came into view. He and Vida Gibbons had been pleased to have him, raise him, when their daughter and son-in-law enlisted. Mother in the army; father in the merchant marines. The best choice out of none when only pick-up work (house cleaning in Harbor for the women, hauling road trash for the men) was left after the Cannery closed. "Parents idle, children sidle," his own mother used to say. Getting regular yard work helped but not enough to keep Romen on the dime and out of the sight line of ambitious, under occupied police. His own boyhood had been shaped by fear of vigilantes but dark blue uniforms had taken over posse work now. What thirty years ago was a one sheriff, one secretary department was now four patrol cars and eight officers with walkie-talkies to keep the peace.

He was wiping salt dust from his hands when the two people

under his care arrived at the same time, one hollering "Hoo! Am I glad you did this! Thought I'd break my neck." The other saying "What you mean, Gran? I had your arm all the way from the bus."

"Course you did, baby." Vida Gibbons smiled, hoping to de-rail any criticism her husband might be gathering against her grandson.

At dinner, the scalloped potatoes having warmed his mood, Sandler picked up the gossip he'd begun while the three of them were setting the table.

"What did you say she wanted?" Vida asked, frowning. The ham slices had toughened with re-heating.

"Looking for those Cosey women I reckon. That was the address she had. The old address, I mean. When wasn't nobody out here but them."

"That was written on her paper?" She poured a little raisin sauce over her meat.

"I didn't look at it, woman. I just saw her check it. Little scrap of something looked like it came from a newspaper."

"You were concentrating on her legs, I guess. Lot of information

there."

Romen covered his mouth and closed his eyes.

"Vida, don't belittle me in front of the boy."

"Well, the first thing you told me was about her skirt. I'm just following your list of priorities."

"I said it was short, that's all."

"How short?" Vida winked at Romen.

"They wear them up to here, Gran." Romen's hand disappeared under the table.

"Up to where?" Vida leaned sideways.

"Will you two quit? I'm trying to tell you something."

"You think she's a niece, maybe?" asked Vida.

"Could be. Didn't look like one, though. Except for size, looked more like Christine's people." Sandler motioned for the jar of jalapenos,

"Christine don't have any people left."

"Maybe she had a daughter you don't know about." Romen just wanted to be in the conversation, but, as usual, they looked at him ^{as if} like his fly was open.

"Watch your mouth," said his grandfather.

"I'm just talking, Gramp. How would I know?"

"You wouldn't, so don't butt in."

"Stch."

"You sucking your teeth at me?"

"Sandler, lighten up. Can't you leave him alone for a minute?"

Vida asked.

Sandler opened his mouth to defend his position, but decided to bite the tip off the pepper instead.

"Anyway, the less I hear about those Cosey girls, the better I like it," said Vida.

"Girls?" Romen made a face.

"Well, that's how I think of them. Hincty, snotty girls with as much cause to look down on people as a pot looks down on a skillet."

"They're cool with me," said Romen. "The skinny one, anyway."

Vida glared at him. "Don't you believe it. She pays you; that's all you need from either one."

Romen swallowed. Now she was on his back. "Why you all make me work there if they that bad?"

"Make you?" Sandler scratched a thumb.

"Well, you know, send me over there."

"Drown this boy, Vida. He don't know a favor from a fart."

"We sent you because you need some kind of job, Romen. You've been here four months and its time you took on some of the weight."

Romen tried to get the conversation back to his employers' weaknesses and away from his own. "Miss Christine always gives me something good to eat."

"I don't want you eating off her stove."

"Vida."

"I don't."

"Vida."

"You forgot?" Vida's eyebrows lifted in surprise.

"Nobody knows for sure."

"Knows what?" asked Romen.

"Some old mess," said his grandfather.

Vida stood and moved to the refrigerator. "Somebody killed him as sure as I'm sitting here. Wasn't a thing wrong with that man."

Dessert was canned pineapple in sherbert glasses. Vida set one at each place. Sandler, unimpressed, leaned back. Vida caught his look but decided to let it lie. She worked; he was on a security guard's hilarious pension. And although he kept the house just fine, she was expected to come home and cook a perfect meal every day.

"What man?" Romen asked.

"Bill Cosey," replied Sandler. "Used to own a hotel and a lot of other property, including the ground under this house."

Vida shook her head. "I saw him the day he died. Hale at breakfast; dead at lunch."

"He had a lot to answer for, Vida."

"Somebody answered for him: 'No lunch'."

"You forgive that old reprobate anything."

"He paid us good money, Sandler, and taught us, too. Things I never would have known about ^{if I'd} had I kept on living over a swamp in a

stilt house. You know what my mother's hands looked like. None of us had to keep doing that kind of work because of Bill Cosey"

"It wasn't that bad. I miss it some times."

"Miss what? Slop jars? Snakes?"

"The trees"

"Oh, shoot." Vida tossed her spoon into the sherbert glass hard enough to get the clink she wanted.

"Remember the summer storms?" Sandler ignored her. "The air just before..."

"Get up, Romen." Vida tapped the boy's shoulder. "Help me with the dishes."

"I ain't finished, Gran."

"Yes you are. Up."

Romen, forcing air through his lips, pushed back his chair and unfolded himself. He tried to exchange looks with his grandfather, but the old man's eyes were inward.

"Never seen moonlight like that anywhere else." Sandler's voice was low. "Make you want to—" He collected himself. "I'm not saying I

would move back."

"I sure hope not." Vida scraped the plates loudly. "You'd need gills."

"^{h.s.}Miss Cosey said it was a paradise." Romen reached for a cube of pineapple with his fingers.

Vida slapped his hand. "It was a plantation. And Bill Cosey took us off of it."

"The ones he wanted." Sandler spoke to his shoulder.

"I heard that. What's that supposed to mean?"

"Nothing, Vida. Like you said, the man was a saint."

"There's no arguing with you."

Romen dribbled liquid soap into hot water. His hands felt good sloshing in it, though it stung the bruises on his knuckles. His side hurt more while he stood at the sink, but he felt better listening to his grandparents fussing about the olden days. Less afraid.

The girl did not miss the house and the man with the Ice Off was not wrong: the house was graceful, imposing, and its peaked third-story roof did suggest a church. The steps to the porch, slanted and shiny with ice, encouraged caution for there was no railing. But the girl clicked along the walk and up the steps without hesitation. Seeing no bell, she started to knock, hesitating when she noticed a shaft of light below, to the right of the porch. She went back down the sloping steps, followed the curve marked by half-buried slate and descended a flight of iron stairs lit by a window. Beyond the window, a door. No wind buffeted her there. The area had the look of what was called a garden apartment by some¹ by others a basement one. Pausing at the pane, she saw a seated woman. On the table before her were a colander, newspapers and a mixing bowl. The girl tapped on the window and smiled when the woman looked up. She rose slowly but once on her feet moved rapidly to the door.

"What is it?" The door opened just wide enough to expose one gray eye.

"I came about the job," said the girl. A marine odor hovered in

the crack.

"Then you're lost," said the woman and slammed the door.

The girl banged on it, shouting, "It says ^{One} 1 Monarch Street! This is number one! "

There was no answer, so she went back to the window and pecked the glass with the nails of her left hand while her right pressed the newsprint toward the light.

The woman came back to the window, her eyes flat with annoyance as they stared at the girl, then moved from the young face and its pleading smile to the piece of paper. She squinted at it, looked again at the face then back at the piece of paper. She motioned toward the door and disappeared from the window, but not before a shard of panic glinted then died in her eyes.

When the girl was inside, the woman offered neither seat nor greeting. She took the advertisement and read. A pencilled circle separated the few lines of one help wanted notice from others above and below.

Companion, secretary sought by mature, professional lady . Light

but highly confidential work. Apply to Mrs. H. Cosey. 1 Monarch Street, Silk.

"Where did you get this?" The woman's tone was accusatory.

"From the newspaper."

"I can see that. Which? The Harbor Journal?"

"Yes, Mam."

"When?"

"Today."

She handed back the advertisement. "Well. I guess you better sit down." The snap in her voice loosened.

"Are you Mrs. H. Cosey?"

She gave the girl a look. "If I was I'd know about that little scrap of paper, wouldn't I?"

The girl's laughter was like the abrupt agitation of bells. "Oh, right. Sorry."

They both sat then and the woman returned to the work of deveining shrimp. Twelve rings, two on three fingers of each hand, snatched light from the ceiling fixture and seemed to elevate her task

from drudgery to sorcery.

"You have a name?"

"Yes, Mam. Junior."

The woman looked up. "Your daddy's idea?"

"Yes, Mam."

"Have mercy."

"You can call me June, if you want."

"I don't want. Your daddy give you a last name? Prom, maybe?

Or Choir?"

"Viviane," said Junior. "With an 'e'."

"An 'e'? You from around here?"

"Used to be. I've been away."

"I never heard tell of any family around here named Vivian, with an 'e' or without one."

"Oh, they're not from here. Originally."

"Where then?"

Jacket leather purred as Junior Viviane shrugged her shoulders and reached across the table to the colander. "Up north. Can I help

you with that, Mam?" she asked. "I'm a pretty fair cook."

"Don't." The woman held up a staying hand. "Needs a certain rhythm."

A bouquet of steam wandered away from water lifting to a boil on the stove. Behind the table was a wall of cupboards, their surfaces as pale and handled as yeast dough. The silence stretching between the two tightened. Junior Viviane fidgeted, Her jacket creaking over the tick of shrimp shells.

"Is Mrs. H. Cosey here, Mam?"

"She is."

"May I speak to her, please?"

"Let me see that thing again." The woman wiped her hands on a dishtowel before touching the ad. "'Highly confidential,' huh?" She pursed her lips. "I believe that. I sure do," she said and dropped the paper with thumb and forefinger, as though depositing a diaper into a soak pail. She wiped her hands again and selected a shrimp. There, just there, beneath the ~~lucent~~ flesh she held in her fingers crept a dark and tender line. Deft as a jeweler, she removed it.

"Can I see Mrs. Cosey now, please?" Junior sank her chin into her palm, underscoring her question with a smile.

"I guess. Sure. Up those stairs, then some more stairs. All the way to the top." She motioned toward a flight of stairs leading from an alcove near the stove. Junior stood.

"I don't suppose you interested in my name?"

Junior turned back, her grin a study in embarrassment and muddle. "Oh, yes, Mam. I'm sorry. I am. I'm just so nervous."

"It's Christine. If you get the ^{highly} confidential job you'll need to know it."

"I hope so. Nice meeting you, Christine. Really. Second floor, you said?"

Her boots were muffled on the stairs.

Christine turned away. She should have said, "No. Third." but she didn't. Instead she glanced at the warming light on the rice cooker. Gathering the shrimp shells, she plopped them into the boiling water and adjusted the flame. Returning to the table, she picked up a garlic paw and, enjoying as usual her bedizened hands, peeled two of

the cloves. These she diced and left on the cutting board. The old Philco refrigerator murmured and ^{shivered} trembled. Christine gave it a reassuring pat before bending to a low cabinet, thinking, what's she up to now? Must be scared or fixing to make a move. What, though? And how did she manage to get a notice in the paper without ^{my} her knowing? She selected a silver tureen with a fitted glass bowl, sighing at the stubborn tarnish in the crevices of the C's on its cover. Like all the carved letters in the house, the double C's went beyond ornate to illegible. Even on the handle of the spoon in her apron pocket, the initials, once hooked together for life, were hardly a trace. It was tiny, a coffee spoon, but Christine ate every meal she could with it just to hold close the child it was given to, and hold also the pictures it summoned. Scooping peach slices with it from home made ice cream, helpless in the thrill, never minding the grains of sand blowing over the dessert—the whole picnic lunch for that matter.

^{Christine Soaped and rinsed}
~~Soaping and rinsing~~ the glass bowl ^{as her} ~~Christine's~~ thoughts skittered from beach picnics to Silver Dip, salt-spiced air to Q-tips and on to the interview being held at that moment in the bedroom of the meanest

woman on the coast. While sitting across from the lying Miss Junior-but-you-can-call-me June, Christine had put her own body of forty—even thirty-- years ago next to the girl's and won. The girl had good legs (well, knees and thighs were all she could see in those tall boots) and a white woman's narrow, poked-out behind that was all the rage these days. But she had nothing to rival the Christine of the forties when the beach was the color of cream but glittery and the sucking waves reached out from water so blue you had to turn away lest it hurt your eyes. It was the girl's face that struck gongs of envy. That and her Amazon hair. At first Christine had stared at her, then, wary, concentrated on the newspaper clipping. Except for that, she would never have let into the house a strange girl with no purse. The shrimp work gave her ample time to get a bounce from her, some sense of what (never mind who) she was. It also gave her reason to sustain a lowered gaze, because she did not like the heart jump that came when she looked in the girl's eyes. She had the unnerving look of an underfed child. One you wanted to cuddle or slap for being needy.

Christine stirred the garlic into butter softening in a skillet, then set about making the roux. After a moment she sprinkled in flour and watched it bronze before loosening the paste with stock and whisking it smooth.

"I'm a pretty fair cook," is what the girl had said, all the while reaching with dirty hands for the bowl of cleaned shrimp. And 'Used to be,' from around here she'd said, while sitting in front of the best known woman in the county, a woman who knew every black person ever born from Niggerhead Rock to Sooker Bay, from Up Beach to Silk and half the ones in Harbor as well since that was where she had spent (or wasted) a whole chunk of her life. Junior Viviane. With an 'e'. Sounded like a name from a baseball card. So what was the heart skip for? Was she afraid she would blush in recognition at any moment, sharpening her voice to a razor to cut off the possibility? The tell-tale signs of a run-away's street life were too familiar: bus station soap, other people's sandwiches, unwashed hair, slept-in clothes, no purse, mouth cleaned with chewing gum instead of toothpaste. So what did Heed want her for? How had an ad been placed in the newspaper

without a working telephone? The Gibbons boy must have helped her—adding that errand to others after working in the yard. Whatever was going on was a trap laid by a high [—]heeled snake. Some new way to rob her future just as she had ripped off her past.

“I’ll be damned,” she whispered.

Christine spread her fingers for the familiar jolt the diamonds gave her. Then she assembled the rice, the shrimp, the sauce, layering each meticulously, artfully in the casserole. It would remain warm while she tossed a light salad and, finally, arrange it all on a silver tray, take it up three flights of stairs, where she hoped it would choke the meanest thing on the coast.

“My Lord. Snow.” She spoke without turning her head, simply parting the draperies further. “Come over here and look. Here of all places.”

Junior moved near the tiny woman at the window and peered through the glass, trying but unable to see snowflakes. She looked to

be in her sixties at least—hair made mega-black by a thick border of silver at the scalp-- but she had something of a little girl scent: butter rum candy, grass juice and fur.

"Strange, don't you think? We never get snow. Never."

"I saw a man sprinkling ice salt," said Junior. "Since he already had it, he must have expected to use it."

Startled, the woman turned. The girl had called her a liar before saying hello.

"You're here for the job?" Her eyes swept Junior's face, then examined her clothes. She ~~had had no way of knowing~~^{knew} the applicant was in the house ~~until~~^{long before} she heard footsteps ~~she knew~~^{that} were neither Christine's ~~or~~^{Nor} Romen's. Then she had quickly positioned herself at the window to strike the right pose, give a certain impression. But she needn't have bothered. The girl was not at all what she had expected. Not just the messy hair and tacky clothes; there was some bold laziness in her manner, the way she talked. Like the "yeah" she gave to Heed's question.

"Don't you mean 'yes'?"

Like the kitchen below, this room was over-bright, like a department store. Every lamp—six? ten?—was on, rivaling the chandelier. Mounting the unlit stairs, glancing over her shoulder, Junior had to guess what the other rooms might hold. It seemed to her that each woman lived in ^a spot ^{light} separated—or connected—by the darkness between them. Staring openly at the items crowding the surfaces of tables, desks, she waited for the little woman to break the silence.

"I'm Heed Cosey. And you are?"

"Junior. But you can call me June."

"Oh, dear," said Heed, and batted her lashes as if someone had spilled red wine on pale velvet: sorry, of course, and no fault, of course, but difficult to clean nonetheless. Moving away from the window she had to step carefully, so full was the room with furniture. A chaise, two dressers, two writing tables, side tables, chairs high-backed and low seated. All under the influence of a bed behind which a man's portrait loomed. Heed sat down finally at a small desk. Placing her hands in her lap, she nodded for the girl to take the facing

chair.

"Tell me where you have worked before. The notice didn't specify a resume' but I need to know your work history."

Junior smiled. The woman pronounced 'resume' with two syllables. "I'm eighteen and can do anything you want. Anything."

"That's good to know, but references? Do you have any? Someone I can get in touch with?"

"Nope."

"Well how will I know you are honest? Discreet?"

"A letter won't tell you even if it says so. I say I am. Hire me and you'll see. If I'm not good enough—" Junior turned her palms up.

Heed touched the corners of her lips with a hand small as a child's and crooked as a wing. She considered her instant dislike of the Junior-you-can-call-me-June person slouching in front of her and thought that her blunt speech while not a pose was something of an act. She considered something else too: whether the girl's attitude had staying power. She needed someone who could be coaxed into or who already had a certain hunger. ^{The situation was} ~~Things were~~ becoming urgent. ^{things}

Christine, true to her whore's heart, sporting diamonds in their rightful owner's face, was pilfering house money to pay a lawyer.

"Let me tell you what this job calls for. The duties, I mean."

"Go ahead." Junior shouldered out of her jacket, the cheap leather mewling. Under it, her black T shirt gave no support to her breasts, but it was clear to Heed that they didn't need any: the nipples were high, martial. ~~Without~~^{off} the jacket her hair seemed to spring into view. Layers of corkscrews, parted in the middle, glinted jet in the lamplight.

"I'm writing a book," said Heed, a smile of satisfaction lighting her face. The posture she'd assumed to manage the interview changed with the mention of her book. "It's about my family. The Coseys. My husband's family."

Junior looked at the portrait. "That him?"

"That's him. It was painted from a snap ~~shot~~^{shot} so it's exactly like him. What you see there is a wonderful man." Heed sighed. "Now I got all the material, but some things need checking, you know. Dates, spellings. I got each guest book from our hotel—except for two or

three, I think—and some of those people, not many but some, had the worse handwriting. The worse. But most folks I seen had perfect hands you know because that's the way we was taught. But Papa didn't let them print it the way they do now right alongside the signature. Didn't need to anyway because he knowed every body who was anybody and could recognize a signature even if it was a X but no X type people came of course. Our guests, most of them, had gorgeous handwriting because, between you and I, you had to be more than just literate, you ^{had} have to have a position, an accomplishment, understand? You couldn't achieve nothing worthwhile if your handwriting was low. Nowadays people write with they feet."

()

Heed laughed, then said "Excuse me. You have no idea, do you, what I'm talking about. I get excited is all, just thinking about it." She adjusted the lapels of her housecoat with her thumbs, re-addressing herself to the interview. "But I want to hear about you. 'Junior', you said?"

"Yeah."

"Well now, Junior. You said you can do anything I want, so you must have worked somewhere before. If you're going to help me with my book I need to know..."

"Look, Mrs. Cosey. I can read; I can write, ~~O~~Okay? I'm as smart as it gets. You want handwriting, you want typing, I'll do it. You want your hair fixed, I'll fix it. You want a bath, I'll give you one. I need a job and I need a place to stay. I'm real good, Mrs. Cosey. Really real good." She winked, startling Heed into a momentary recall of something just out of reach, like a shell snatched away by a wave. It may have been that flick of melancholy so sharply felt that made her lean close to the girl and whisper,

"Can you keep a secret?" She held her breath.

"Like nobody you ever knew."

Heed exhaled. "Because the work is private. Nobody can know about it. Not nobody."

"You mean Christine?"

"I mean nobody."

"I'll take it."

"You don't even know what the pay is."

"I'll take the job. You'll pay. Should I start now or wait til tomorrow?"

Footsteps, slow and rhythmic, sounded in the hall.

"Tomorrow," Heed said. She whispered the word, but it had the urgency of a shout.

Christine entered carrying a tray. No knock preceded her and no word accompanied her. She placed the tray on the desk where Heed and Junior faced each other and left without meeting a single eye.

Heed lifted the casserole lid, then replaced it. "Anything to annoy me," she said.

"Looks delicious," said Junior.

"Then you eat it," said Heed.

Junior forked a shrimp into her mouth and moaned, "Mmmm, god, she sure knows how ^{to} cook."

"What she knows is, I don't eat shellfish."

The second floor had none of the fussy comfort Junior found on the third. Here a hallway, two plain bedrooms, a kind of office and a bathroom equaled the entire square footage of the room above where Junior had spent two hours trying to read the woman who was now her boss.

It should not have taken that long but the taste of hot, home cooked food so distracted her ^{that} she forgot. She was near the end of a second helping before she began to watch for the face behind the face; and to listen: for the words hiding behind talk. It was Heed's fork play that finally pulled Junior's attention away from her own plate. Holding the fork between thumb and palm, driving leaves of Boston lettuce around oil and vinegar, piercing olives, lifting rings of onion on tines only to let them drop again and again, Heed had chattered on, eating nothing. Junior fixed on the hands more than ^{on} what occupied them: small, baby ^{smooth} except for one scarred spot, each one curved gently away from its partner-like fins. Arthritis? she wondered. Is that why she can't write her own book? Or some other old lady ^{sickness}? Memory loss, maybe. Even before the food arrived she had

heard the change in Heed's speech, the slow move away from the class room to the girls' locker; from a principal's office to a neighborhood bar.

Yawning under blankets in the bed to which Heed had directed her, Junior fought sleep to organize, recapture her impressions. She knew she had eaten too much too quickly as in her first days at Correctional before she learned how to make food last. And, just as it had been there, she was already ready for more. Her appetite had not surprised her—it was permanent—but its ferocity had. Watching the gray-eyed Christine cleaning shrimp earlier she had leashed it and had no trouble figuring out that a servant who cooked with twelve diamond rings on her fingers would enjoy—maybe even need—a little sucking up to. And although she had caught the other one's pose as well and recognized it from the start as a warden's righteous shield, Junior hoped that some up front sass would crack it. Still, gobbling real food after days of clean garbage and public filch, she had let her antennae droop. As now, when sleep—alone, in silence, in total darkness at last—overwhelmed caution for pleasure. Simply not having a toilet in

the room where you slept was a thrill. The bath she craved had to be postponed. When Heed said the weather was too nasty, the bus depot too far, and why not spend the night and collect your things tomorrow? Junior thought immediately of a solitary soak in a real tub with a perfumed bar of colored soap. But the water she heard running through pipes above reduced the tap flow in the second floor bathtub to a sigh. Heed had beat her to it, so Junior spent a few minutes rummaging in the closet where she found a helmet, one can of tomato paste, two rock hard sacks of sugar, a jar of Jergen's hand cream, a tin of sardines, a milk bottle full of keys and two locked suitcases. She gave up trying to force the locks and undressed. After massaging her feet, she slid under the covers with two days' worth of dirt on hold.

Sleep came down so fast it was only in dreaming that she felt the peculiar new thing: protected. The face hanging over her new boss's bed must have started it. A handsome man with a G.I. Joe chin and a re-assuring smile that pledged endless days of hot, tasty food; kind eyes that promised to hold a girl steady on his shoulder while she robbed apples from the highest branch.

46

2

FRIEND

Vida set up the ironing board. Why the hospital had cut out the laundry service for everybody except "critical staff"-- doctors, nurses, lab technicians-- she couldn't fathom. Now the janitors, food handlers, as well as the aides like herself, had to wash and press their own uniforms, reminding her of the Cannery before Bill Cosey hired her away for the first work she ever had that required hosiery. She wore hose at the hospital, of course, but it was thick, white. Not the lovely, sheer ones required behind the receptionist's desk at Cosey's Hotel. Plus a really good dress, good enough for church. It was Bill Cosey who paid for two more, so she would have a change and the guests wouldn't confuse the wearing of one dress as

a uniform. Vida thought he would deduct the cost from her pay, but he never did. His pleasure was in pleasing. "The best good time," he used to say. That was the Resort's motto and what he promised every guest: "The best good time this side of the law." Vida's memories of working there merged with her childhood recollections of the hotel when famous people kept coming back. Even disturbances in the service or drowning accidents didn't dissuade them from extending their stay or returning the next year. All because of the beaming Bill Cosey and the wide hospitality his place was known for. His laugh, his embracing arm, his instinctive knowledge of his guest's needs smoothed over every crack or stumble. From an overheard argument among staff or a silly, overbearing wife-ignorant as a plate-to petty theft and a broken ceiling fan. Bill Cosey's charm and L's food won out. When the lamps ringing the dance floor were rocking in ocean air; when the band warmed up and the women, dressed in moire' and chiffon and trailing jasmine scent in their wake; when the men with beautiful shoes

and perfect creases in their linen trousers held chairs for the women so they could sit knee to knee at the little tables, then a missing salt cellar or harsh words exchanged much too near the public didn't matter. Partners swayed under the stars and didn't mind over-long intermissions because ocean sound kept them happier and kinder than their cocktails. Later in the evening, when those who were not playing whist, or telling big lies in the bar; when couples sneaked off in the dark, the remaining dancers would do steps with outrageous names. Names musicians made up to control, confuse and excite their audiences all at the same time.

Vida believed she was a practical woman with as much sense as heart, more wary than dreamy. Yet she squeezed only sweetness from those nine years, beginning right after the birth of her only child, Dolly, in 1962. The decline underway even then was kept invisible until it was impossible to hide. Then Bill Cosey died and the Cosey girls fought over his coffin. Once again L restored order, just as she always had. Two words hissed into their

faces stopped them cold: Christine closed the switchblade; Heed picked up her ridiculous hat and moved to the other side of the grave. Standing there, one to the right, one to the left of Bill Cosey's casket, their faces, as different as honey from soot, looked identical. Hate does that. Burns off everything but itself, so whatever your grievance is, your face looks just like your enemy's. After that nobody could doubt the best good times were as dead as he was. If Heed had any notion of re-making the place into what it had been when Vida was a little Up Beach girl, she was quickly disabused of it when L quit that very day. She lifted a lily from the funeral spray and never set foot in the hotel again—not even to pack, collect her chef's hat or her white oxfords. In Sunday shoes with two [—]inch heels she walked from the cemetery ^e all the way to Up Beach, claimed her mother's shack and moved in. Heed did what she had to and what she could to keep it ^{going} up, but a sixteen [—]year [—]old disc jockey working a tape player appealed only to locals. No one with real money would travel distance to hear it, would book a

the doo wop tunes

room to listen to ~~music~~[^] they had at home; would seek ~~on~~^a open ~~air~~⁻ dance floor crowded with teenagers doing dances they never heard of and couldn't manage anyway. Especially if the meals, the service, the bed linen had to strain for an elegance unnoticed and unappreciated by the new crowd.

Vida slid the iron's nose around the buttons, frustrated once more by the slot in the metal that some male idiot thought would actually work. The same fool who believed a three ~~ounce~~[^] iron was better than a heavy one. Lighter, yes, but it didn't iron anything that needed it. Just things you could un-wrinkle with your own warm hands: T shirts, towels, cheap pillow cases. But not a good cotton uniform with twelve buttons, two cuffs, four pockets, and a collar that was not a lazy extension of the lapels. This was what she had come to? Vida knew she was lucky to have the hospital job. Slight as it was, her pay check had helped fill her house with the sounds of gently helpful bells: time up in the microwave oven, the washing cycle, the spin

dryer; watch out there's smoke somewhere, the phone's off the hook. Lights glowed when coffee brewed, toast toasted and the iron was hot. But the good fortune of her current job did not prevent her from preferring the long ago one that paid less in every way but satisfaction. Cosey's Resort was more than a playground; it was a school and a haven where people debated death in the cities, murder in Mississippi and what they planned to do about it, other than grieve and stare at their children. Then the music started, convincing them they could manage it all and last.

She hung on, Heed did. Give her that credit but none other to a woman who gave torn towels and sheets to a flooded out family instead of money. For years before Cosey actually died, while he aged and lost interest in everything but Nat Cole and Wild Turkey, Heed paraded around like an ignorant version of Scarlett O'Hara—refusing advice, firing the loyal, hiring the trifling and fighting May who was the one who really threatened her air supply. She couldn't fire her step-daughter while Cosey was alive,

even if he spent most days fishing and most nights harmonizing with tipsy friends. For it came to that: a commanding, beautiful man surrendering to feuding women, letting them ruin all he had built. How could they do that, ^{Vida} she wondered. ~~If they didn't love him, they had to love the place, what it had been.~~ How could they let gangster types, ^{day} workers, cannery scum, and payday migrants in there dragging police attention along with them like a tail? Vida had wanted to blame the increasingly raggedy clientele for May's kleptomania—Lord knows what those ^{day} workers took home—but May had been stealing even before Vida was hired and long before the quality of the guests changed. In fact, her second day at work, standing behind the desk, was marked by May's habit. A family of four from Ohio was checking in. Vida opened the registration book for their signature. The date, last name and room number were neatly printed on the left. A space on the right for the guest to sign. Vida reached toward the marble pen stand but found no pen there or anywhere near. Flustered, she rummaged in a

drawer. Heed arrived just as she was about to hand the father a pencil.

"What's that? You giving him a pencil?"

"The pen is missing, Mam."

"It can't be. Look again."

"I have. It's not here."

"Did you look in your pocket book?"

"Excuse me?"

"Your coat pocket, maybe?" Heed glanced at the guests and produced a resigned smile as if they all understood the burdens of inadequate help. Vida was seventeen years old and a new mother. The position Mr. Cosey had given her was a high and, she hoped, permanent leap out of the fish trough where she used to work and her husband still did. Her mouth went dry and her fingers shook as Heed confronted her. Tears were marshaling to humiliate her further when rescue arrived wearing a puffy white chef's hat. She held the fountain pen in her hand; stuck it in

the holder and, turning to Heed, said, "May. As you well know."

That's when Vida knew she had more to learn than registering guests and handling money. As in any workplace there were old alliances here; spontaneous battles, pathetic victories. Mr. Cosey was royal; L, the woman in the chef's hat, priestly. All the rest: ^L_M Heed, Vida, May, waiters, cleaners ^L_M were court personnel fighting for the prince's smile.

She had surprised herself at the supper table bringing up that old gossip about Cosey's death. Hating gossip bred of envy, she wanted to believe what the doctor said: heart attack. Or what L said: heart ache. Or even what May said: school busing. Certainly not what his enemies said: syphilis rampant. Sandler said eighty-one years was enough; Bill Cosey was just tired. But Vida had seen the water cloud before he drank it and his reach not to his chest where the heart exploded, but to his throat. Yet those who might have wanted him dead—Christine, a husband or two, and a few white businessmen—were nowhere near. Just her, L and one waiter. Lord,

what a mess. A dying body moves, thrashes against that sleep. Then there was Heed screaming like a maniac. May running off to the Monarch Street house and locking herself in a closet. Had it not been for L, the county's role model would never have gotten the dignified funeral he deserved. Even when Christine and Heed almost trashed it at the end, L stepped between those rigid vipers, forcing them to bite back their tongues. Which, by all reports, they continued to do, while waiting for the other one to die. So the girl Sandler directed to their house must be related to Heed. She was the only one with living family. With five brothers and three sisters there could be fifty nieces. Or maybe she wasn't a relative at all. Vida decided to ask Romen to find out, ^{if} discreetly, if he could; otherwise directly, although there was little hope of a reliable answer from him. The boy was so inattentive, ^g these days, so moody. ~~Time for~~ ^{for} a furlough from one of his ~~parents~~ ^{would be welcome} before he got into trouble neither she nor Sandler could handle. His hands hadn't gotten that way from yard work. He beat somebody.

Bad.

Beneath the house under the light of a single bulb, Sandler chuckled. Vida was on her game. He had been struck by the girl's legs. In freezing wind, not a goose bump in view—just tight, smooth skin with the promise of strong muscle underneath. Dancers' legs: long, unhappy at rest, eager to lift, to spread, to wrap themselves around you. He should be ashamed, he thought, as the chuckle grew into smothered laughter: an over ^{fifty} grandfather faithful ~~to~~ ^{devoted to} and ~~in love with~~ his wife giggling into a boiler dial in the cellar, happy to be arousable by the unexpected sight of young thighs. He knew his gruffness with her was a reaction to the feelings she stirred and believed she knew it too.

Sandler peered at the dial wondering if an 80° setting would be likely to produce 70 degrees in his bedroom, since the current 70° setting was equaling 60° there. He sighed over the problem: a furnace seldom needed

in that climate seemed as confused about its workings as he was. And sighed again as he recalled the underdressed girl who must be a northerner indifferent to 30*. He could not imagine what she wanted with either one of those Cosey women. He would ask Romen to check it out. Or maybe not. Asking his grandson to spy would introduce the wrong element ^{to} ~~in~~ a relationship already lopsided with distrust. He wanted Romen upright—not sneaking around women on some frivolous errand. It would undermine his moral authority. Still, if the boy happened to report something, he would be as pleased to hear it as anybody. The Coseys had always been a heated topic. In these parts—Oceanside, Sooker Bay, Up Beach, Silk—their goings on splattered conversation for fifty years. Naturally so, since the Resort affected them all. Provided them with work other than fish and pack crab; attracted outsiders who offered years of excitement and agitated talk. Otherwise they never saw anybody but themselves. The withdrawal of that class of tourist was hard on everyone, like a receding wave that left shells

and kelp script, scattered and unreadable, behind.

There were cold spots in the Oceanside house, places the heat seemed never to enter. Hot spots too. And all of his tinkering with thermostats and base heating and filters was just that--tinkering. Like his neighbors', his house was built as a gesture: two inch nails instead of four, light weight roofing guaranteed for ten years instead of thirty, single thickness panes rattling in their molding. Each year Sandler became fonder of the neighborhood he and Vida ^{had} moved away from. She had been right, certainly, to leave Up Beach when they did, before the drought that ended in flood, and she never gave it another thought. As he did almost every day, just as now, on a very cold night, longing for the crackle of fire in a stingy pot belly stove, the smell of clean driftwood burning. He couldn't forget the picture the moon turned those Up Beach cabins into. Here, in this government ^{improved} and ^{approved} housing with too much man ^{made} light, the moon did nothing kind. The planners believed that dark people

would do fewer dark things if there were twice as many street lamps as anywhere else. Only in fine neighborhoods and the country were people entrusted to shadow. So even when the moon was full and blazing, for Sandler it was like a bounty hunter's far off torch, not the blanket of beaten gold it once spread over him and the ramshackle house of his childhood, exposing the trick of the world, which is to make us think it is ours. He wanted his own moon again releasing a wide gold finger to travel the waves and point directly at him, no matter where he stood on the beach, it knew exactly. As direct and personal as a mother's touch, the gold finger found him, knew him. And although he understood that it came from a cold stone incapable of even indifference, he also knew it was pointing to him alone and nobody else. Like the wind-blown girl who ^{had} singled him out, breaking out of evening wind to stand between garage light and sunset, backlit, spotlighted and looking only at him.

Bill Cosey would have done more. Invited her in to warm herself,

offered to drive her where she wanted to go, instead of barking at her, doubting her accuracy. Cosey would have succeeded, too, as he almost always did. Vida, like so many others, had looked on him with adoring eyes, spoke of him with forgiving smiles. Proud of his finesse, his money, the example he set that goaded them into thinking that with patience and savvy, they could do it too. But Sandler had fished with him, and while he did not claim to know his heart, mind or wallet, he knew his habits.

They were lee, bobbing in a cove . Not on the deep sea as he had expected.

Sandler had been surprised by the invitation, since Cosey usually shared his boat only with special guests, or, most often, the Sheriff, Buddy Silk—one member of a family that had named a whole town after itself and gave epic-movie names to its streets. Cosey had approached him in the road where Sandler was parked waiting for Vida. He aligned his pale blue Impala with Sandler's pick up and said, "You busy tomorrow, Sandler?"

"No, sir."

"Not working?"

"No, sir. Cannery's closed on Sunday."

"Oh, right."

"You need me for something?"

Cosey pursed his lips as though second [^]guessing his invitation, then turned his face away.

Sandler contemplated his profile, which looked like the one on a nickel minus the hair do and feathers. Still handsome, Cosey was seventy-four years old then; Sandler twenty-two. Cosey had been married over twenty years; Sandler less than three. Cosey had money; Sandler earned one dollar and seventy cents an hour. He wondered if any two men had less to talk about.

Having come to a decision, Cosey faced Sandler.

"I aim to fish a little. First light. Thought you might like to join me."

1996
53
—
41

Working fish all day, Sandler did not connect catching them with sport. He'd rather shoot than fish, but there was no way to decline. Vida wouldn't like it, besides he had heard that Cosey's boat was smart.

"You don't need to bring anything. I have it all."

You can say that again, thought Sandler.

They met at the pier at four a.m. and pushed off immediately, in silence. No weather chat or wagers about the haul. Cosey seemed less hearty than the evening before. Sandler put the change down to the seriousness of handling the little cruiser, tacking into the ocean, then landward to a cove Sandler knew nothing about. Or else it was the oddity of being alone together. Cosey didn't mix with local people publically, which is to say he employed them, joked with them, even rescued them from difficult situations, but other than at church picnics, none was truly welcome at the hotel's tables or on its dance floor. Back in the forties fifties price neighborhood people kept most of them away, but even when a family collected enough money to

celebrate a wedding there, they were refused. Pleasantly. Regretfully.

Definitely. The hotel was booked. There was some spotty rancor over the obvious rejection, but in those days most didn't mind, thought it reasonable.

They had neither the clothes nor the funds, and did not wish to be

embarrassed by those who did. When Sandler was a boy, it was enough to

watch the visitors, admire their cars and the quality of their luggage; to

listen to the distant music and dance to it in the dark, the deep dark,

between their own houses, in shadow underneath their own windowsills. It

was enough to know Bill Cosey's Hotel and Resort was there. Otherwise

how to explain the comfort available nowhere else in the county, or the state,

for that matter. Cannery workers and fishing families prized it. So did

house maids traveling to Silk, laundresses, fruit pickers as well as teachers

in broken-down schools; even visiting ministers, who did not hold with

liquor-fueled gatherings or dance music—all felt a tick of entitlement, of

longing turned to belonging in the vicinity of ^{the} a fabulous, successful Resort

controlled by one of their own. A fairy tale that lived on even after the hotel was dependent for its life on the people it once excluded.

"Bonita come back in here," said Cosey. "Way station for them, I guess." He brightened and pulled out a thermos of coffee that, Sandler discovered, was so laced the coffee was more color than flavor. It did the trick. They were soon deep in the merits of Cassius Clay, an argument that quelled one about Medgar Evers.

The catch was poor, the banter jovial until sunrise when the alcohol leveled and the talk turned gloomy. Cosey, looking at some lively worms in the belly of a catfish said, "If you kill the predators, the weak will eat you alive."

"Everything has its place, Mr. Cosey," Sandler replied.

"True. Everything. Except women. They're all over the damn place."

Sandler laughed.

"In the bed," continued Cosey, "the kitchen, the yard, at your table,

under your feet, on your back."

"That can't be all bad," offered Sandler.

"No. No. It's great. Great."

"Then why ain't you smiling?"

Bill Cosey turned to look at Sandler. His eyes, though bright from drink, radiated pain like cracked glass. "What do they say about me?" he asked, sipping from the thermos.

"They?"

"You all. You know. Behind my back."

"You a highly respected man, Mr. Cosey."

Cosey sighed as though the answer disappointed him. "Damned if I do, damned if I don't," he said. Then "My son, Billy, was about your age. When he died, I mean."

"Is that right?"

"We had some good times. Good times. More like pals than father

67

and son. When I lost him...it was like somebody from the grave reached up and grabbed him for spite."

"Somebody?"

"I mean some thing." ^(over) "I lost it there for a while. Took a long time to get over it."

"But you did. Get over it."

"I did," he answered, smiling. "A pretty woman came along and the clouds just drifted off."

"See there. And you complaining."

^(over) "True. ~~I think my problem was I loved him so much I never took the~~ trouble to know him. I used to wonder why he picked ~~that kind of~~ ^a woman to marry. Maybe he was somebody else and I made him my...shadow.

like May
^

And now I'm thinking I don't understand anybody. So why should anybody understand me?"

"Hard to know people. All you can go by is what they do," said

"How'd he die?"

"Damndest thing. Walking pneumonia, they call it. No symptoms. A cough or two and you're gone." He scowled into the water as though the mystery was down there. ✓

Still. I was so caught up with him,

Sandler wondering, is he trying to say he's lonesome, misunderstood?

Worrying about a son dead for twenty some years? This man with more

friends than honey had bees worrying about his reputation? With women
so hard for his attention you'd think he was a preacher? And
~~fighting to love him up~~ he's moaning about the burden of it? Sandler

decided the whiskey had shifted Cosey to the crying phase. It had to be that, otherwise he was in the company of a fool. He could swallow hot rocks easier than he could the complaints of a rich man. Vaguely insulted, Sandler turned his attention to the bait box. If he waited long enough, Cosey would skip to another subject. Which he did, after singing a few refrains of a Platters song.

"Do you know that every law in this country is made to keep us back?"

Sandler looked up, thinking, where did that come from? He laughed.

"That can't be true."

"Oh, but it is," Cosey said.

"What about..." but Sandler couldn't remember any laws about

anything except murder, and that wouldn't help his case. Everybody knew who went to prison and who didn't. A black killer was a killer; a white killer was unhappy. He felt sure most law was about money not color, and said so.

Cosey answered with a slow wink. "Think about that," he said. "A Negro can have A one credit, solid collateral and not a hope in hell of a bank loan. Think about that."

Sandler didn't want to. His marriage was fresh, his daughter new. Vida was all he knew of A one; Dolly was all he needed for hope.

That was their first of many fishing trips, confidences. Eventually Cosey persuaded Sandler to stop cleaning crab at the ~~C~~annery. With tips, waiting tables at the hotel would put more in his pocket. Sandler tried it for a few months, but in 1966, with riots all over in any big city you could name, a ~~C~~annery boss offered him a supervisory job, hoping the gesture would forestall any restlessness that might infect the all-black labor. ^{free} It worked out.

Cosey felt easier in a friendship between himself and a foreman than with one of his own waiters. But the more Sandler learned about the man, the less he knew. At times sympathy conquered disappointment; other times dislike overcame affection. Like the time Cosey told him a story, something about how when he was little his father made him play in a neighbor's yard to see who came out the back door. Every dawn he was sent to watch. A man did slip out one day and Cosey reported it to his father. That afternoon he saw the man dragged through the street behind a four¹ horse wagon.

"You helped catch a thief, a killer[?]," Sandler ^{asked} ~~said~~.

^{Yep.}
"Yeah."

"Good for you."

"Bunch of kids ran after the wagon, crying. One was a little girl. She tripped in some horse shit and fell. People laughed."

"What'd you do?"

"Nothing. Nothing at all."

"You were a kid."

"Yeah."

During the telling, Sandler's quick sympathy changed to embarrassment when he wondered if Cosey laughed too. Other times he felt active dislike for the man, as when he refused to sell land to local people. Folks were divided on whether to blame him or his wife for selling it to a developer cashing in on HUD money. By way of fish fries, bake sales, rummage sales and tithing, they had collected enough for a deposit. They planned some kind of cooperative: small businesses, Headstart, cultural centers for arts, crafts, classes in Black History and Self Defense. At first Cosey was willing but ^{he} stalled the deal so long the decision was left to his widow. She sold it off before his tombstone was set. When ^{Sandler} ~~he~~ and others moved to Oceanside, he was still of two minds about Bill Cosey. Knowing him, watching him, was not so much about changing his mind; it

was more like an education. At first he thought Cosey was a dollar man. At least people said he was and he certainly spent his money as though they were right. Yet a year or so into those fishing trips, Sandler began to see Cosey's wealth not as a hammer wielded by a tough-minded man, but more like the toy of a sentimental one. Rich people could act like sharks, but what drove them was a kid's sweet tooth. A childish love that could thrive only in a meadow of girlish dreams: adoration, obedience, and full time fun. Vida believed a powerful, generous friend gazed out from the portrait hanging behind the desk. That was because she didn't know who he was looking at.

Slowly Sandler climbed the stairs from the basement. The early retirement he'd been forced to take had seemed like a good idea. Walking malls at midnight rested the mind without slowing it. Now he wondered if there was brain damage he hadn't counted on, since he was becoming more and more fixed on the past rather than the moment he stood in.

When he entered the kitchen, Vida was folding clothes and singing along to some blues-y country music on the radio. Thinking, maybe, of those cracked glass eyes rather than the ones in the portrait, he grabbed her shoulders, turned her around and held on tight while they danced.

Maybe girl tears, worse than the reason he shed them, were natural—a weakness the others recognized and pin⁻ pointed even before he punked out. Even before the melt had flooded his chest when he saw her hands, curving down from the snow⁻ white shoe laces that bound them. They might have been mittens pinned crookedly on a clothes line, hung there by some slut who didn't care what the neighbors said. And the plum polish on nails bitten to the quick gave the mitten-tiny hands a womanly look and made Romen think she herself was the slut—the one with no regard for what people might think.

He was next in line. And ready too, in spite of the little hands and in spite of the mewling in her throat. He stood near the headboard charged by Theo's brays and his head bobbing above the girl's face which was turned to the wall and hidden beneath hair undone by writhing. His belt unbuckled, anticipation ripe, he was about to become the Romen he'd always known he was: chiseled, dangerous, loose. Last of a group of six. Three had left as soon as they were finished—slapping fives on their way out of the bedroom and back to where the party raged. Freddie and Jamal sat on the floor, spent but watching as Theo, who had been first, took seconds. Slower this time, his whinny the only sound because the girl wasn't mewling anymore. By the time he withdrew, the room smelled of vegetables and rotten grapes and wet clay and only the silence was fresh.

Romen stepped forward to take Theo's place, then watched in wonder as his hands moved to the headboard. The knot binding her right wrist came undone as soon as he touched it and her hand fell over the bedside.

She did not use it at all—not to hit nor scratch or push back her hair. Romen untied the other hand still hanging from the Pro Ked laces. Then he wrapped her in the spread she was lying on and hoisted her into a sitting position. He picked up her shoes, high heeled, an X of pink leather across the front—good for nothing but dancing and showing off. He could hear the whooping laughter—that came first— then the jokes and finally the anger, but he got her out of there through the dancing crowd and onto the porch. Trembling, she held on tight to the shoes he handed her. If either had been drunk earlier, they weren't anymore. A cold wind took their breath away.

He thought her name was Faye or Faith and was about to say something when suddenly he couldn't stand the sight of her. If she thanked him, he would strangle her. Fortunately, she didn't say a word. Eyes frozen wide, she put on her shoes and straightened her skirt. Both of their coats, his new leather jacket and whatever she had worn, were inside the house.

The door opened; two girls ran out, one carrying a coat, the other

26

holding up a purse.

"Pretty-Fay! What happened?"

Romen turned to go.

"What happened to you, girl? Hey, you! You do something to her?"

Romen kept walking.

Come back here!
"Here, put it on. *your coat* He bother you? Well, who? Who? Look at your hair! Pretty-Fay!"

He heard their shrieks, their concern, as cymbal clashes, stressing, but not competing with, the trumpet blast of what Theo had called him: the worst name there was; the one word whose reverberation, once airborne, only a fired gun could end. Otherwise there was no end-ever.

For the past three days he had been a joke. His easily won friendship—four months old now—lost. Holding the stare of any one of the *five others* ~~six~~, except for Freddie, was a dare, an invitation, and even when he didn't stare back or meet their eyes at all, the trumpet spoke his name. They

77

gathered without him at the link fence; left the booth at Patty's Burgers when he sat down. Even the flirty-est girls sensed his undesirability, as though all at once his clothes were jive: T⁻ shirt too white, pants too pressed; sneakers laced all wrong.

On the first day following the party, nobody refused him court time but he never got a pass and when he intercepted, he had to try for a dunk wherever his position because there was no one to receive the ball. They dropped their hands and looked at him. If he made a rebound they fouled it away from him and the trumpet spat before he could see who blew it. Finally they just tripped him and walked off the court. Romen sat there, panting, eager to fight but knowing that if he answered the fouls, the tripping, the trumpet spit, it would be the same as defending the girl again. Somebody he didn't know and didn't want to. If he fought back, he would be fighting not for himself, but for her, Pretty-Fay; proving the connection between them—the wrong connection. As though he and her had been tied

to a bed; his legs and hers forced open.

Lucas Breen, one of the white boys whose hoop skill was envied, dribbled and shot ^{all alone} ~~by himself~~ at the far end of the court. Romen got up and started to join him, but realized in time there was another word in the trumpet's repertoire. He passed Lucas with a glance, muttering, "Hey."

The second day was miserable, lonelier. Freddie brought him the jacket he'd left and said, "Hey, man. Don't get shook," but didn't hang around to say more. After he saw Pretty-Fay's friends, the two who had come running out with her coat and purse, waving at him through the window of the school bus, he began to ride the commuter bus. Readily he chose the inconvenience of walking two miles to and from the stop to avoid the possibility of seeing Pretty-Fay herself. He never did. Nor did anyone. ^{else}

The third day they beat him up. All ^{five} ~~six~~, including Freddie. Smart, too. They hit him everywhere except his face, just in case he was a snitch as well,

happy to explain a broken mouth or swollen eye; girl enough to point a weak finger at them if questioned. All ^{five}~~six~~. Romen fought well; raised a lump or two, kneed deep into a groin, tore a shirt till they got his hands behind his back and tried to break his ribs and empty his stomach at the same time. That last was starting to happen when a car drove up and honked. Everybody scattered, including Romen, who stumbled away holding his stomach, more fearful of being rescued than of passing out with vomit on his jeans. He threw up behind a mimosa tree in the woods back of Patty's. Contemplating his grandmother's cooking in the grass, he began to wonder if he could ever live his body down. He did not question Theo's contempt or Freddie's disgust. He shared both and couldn't understand what had made him melt at that moment—his heart bursting like a pump for a wounded creature who a few seconds earlier had been a feast he was eager to gnaw. If he'd found her in the street, his reaction would have been the same but in the company of and part of the pack who put her

there—shit! What was that thing that had moved him to untie her, cover her, Jesus! Cover her! Cover her up! get her on her feet and out of there? The little mitten hands? The naked male behinds convulsing one after another after another after another? The vegetable odor mixed with a solid booming bass on the other side of the door? As he put his arm around her and led her away, he was still erect, folding only as they stepped together out into the cold. What made him do it? Or rather who?

But he knew who it was. It was the real Romen who had sabotaged the newly chiseled, dangerous one. The fake Romen, preening over a stranger's bed, was tricked by the real Romen, who was still in charge here in his own bed, forcing him to hide under a pillow and shed girl tears. The trumpet stuttering in his head.

81

3

STRANGER

PREDATOR

Continue
in Chap 1

THE SETTLEMENT IS A PLANET AWAY FROM ONE MONARCH STREET. A LITTLE
HUDDLE, A BIT OF SPRAWL, IT HAS CLAIMED THE SLOPE OF A HILL AND THE VALLEY
BELOW SINCE WORLD WAR I. NO ONE USES ITS NAME—NOT THE POST OFFICE OR
THE CENSUS BUREAU. THE STATE TROOPERS KNOW IT WELL, HOWEVER, AND A FEW
PEOPLE WHO USED TO WORK IN THE OLD RELIEF OFFICE HAVE HEARD OF IT, BUT
THE NEW EMPLOYEES OF THE COUNTY WELFARE OFFICE HAVE NOT. FROM TIME TO
TIME TEACHERS IN DISTRICT 10 HAVE HAD STUDENTS FROM THERE BUT THEY DON'T

USE THE WORD 'SETTLEMENT.' 'RURALS' IS WHAT THESE STRANGE UNTEACHABLE CHILDREN ARE LABELED. ALTHOUGH IT INFURIATES ORDINARY STUDENTS FROM DECENT FARMING FAMILIES, GUIDANCE COUNSELORS HAD TO CHOOSE SOME SOCIALLY BENIGN TERM TO IDENTIFY THESE CHILDREN WITHOUT ANTAGONIZING THEIR PARENTS WHO MIGHT GET WIND OF IT. THE TERM PROVED SATISFACTORY, ALTHOUGH NO SETTLEMENT PARENT EVER APPEARED TO REQUEST, PERMIT, OBSERVE, CONSULT OR COMPLAIN. NOTES OR FORMS PLACED IN THE CHILDREN'S UNSOAPED HANDS WERE NEVER RETURNED OR RESPONDED TO. RURALS SAT IN CLASS FOR A FEW MONTHS, SHARING TEXTBOOKS, BORROWING PAPER AND PENCILS, BUT PURPOSEFULLY SILENT AS THOUGH THEY WERE THERE TO TEST, NOT ACQUIRE, EDUCATION; TO WITNESS, NOT SUPPLY INFORMATION. THEY WERE QUIET IN THE CLASSROOM, AND KEPT TO THEMSELVES, PARTLY OUT OF CHOICE BUT PARTLY BECAUSE THEY WERE CAREFULLY AVOIDED BY THEIR PEERS. RURALS WERE KNOWN AS SUDDEN FIGHTERS—RELENTLESS AND VICIOUS. IT WAS COMMON KNOWLEDGE THAT SOME TIME IN THE LATE FIFTIES A PRINCIPAL MANAGED TO

LOCATE THEN VISIT THE HOME OF A RURAL NAMED OTIS RICK. OTIS HAD
LOOSEMED A CHILD'S EYE ON THE PLAYGROUND AND HAD NOT UNDERSTOOD OR
OBEYED THE EXPELLED NOTICE STUCK IN HIS SHIRT POCKET. HE HAD COME BACK
EVERY DAY, HIS VICTIM'S DRIED BLOOD STILL ON HIS SLEEVES. NOT MUCH IS
KNOWN OF THIS OFFICIAL VISIT TO DEMAND OTIS' PERMANENT ABSENCE-EXCEPT
ONE VIVID DETAIL. WHEN THE PRINCIPAL LEFT THE RICK PROPERTY HE HAD TO
COVER THE WHOLE LENGTH OF THE VALLEY ON FOOT BECAUSE HE HAD BEEN
GIVEN NO TIME OR CHANCE TO GET BACK IN HIS CAR. THE DE SOTO WAS TOWED
BACK TO TOWN BY STATE TROOPERS BECAUSE NOTHING COULD MAKE ITS OWNER
GO BACK TO RETRIEVE IT.

VERY OLD PEOPLE WHO WERE YOUNG DURING THE GREAT DEPRESSION,
AND WHO STILL CALL THAT PART OF THE COUNTY THE SETTLEMENT COULD
DESCRIBE IN DETAIL THE HISTORY OF ITS INHABITANTS, IF ANY ONE ASKED. BUT AS
THEIR OPINIONS ARE SELDOM SOUGHT, SETTLEMENT PEOPLE HAVE IT THE WAY
THEY WANT IT-UN-EVOLVED AND REVEILED, THEY ARE ALSO TOLERATED, LEFT ALONE,

AND FEARED. QUITE THE WAY IT WAS IN 1912 WHEN THE JUTE MILL WAS
ABANDONED AND THOSE WHO COULD LEAVE LEFT AND THOSE WHO COULD NOT
(THE BLACK ONES BECAUSE THEY HAD NO HOPE OR THE WHITE ONES WHO HAD
NO PROSPECTS) LOLLERED ON, MARRYING ONE ANOTHER, SORT OF, AND FIGURING
OUT HOW TO STAY ALIVE FROM DAY TO DAY. THEY BUILT THEIR OWN HOUSES
FROM OTHER PEOPLE'S SCRAPS, OR THEY ADDED ON TO THE WORKERS' CABINS
LEFT BY THE JUTE COMPANY: A SHED HERE, A ROOM THERE TO THE CLUSTER OF
LITTLE TWO-ROOMS-AND-A-STOVE HUTS THAT WAVERED ON THE SLOPE OR SANK
IN THE VALLEY. THEY USED STREAM AND RAIN WATER, DRANK COW'S MILK OR
HOME BREW; ATE GAME, EGGS, DOMESTIC PLANTS, AND, IF ONE OF THEM HIRED
OUT IN A FIELD OR A KITCHEN, THEY SPENT THE EARNINGS ON SUGAR, SALT,
COOKING OIL, SODA POP, CORN FLAKES, FLOUR, DRIED BEANS, AND RICE. IF
THERE WERE NO EARNINGS, THEY STOLE.

UNLIKE THE TRANQUILITY OF ITS NAME, THE SETTLEMENT HEAVED WITH
LOYALTY AND LICENSE AND THE ONLY CRIME WAS DEPARTURE. ONE SUCH

TREASON WAS UNDERTAKEN BY A GIRL WITH MERGED TOES CALLED JUNIOR.

HER MOTHER, VIVIAN, HAD MEANT TO NAME HER RIGHT AWAY. THREE DAYS HAD

PASSED AFTER THE HARD DELIVERY BEFORE SHE COULD STAY AWAKE LONG

ENOUGH TO MAKE A DECISION—DURING WHICH TIME THE BABY GIRL'S FATHER

“ ” CALLED THE NEWBORN JUNIOR. EITHER AFTER HIMSELF —ETHAN PAYNE JR.— OR HIS ^{after}

LONGING, FOR ALTHOUGH VIVIAN ALREADY HAD FOUR BOY CHILDREN, NONE OF

THEM WAS ETHAN'S. VIVIAN FINALLY DID CHOOSE A NAME FOR THE BABY AND

MAY EVEN HAVE USED IT ONCE OR TWICE AFTER ETHAN MOVED BACK TO HIS

FATHER'S HOUSE. BUT JUNIOR STUCK. NOTHING MORE WAS REQUIRED UNTIL THE

CHILD ENTERED DISTRICT 10 AND A LAST NAME WAS DEMANDED OF HER.

“JUNIOR VIVIAN,” SHE MURMURED AND WHEN THE TEACHER SMILED INTO HER

~~OWN~~ HAND, THE GIRL SCRATCHED HER ELBOW, HAVING JUST REALIZED SHE

COULD HAVE SAID, “JUNE.”

SETTLEMENT GIRLS WERE DISCOURAGED FROM SCHOOLING, BUT EACH OF

HER UNCLES, MALE COUSINS AND HALF BROTHERS, HAD SPENT SOME TIME AT

DISTRICT 10. UNLIKE ANY ONE OF THEM, SHE WAS SELDOM TRUANT. AT HOME WITH NO ONE OR ANYONE IN CHARGE, SHE FELT LIKE ONE OF THE SETTLEMENT DOGS. FIFTY STRONG, THEY SWUNG BETWEEN SHORT CHAINS AND UNFETTERED ROAMING. BETWEEN FIGHTS AND MEALS THEY SLEPT LASHED TO TREES OR CURLED NEAR A DOOR. LEFT TO THEIR OWN DEVICES, HOUNDS MATED WITH SHEPHERDS, COLLIES WITH LABRADOR^s. BY 1975[,] WHEN JUNIOR WAS BORN, THEY WERE AN ODD, ORIGINAL, ASTONISHINGLY HANDSOME BREED INSTANTLY RECOGNIZABLE[,] TO FOLKS WHO KNEW[,] AS A SETTLEMENT DOGth-ADEPT AT KEEPING OUTSIDERS OUT, BUT AT THEIR BRILLIANT BEST WHEN HUNTING.

DURING YEARS OF YEARNING FOR HER FATHER, SHE BEGGED RELENTLESSLY TO VISIT HIM.

"WILL YOU HUSH UP?" WAS ALL VIVIAN SAID[,] UNTIL ONE DAY SHE ANSWERED, "ARMY. THAT'S WHAT I HEARD."

"WHEN'S HE COMING BACK?"

"OH HE WEREN'T NOTHING, BABY. NOTHING AT ALL. GO PLAY NOW."

looking out
SHE DID, BUT SHE KEPT ON ~~WAITING~~ FOR THE TALL HANDSOME MAN WHO
NAMED HER AFTER HIMSELF TO SHOW HOW HE FELT ABOUT HER. SHE JUST HAD
TO WAIT.

BORED AT LAST WITH THE DOGS AND HER MOTHER, FASTER AND SLIER
THAN HER BROTHERS, AFRAID OF HER UNCLES AND UNAMUSED BY THEIR WIVES,
JUNIOR WELCOMED DISTRICT 10. FIRST TO GET OUT OF THE SETTLEMENT, THEN
FOR ITSELF. SHE WAS THE FIRST RURAL TO SPEAK UP AND MAKE A STAB AT
HOMEWORK. THE GIRLS AVOIDED HER AND THE FEW WHO TRIED TO SPRINKLE THE
SEEDS OF FRIENDSHIP WERE QUICKLY FORCED TO CHOOSE BETWEEN THE UNTIDY
RURAL WITH ONE DRESS AND THE CRAFTY VENGEANCE LITTLE GIRLS KNOW HOW
TO EXACT. JUNIOR LOST EVERY TIME, BUT BEHAVED AS THOUGH THE REJECTION
WAS HER VICTORY, SMILING WHEN SHE SAW THE ONE-RECESS^{er} FRIEND RETREAT TO
HER ORIGINAL FOLD. IT WAS A ^{*white*} BOY WHO SUCCEEDED AT BEFRIENDING HER. THE
TEACHERS THOUGHT IT WAS BECAUSE HE FED HER YODELS AND SNO-BALLS FROM
HIS LUNCH BAG, SINCE JUNIOR'S LUNCH MIGHT BE A SINGLE APPLE OR A

MAYONNAISE SANDWICH STUFFED IN THE POCKET OF THE WOMAN'S SWEATER SHE WORE. THE PUPILS, HOWEVER, BELIEVED HE WAS PLAYING DIRTY WITH HER DOWN IN A DITCH SOMEWHERE AFTER SCHOOL--AND THEY TOLD HIM SO. BUT HE WAS A PROUD BOY, SON OF THE BOTTLING PLANT MANAGER WHO COULD HIRE AND FIRE THEIR PARENTS--AND HE TOLD THEM SO.

HIS NAME WAS PETER PAUL FORTAS AND, HAVING LIVED THROUGH ELEVEN YEARS OF BEING CALLED PEE PEE, HE HAD GROWN INSOLENT AND UNYIELDING TO POPULAR OPINION. PETER PAUL AND JUNIOR WERE NOT INTERESTED IN EACH OTHER'S BODIES. JUNIOR WANTED TO KNOW ABOUT VATS OF COKE SYRUP AND CAPPING MACHINES. PETER PAUL WANTED TO KNOW IF IT WAS TRUE ABOUT BROWN BEARS IN THE HILLS AND WHETHER IT WAS THE CALVES OR THE SMELL OF MILK THAT ATTRACTED SNAKES. THEY TRADED INFORMATION LIKE RACE TRACK TIPSTERS, SKIPPING BIOGRAPHY TO GET TO THE MEAT OF THE GAME. ONCE, HOWEVER, HE ASKED HER IF SHE WAS COLORED. JUNIOR SAID SHE DIDN'T KNOW BUT WOULD FIND OUT FOR HIM. HE SAID IT DIDN'T MATTER BECAUSE HE

COULDN'T INVITE GENTILES TO HIS HOUSE ANYWAY. HE DIDN'T WANT HER FEELINGS HURT. SHE NODDED, PLEASED WITH THE SERIOUS, PRETTY WORD HE HAD CALLED HER.

HE PILFERED FOR HER: A BALL POINT PEN, A PAIR OF SOCKS, A YELLOW BARRETTE FOR HER FINGER-COMBED HAIR. WHEN FOR CHRISTMAS SHE GAVE HIM A BABY COTTON-MOUTH CURLED IN A BOTTLE AND HE GAVE HER A JUMBO BOX OF CRAYONS IT WAS HARD TO TELL WHICH ONE WAS HAPPIER.

BUT THE BOTTLED COTTON MOUTH WAS A SNAKE, AFTER ALL, AND IT DID THEM IN.

SOME OF JUNIOR'S UNCLES, IDLE TEENAGERS WHOSE BRAINS HAD BEEN INSULTED BY THE BLEAKNESS OF THEIR LIVES, ALTERNATED BETWEEN VIOLENCE AND COMA. THEY DID NOT BELIEVE THE JARRED SNAKE HAD BEEN FOR A CLASS ASSIGNMENT AS JUNIOR TOLD THEM WHEN ASKED "WHAT'S ET YOU HAULING OFF, ^{Gal}GIRL?" OR IF THEY DID BELIEVE HER, THE ACT WAS DEEPLY OFFENSIVE TO THEM. SOMETHING BELONGING TO THE SETTLEMENT WAS BEING TRANSFERRED TO

THE SITE OF A FAILURE SO DISMAL IT HAD NOT REGISTERED ON THEM AS FAILURE AT ALL-BUT AS THE TRIUMPH OF NATURAL LIGHT OVER INSTITUTIONAL DARKNESS. OR PERHAPS IT WAS TOO COLD FOR POSSUM, OR ONE OF THEM HAD NOT SHARED HIS BEER. WHATEVER THE REASON, THE UNCLES WERE WIDE AWAKE THE MORNING AFTER CHRISTMAS AND FUN-SEEKING.

JUNIOR WAS ASLEEP. HER HEAD ON A STAINED ~~WHITE~~ JESUS SAVES PILLOW, WRAPPED IN A BLANKET SERVING ALSO AS A MATTRESS. THE PILLOW, A CHRISTMAS GIFT FROM AN UNCLE'S WIFE WHO GOT IT FROM THE TRASH BOX OF HER THEN EMPLOYER, ENCOURAGED DREAMS. THE CRAYONS, HELD TO HER CHEST, DECORATED THEM. SO COLORFUL WAS HER SLEEP, AN UNCLE HAD TO TAP HER BEHIND WITH ~~THE TOE OF HIS BOOT~~ MORE THAN ONCE TO WAKE HER. THEY QUESTIONED HER ABOUT THE SNAKE AGAIN. THE CRAYON COLORED DREAMS DRAINED SLOWLY AS JUNIOR TRIED TO FIGURE OUT WHAT THEY WANTED, THERE BEING NO POINT IN WONDERING THE WHY OF ANYTHING WITH THEM. THEY DIDN'T KNOW THEMSELVES WHY THEY SET FIRE TO A CAR SEAT RATHER THAN

REMOVE IT. OR WHY A SNAKE WAS IMPORTANT TO THEM. THEY WANTED THE COTTONMOUTH RETURNED TO ITS RIGHTFUL HOME .

AMONG THE THREATS IF SHE DIDN'T GO GET IT WERE "TO BREAK YOUR PRETTY LITTLE BUTT," AND "HAND YOU OVER TO VOSH." THIS LATTER SHE HAD HEARD MANY TIMES BEFORE AND THE POSSIBILITY THAT IT COULD HAPPEN, THAT SHE COULD BE HANDED OVER TO THE OLD MAN IN THE VALLEY WHO LIKED TO WALK AROUND WITH HIS PRIVATE PARTS IN HIS HAND SINGING HYMNS OF PRAISE, JOLTED HER UP FROM THE FLOOR, OUT OF REACHING HANDS AND THROUGH THE DOOR. THE UNCLES CHASED HER, BUT SHE WAS SWIFT. CHAINED DOGS GROWLED, LOOSE ONES JOINED IN. ON HER WAY DOWN THE PATH, SHE SAW VIVIAN RETURNING FROM THE PRIVY.

"MA!" SHE CALLED.

"LEAVE HER 'LONE YOU GODDAM POLECATS," SCREAMED VIVIAN. SHE TOOK A FEW RUNNING STEPS BEFORE FATIGUE ENDED IN FUTILE ROCK THROWING AT THE BACKS OF HER YOUNGER BROTHERS. "LEAVE HER 'LONE. COME BACK HERE

YOU POLECATS. YOU BETTER MIND ME." URGENT, HEART FELT, IF NOT

OPTIMISTIC, THE WORDS WERE A COMFORT TO THE RUNNING GIRL. BAREFOOT,

CLUTCHING A JUMBO BOX OF CRAYONS, JUNIOR DODGED, HID FROM AND

MANAGED TO LOSE THE HOWLING UNCLES. SHE FOUND HERSELF IN THE KIND OF

WOOD LUMBER MEN SALIVATE OVER. PECANS THE SIZE OF WHICH HAD NOT BEEN

SEEN SINCE THE TWENTIES. MAPLES BOASTING SIX AND SEVEN TRUNK-SIZE ARMS.

LOCUSTS, BUTTERNUT, WHITE CEDAR, ASH. HEALTHY TREES MIXED WITH SICK

ONES. HUGE BLACK CAULIFLOWERS OF DISEASE GREW ON SOME. OTHERS

LOOKED ~~WELL~~ ^{healthy} UNTIL A WIND, LIGHT AND PLAYFUL, RUFFLED THEIR CROWNS.

THEN THEY CRACKED AND FELL LIKE CORONARY VICTIMS, COPPER AND GOLD

MEAL POURING FROM THE BREAK.

DARTING THEN PAUSING, JUNIOR ARRIVED AT A SUN LIT STAND OF BAMBOO

STRANGLING IN VIRGINIA CREEPER. THE HOWLING HAD STOPPED. SHE WAITED,

THEN CLIMBED A NORTHERN SPY TO SCAN THE HILLS AND WHAT SHE COULD SEE

OF THE VALLEY. NO UNCLES IN SIGHT. JUST THE PARTING OF TREES WHERE THE

CREEK RAN. AND BEYOND IT THE ROAD.

THE SUN WAS HIGH WHEN SHE GOT TO ITS EDGE. OF NO IMPORTANCE TO
HER WERE FLESH CUTS, TWIG⁸⁷S EMBEDDED IN HER HAIR, BUT SHE MOURNED THE
SEVEN CRAYONS BROKEN IN FLIGHT, BEFORE SHE GOT TO USE EVEN ONE. VIVIAN
COULD NOT PROTECT HER FROM VOSH OR THE UNCLES, SO SHE DECIDED TO
FIND PETER PAUL'S HOUSE, WAIT FOR HIM SOMEWHERE NEARBY AND -WHAT?
WELL, HE WOULD HELP HER SOMEHOW. BUT SHE WOULD NEVER EVER ASK HIM
TO RETURN THE BABY COTTON MOUTH.

SHE STEPPED OUT ON TO THE ROAD AND HAD NOT GONE FIFTY FEET WHEN
A TRUCK⁸⁸ FULL OF UNCLES CLATTERED BEHIND HER. SHE JUMPED LEFT, OF COURSE,
INSTEAD OF RIGHT, BUT THEY HAD ANTICIPATED THAT. WHEN THE FRONT FENDER
KNOCKED HER SIDEWAYS, THE REAR TIRE CRUSHED HER TOES.

A BUMPY RIDE IN THE BED OF A TRUCK, A PLACE ON VIVIAN'S COT, WHISKEY
IN HER MOUTH, CAMPHOR IN HER NOSE-NOTHING WOKE HER UNTIL THE PAIN
RATCHET-TED DOWN TO UNBEARABLE. JUNIOR OPENED HER EYES TO FEVER AND

A HURT SO STUNNING SHE COULD NOT FILL HER LUNGS. BREATH CAME AND WENT IN THIMBLES. DAY AFTER DAY SHE LAY THERE, FIRST UNABLE, THEN REFUSING TO CRY OR SPEAK TO VIVIAN WHO WAS TELLING HER HOW THANKFUL SHE SHOULD BE THAT THE UNCLES HAD FOUND HER SPRAWLED ON THE ROAD SIDE, HER BABY GIRL JUNIOR STRUCK DOWN BY A CAR DRIVEN, NO DOUBT, BY A TOWN BASTARD TOO BIGGEDY TO STOP AFTER RUNNING OVER A LITTLE GIRL AND CHECK TO SEE IF SHE WAS DEAD OR LEASTWISE GIVE HER A LIFT.

IN SILENCE JUNIOR WATCHED HER TOES SWELL, REDDEN, TURN BLUE, THEN BLACK, THEN MARBLE THEN MERGE. THE CRAYONS WERE GONE AND THE HAND THAT ONCE HELD THEM NOW CLUTCHED A KNIFE READY FOR VOSH OR AN UNCLE OR ANYONE STOPPING HER FROM THE SETTLEMENT VERSION OF CRIME: LEAVING. GETTING OUT. CLEAN AWAY FROM PEOPLE WHO CHASED HER DOWN, RAN OVER HER FOOT, LIED ABOUT IT, CALLED HER LUCKY AND WHO PREFERRED THE COMPANY OF A SNAKE TO A GIRL. IN ONE YEAR SHE WAS GONE. TWO MORE AND SHE WAS FED, BATHED, CLOTHED, EDUCABLE AND THRIVING. BEHIND BARS.

SHE WAS ELEVEN WHEN SHE RAN AWAY AND WANDERED FOR DAYS WITHOUT ATTENTION BEING PAID. THEN SUDDENLY NOTICED WHEN SHE STOLE A G.I. JOE DOLL FROM AN "EVERYTHING FOR A DOLLAR" STORE; TAKEN INTO CUSTODY WHEN SHE WOULDN'T GIVE IT BACK, TRANSFERRED TO A SHELTER WHEN SHE BIT THE WOMAN WHO YANKED IT FROM HER; REMANDED TO CORRECTIONAL WHEN SHE REFUSED TO PROVIDE ANY INFORMATION OTHER THAN HER FIRST NAME. JUNIOR DOE THEY WROTE AND JUNIOR DOE SHE REMAINED UNTIL THE STATE LET HER GO AND SHE RECLAIMED HER TRUE NAME WITH AN 'E' ADDED FOR STYLE.

SOME OF THE EDUCATION AT CORRECTIONAL WAS ACADEMIC; MOST OF IT WAS NOT. BOTH KINDS HONED THE CUNNING NEEDED TO SECURE A PLACE IN A BIG, FANCY HOUSE ON POST ROAD WHERE THERE WAS NO UNIFORMED WOMAN PACING IN THE HALF LIGHT OF A CORRIDOR OR OPENING DOORS TO CHECK; WHERE THE SLEEP THRUM OF BODIES CLOSE BY SIPHONED THE AIR. THIS WAS THE RIGHT PLACE AND THERE HE WAS, LETTING HER KNOW IN EVERY WAY IT HAD BEEN

WAITING FOR HER ALL ALONG. SHE HAD DREAMED HIM THE FIRST NIGHT AS SOON AS HE SAW HIS PORTRAIT. HAD RIDDEN HIS SHOULDERS THROUGH AN ORCHARD OF GREEN GRANNY APPLES HEAVY AND THICK ON THE BOUGHS.

THE NEXT MORNING AT BREAKFAST, GRAPEFRUIT, SCRAMBLED EGGS, GRITS, TOAST, BACON, CHRISTINE WAS LESS HOSTILE, BUT STILL NERVOUS. IT WAS WHEN SHE 'D FINISHED EATING AND ^{WAS} BACK IN HEED'S BEDROOM THAT SHE KNEW FOR SURE. THE GIFT WAS UNMISTAKABLE.

SWALLOWED ^{UP} IN HEED'S RED SUIT, JUNIOR HAD STOOD AT THE WINDOW AND LOOKED AGAIN AT THE BOY BELOW WHILE HEED RUMMAGED IN A FOOT LOCKER. EARLIER SHE HAD SEEN CHRISTINE SHOOT DOWN THE DRIVEWAY LEAVING THE BOY HOLDING A PAIL AND SHIVERING IN THE YARD. NOW SHE WATCHED HIM WIPE HIS NOSE WITH THE BACK OF HIS WRIST, THEN BRUSH THE RESIDUE ON HIS JEANS. JUNIOR SMILED. AND WAS SMILING STILL WHEN HEED CALLED OUT TO HER.

"HERE IT IS. I FOUND IT." SHE WAVED A SILVER FRAMED PHOTOGRAPH. "I

KEEP VALUABLES LOCKED UP IN ONE PLACE OR ANOTHER AND SOMETIMES I
FORGET WHERE."

JUNIOR LEFT THE WINDOW, KNELT NEXT TO THE FOOTLOCKER AND GAZED
AT THE PHOTOGRAPH. A WEDDING. FIVE PEOPLE. AND HIM, THE GROOM,
LOOKING TO THE LEFT AT A WOMAN WHO, HOLDING A SINGLE ROSE, FOCUSED A
FROZEN SMILE AT THE CAMERA.

"SHE LOOKS LIKE THE WOMAN DOWNSTAIRS, CHRISTINE," SAID JUNIOR
POINTING.

"WELL SHE'S NOT," SAID HEED.

THE WOMAN HELD HIS ARM, AND ALTHOUGH HE WAS LOOKING AT HER, HIS
OTHER ARM WAS AROUND THE BARE SHOULDER OF HIS TINY BRIDE. HEED
WAS SWAMPED BY THE OVER ⁻SIZE WEDDING GOWN FALLING FROM HER
SHOULDERS AND THE ORANGE BLOSSOMS AT HER CHEST. TO HER LEFT WAS
A SLICK LOOKING HANDSOME MAN SMILING TO HIS LEFT AT A WOMAN
WHOSE CLENCHED HANDS EMPHASIZED MORE THAN THE ABSENCE OF A

ital

BOUQUET.

"I DON'T LOOK SO DIFFERENT, DO I?" ASKED HEED.

"WHY IS YOUR HUSBAND LOOKING AT HER AND NOT YOU?"

"TRYING TO CHEER HER UP, I SUPPOSE. HE WAS LIKE THAT."

"THAT YOUR BRIDESMAID?" ASKED JUNIOR, POINTING TO THE CLENCH-HANDED WOMAN. "SHE DOESN'T LOOK TOO HAPPY EITHER."

"NO. SHE DOESN'T, DOES SHE? CAN'T SAY IT WAS A HAPPY WEDDING. BILL COSEY WAS VERY MARRIAGE-ING YOU KNOW. A LOT OF WOMEN WANTED TO BE IN MY SLIPPERS."

JUNIOR EXAMINED THE PICTURE AGAIN. "WHO'S THAT OTHER GUY?" SHE ASKED.

"OUR BEST MAN. A VERY FAMOUS MUSICIAN IN HIS DAY. YOU TOO YOUNG TO KNOW ABOUT HIM."

"THESE THE PEOPLE YOU'RE WRITING ABOUT?"

"YES. WELL, SOME. MOSTLY ABOUT PAPA-MY HUSBAND-HIS PEOPLE, HIS

FATHER. YOU WOULDN'T BELIEVE HOW PROUD THEY WERE, HOW CLASSY. EVEN
BACK IN SLAVERY DAYS....

THERE WAS MORE THAN ONE REASON JUNIOR STOPPED LISTENING. ONE
WAS THAT SHE GUESSED HEED DIDN'T WANT TO WRITE A BOOK; SHE WANTED TO
TALK, ALTHOUGH WHY SHE HAD TO PAY SOMEBODY TO TALK TO, JUNIOR HADN'T
FIGURED OUT YET. THE OTHER WAS THE BOY SHIVERING OUTSIDE. SHE COULD
HEAR THE FAINT SCRAPES OF HIS SHOVEL MOVING SLUSH, TAPPING ICE.

"DOES HE LIVE AROUND HERE?"

"WHO?"

"KID OUTSIDE."

"OH, THAT'S SANDLER'S BOY. HE RUNS ERRANDS, KEEPS THE YARD UP. NICE
BOY."

"WHAT'S HIS NAME?"

"ROMEN. HIS GRANDFATHER WAS A FRIEND TO MY HUSBAND. THEY FISHED
TOGETHER. PAPA HAD TWO BOATS, YOU KNOW. ONE NAMED FOR HIS FIRST WIFE

AND ONE NAMED FOR ME...."

SIXTEEN, MAYBE OLDER. NICE NECK.

"...HE TOOK IMPORTANT PEOPLE DEEP SEA FISHING. THE SHERIFF, CHIEF SILK, THEY CALLED HIM. HE WAS PAPA'S BEST FRIEND. AND BIG NAME SINGERS AND BANDLEADERS. BUT HE LIKED SANDLER EVEN THOUGH HE WAS JUST A LOCAL MAN WORKING IN THE CANNERY LIKE MOST EVERYBODY THEN, BUT PAPA LIKED HIM....

HE WON'T LIKE THIS OLD LADY SUIT I GOT ON.

adored *was good to*
"EVERYBODY ~~LOVED~~ PAPA AND HE ~~LOVED~~ EVERYBODY. OF COURSE HIS WILL LEFT ME THE MOST THOUGH TO HEAR SOME PEOPLE A WIFE SHOULDN'T BE CARED FOR..."

LIKE THE BOYS AT CAMPUS 4 SHOOTING BASKETS, US LOOKING AT THEM THROUGH THE WIRE, DARING THEM; THEM LOOKING BACK AT US, PROMISING US.

"I WAS LUCKY, I KNOW THAT. MY MOTHER WAS AGAINST IT AT FIRST. HIS AGE AND ALL, BUT DADDY KNEW TRUE LOVE WHEN HE SAW IT. AND LOOK HOW IT TURNED OUT. ALMOST THIRTY YEARS OF PERFECT BLISS..."

GUARDS JEALOUS, ROUGHING THEM UP BECAUSE WE KEPT ON LOOKING,

GREEDY. LIKE FANS, WATCHING THOSE DAMP SWEATS RISE.

" NEITHER ONE OF US EVEN LOOKED AT ANYBODY ELSE. BUT IT SURE
WASN'T EASY GREASY RUNNING THE HOTEL. EVERYTHING WAS ON ME. WITH
NOBODY TO COUNT ON. NOBODY..."

SIXTEEN AT LEAST, MAYBE MORE. SHOOTS BASKETS, TOO. I CAN TELL.

HALF AN HOUR LATER, JUNIOR HAD CHANGED BACK INTO LEATHER. WHEN
ROMEN SAW HER HE THOUGHT WHAT HIS GRANDFATHER MUST HAVE THOUGHT
AND GRINNED IN SPIKE OF HIMSELF.

JUNIOR LIKED THAT. THEN, SUDDENLY, LIKE THE BOYS ON CAMPUS 4, HE
SLOUCHED-INDIFFERENT, READY TO BE TURNED DOWN, READY TO POUNCE.
JUNIOR DIDN'T GIVE HIM TIME TO DECIDE ON THE MATTER.

"DON'T TELL ME YOU'RE FUCKING THESE OLD WOMEN TOO."

TOO.

ROMEN'S EMBARRASSMENT FOUGHT WITH A FLUSH OF PRIDE. SHE ASSUMED

HE WAS CAPABLE OF IT. OF HAVING SCORED SO MANY TIMES HE COULD CHOOSE

ANY WOMAN ¹AND IN PAIRS, THEO, IN PAIRS.

"THEY TELL YOU THAT?"

"NO. BUT I BET THEY THINK ABOUT IT."

"YOU RELATED TO THEM?" ²

"NO WAY. I WORK HERE NOW."

"DOING WHAT?"

"THIS AND THAT."

"WHAT KINDA THIS? WHAT KINDA THAT?"

JUNIOR CIRCLED HER GIFT. SHE LOOKED AT THE SHOVEL IN HIS HANDS.

THEN HIS CROTCH; THEN HIS FACE. "THEY GOT ROOMS THEY NEVER GO IN. WITH
SOFAS AND EVERYTHING."

"YEAH?"

97, 98

Young people, Lord. Young love. It leaps over anything, takes the biggest chair, the largest slice, rules the ground wherever it walks from a mansion to a swamp and its selfishness is its beauty. Before I was reduced to sing-song, I saw all kinds of loveplay. Most are two night stands trying to last a season. Some, the rip-tide ones, claim exclusive right to the name, even though everybody drowns in its wake. People with no imagination feed it with sex—the clown of love. They don't know the real kinds, the better kinds where losses are cut and everybody benefits. It takes a certain intelligence to love like that—softly, without props. But the world is such a showpiece maybe that's why folks try to out do it, put everything they feel on stage just to prove they can think up things too: handsome scarey things like fights to the death, adultery, setting sheets afire. They fail, of course. The world outdoes them every time. While they are busy showing off, digging other

people's graves, hanging themselves on a cross, running wild in the streets
cherries are quietly turning from green to red, oysters are suffering pearls
and children are catching rain in their mouths expecting the drops to be
cold but they're not; they are warm and smell like pineapple before they get
heavier and heavier, so heavy and fast they can't be caught one at a time.
Poor swimmers head for shore while strong ones wait for lightning^{is}, the
silver veins ~~they wish were their own~~. Bottle green clouds sweep in pushing
the rain inland where palm trees pretend to be shocked by the wind.

Women scatter shielding their hair and men bend low holding the women's
shoulders against their chests. I run too, finally. I say finally because I ^{do like} love
a good storm. I would be one of those people on the weather channel
leaning into the wind while lawmen shout in megaphones: "Get moving!"

^ (see A & B inserts - back of 106 & 105)

The sign outside reads "Maceo's Café...ria" but the diner really belonged to
me. Indeed if not in deed. I had been cooking for Bill Cosey close to fifty
years when he died, and his funeral flowers were still fresh when I turned my
back on his women. I'd done all I could for them; it was time to quit.

Rather than starve, I took in laundry so I wouldn't have to. But having

(B)

standing in the sea

First time I saw Mr. Casey he was holding his wife, Julia, in his arms just above the surf to let her enjoy its play. I was 5; he was 24 and I'd never seen anything like that. Her eyes were closed, head bobbing; her light blue swimming dress ballooned or flattened out depending on the waves and his strength. She lifted an arm; touched his shoulder. He turned her to his chest and carried her ashore. I believed then it was the sunlight that brought those tears to my eyes - not the sight of all that tenderness coming out of the blue. Nine years later when I heard he was looking for house help, I ran all the way to his door.

customers running in and out of my house was too bothersome, so I gave in to Maceo's pleading. He had a certain reputation for fried fish (sooty black and crisp on the outside; flaky tender inside) but his side orders let you down every time. What I do with okra, with sweet potatoes, hopping john and almost anything you could name would put this generation of take-out brides to shame if they had any—which they don't. Every house had a serious cook in it once; somebody who toasted bread under an oven flame not in an aluminum box; somebody who beat air into batter with a spoon instead of a machine, who knew the secret of cinnamon bread. Now, well, it's all over. People wait for Christmas or Thanksgiving to give their kitchens proper respect. Otherwise they'd come to Maceo's Café Ria and pray I hadn't dropped dead at the stove. I used to walk all the way to work until my feet swole up and I had to quit. A few weeks into daytime tv and my bad health Maceo knocked on the door and said he couldn't take the empty tables any longer. Said he was willing to drive back and forth between Up Beach and Silk every day if I would save him one more time. I told him it wasn't only the walk; it was standing as well. But he had a plan for that, too. He got me a high chair with wheels, so I could scoot from stove to sink

(A)

Maybe it's because I was born in rough weather. A morning fishermen and wild parrots knew right away was bad news. My mother, tired as a dog waiting for this overdue baby, said she perked up and suddenly decided to ——— Only later did she realize she was drunk with the pure oxygen that swept through before the storm. Halfway through —, the day turned black and I began to thrash. She called my father and the two of them delivered me in a downpour. You could say going from womb water to rain marked me.

to cutting table. My feet healed but I got so used to wheel transportation I couldn't give it up.

Anybody who remembers what my real name ^{is} is dead or gone and nobody inquires now. Even children, who have a world of time to waste, treat me like I'm dead and don't ask about me anymore. Some thought it was Louise or Lucille because they used to see me take the usher's pencil and sign my tithe envelopes with L. Others, from hearing people mention or call me, said it was El for Ellen or Elvira. They're all wrong. Anyway, they gave up. Like they gave up calling Maceo's Maceo's or supplying the missing letters. Café Ria is what it's known ^{over} as and I glide there still.

Girls in love like the place a lot. Over iced tea with a clove in it, they join their friends to repeat what he said, describe what he did and guess what he meant by any of it. Like

He didn't call me for three days and when I called him he wanted to get together right then. See, there? He wouldn't do that if he didn't want to be with you. Oh, please. When I got there we had a long talk and for the first time he really listened to me. Sure he did. Why not? All he had to do was wait 'til you shut up then he could work his own tongue. I thought he

like a favored but homeless customer

was seeing what's her name? No, they split. He asked me to move in.

Sign the paper first, honey. I don't want anybody but him. It's like that,

Huh? Well, no joint accounts, hear? You want porgies or not?

Foolish. But they spice the lunch hour and lift the spirits of broken-hearted men eavesdropping at nearby tables.

We never had waitresses at the diner. The food is displayed in steam trays, and after your plate is heaped you take it to the cash register for cost analysis done by Maceo, his wife, or one of his no-count sons. Then you can eat here or take it on home.

The girl with no underwear—she calls herself Junior—comes in a lot. The first time I saw her she looked to me like somebody in a motor cycle gang. Boots. Leather. Wild hair. Maceo couldn't take his eyes off her either—had to lid her coffee twice. The second time was on a Sunday just before church let out. She walked the length of the steam table checking the trays with the kind of eyes you see on those "Save this Child" commercials. I was resting by the sink and blowing on a cup of pot liquor before dipping my bread in. I could see her pacing like a panther or some such. The big hair was gone. It was done up in a million long plaits

with something shiny at the tip of each one. Her fingernails were painted blue and her lipstick was ^{the color of} ~~dark as~~ blackberries. She still wore that leather jacket, and her skirt was long this time, but you could see straight through it—a flowery nothing swinging above her boots. All her private parts going public along side red dahlias and baby breath.

One of Maceo's trifling boys leaned up against the wall while Miss Junior made up her mind. He never opened his lips to say good afternoon may I help you? anything in particular? or any of the welcoming things you're supposed to greet customers with. I just cooled my liquid and watched to see which one would behave normal first.

She did.

Her order must have been for her self and a friend because Christine came back home a champion cook and Heed won't eat. Anyway, the girl chose three sides, two meats, one rice pudding and one chocolate cake. Maceo's boy, Theo they call him, smirking more than usual, moved from the wall to load up the styrofoam plates. He let the stewed tomatoes slide over the compartments to discolor the potato salad, and forked the barbecue on top of the gravied chicken. I got so heated watching Theo

disrespect food I dropped the bread into my cup where it fell apart like grits.

She never took her eyes off the trays. Never met Theo's hateful stare until he gave her change at the register. Then she looked right at him and said, "I see why you need a posse. Your dick don't work one on one?"

Theo shouted a nasty word to her back, but it fell flat with no audience but me. Long after the door slammed, he kept on repeating it. Typical. Young people can't waste words because they don't have too many.

When Maceo walked in, ready to take over before the after-church lines started forming, Theo was dribbling air balls in his dream court behind the register. As if he'd just been signed by Orlando and the Wheatie^s people too. Not a bad way to work off shame. Quick, anyway. Takes some people a lifetime.

This Junior girl—something about her puts me in mind of a local woman I know. Name of Celestial. When she was young, that is, though I doubt if Junior or any of these modern tramps could match her style. Mr. Cosey knew her too, although if you asked him he'd deny it. Not to me, though. Mr. Cosey never lied to me. No point in it. I knew his first wife ^{better than} almost as long as he did. I knew he adored her and I knew what she

began to think

8

thought of him after she found out where his money came from. Contrary to the tale he put in the street, the father he bragged about had earned his way as a Court informer. The one police could count on to know where a certain colored boy was hiding, who sold liquor, who had an eye on what property, what was said at church meetings, who was agitating to vote, collecting money for a school—all sorts of things Dixie law was interested in. Well paid, tipped off and favored for fifty-five years, Daniel Robert Cosey kept his evil gray eye on everybody. For the pure power of it, people supposed, because he had no joy, and the money he got for being at the beck and call of whitefolks in general and police in particular didn't bring comfort to him or his family. Whites called him Danny Boy. But to Negroes his initials, DRC, gave rise to the name he was known by: Dark. He worshiped paper money and coin, withheld decent shoes from his son and passable dresses from his wife and daughters, until he died leaving 114,000 resentful dollars behind. The son decided to enjoy his share. Not throw it away, exactly, but use it on things Dark cursed: good times, good clothes, good food, good music, dancing [^]til the sun came up in a hotel made for it all. The father was dreaded; the son was a ray of light. The cops paid off

the father; the son paid off the cops. What the father corrected, the son celebrated. The father a miser? The son an easy touch. Spendthrift didn't cut ice with Julia. Her family were farmers always being done out of acres by white landowners and spiteful Negroes. She froze when she learned how blood soaked her husband's money was. But she didn't have to feel ashamed too long. She gave birth ^{and waited a dozen years} ~~and didn't wait~~ to see if history skipped a generation or blossomed in her son.

^

I don't know if she was satisfied
or just lost interest because her
last whisper was, "Is that my daddy?"

114

109

Heed eased down into the froth, hanging on to the tub's rim with a practiced use of her thumbs. Once on her knees she could turn, sit and watch the lilac foam rise to her shoulders.

"This can't last," she thought. "I'm going to sink or slip and not have the wrist strength to save myself from drowning."

She hoped Junior's list of things she was willing to do—"You want your hair fixed, I'll fix it. You want a bath, I'll give you one"—was honest, not the eager lies of a job hunter. Heed decided to test her on the hairdressing before asking for help with her bath. July was the last time she had been able to hold the Clairol bottle and flood the silver seams at her scalp with "Deep Walnut." How, she wondered, how had it happened that she, who

had never picked a crab, handled crawfish or conch ended up with hands more deformed than those of the factory workers who had.[?] Ben Gay, aloe, Aspercream did little to help, and constant bathing was needed to stop the sea life she had never touched from touching her. So the first two tasks for Junior would be to color her hair and help in the bath—assuming she could get her attention away from Romen long enough.

She didn't need to know what Junior had said to him. Watching the boy's face from her bedroom window Heed thought the girl may as well have shouted. His grin, his eyes gone liquid. Soon the two of them would be coiled together right under her nose. In the garage under a quilt. No. Junior was bold. She would sneak him into her bed room, or some other room. Christine might not like it. Or maybe she wouldn't care. If she was feeling hateful or jealous, she would tear them up. If her slut history reared itself, she might enjoy it. Nobody knew which way the gray eyed cat would jump. On her ninth life, Lord willing. Heed thought it a good thing, this baby romance, a way to keep the girl on the premises once she found out there was no way to steal. It was enough that Christine was pilfering the household money to pay that lawyer. A little ^{back seat fumbling} puppy love might loosen up

Romen too. Yank him out of Vida's clamp. He was so tight around the mouth. "Yes, Mam. No Mam. No thank you. I have to be home by street lights." What had Vida and Sandler told him about her? About Christine? Whatever they'd said, it wasn't so awful they didn't want him to work there. Just don't get too familiar, Vida would say. But if Romen had reasons of his own to hang around, he could be more useful than he already was. Junior ^S had thief-smarts and would teach ^{him} Romen the strut he needed to manage Vida and stop treating everybody old enough to pay taxes as an enemy and old women, in particular, as fools.

Heed was used to that. Depended on it, in fact. Trusting that whoever answered her ad would need money, she'd been lucky that the first and only applicant was slick as well as greedy. They has postured for each other last night, and while Miss Viviane was busy casing the room, Heed was busy casing her; while she was busy taking control, Heed was letting her believe she already had it. Her insight was polished to blazing by a life time of being underestimated. Only Papa knew better, had picked her out of all he could have chosen. Knowing she had no schooling, no abilities, no proper raising, he chose her anyway while everybody else thought she could be run

He had followed her instructions
perfectly when she dictated the
Harbor Journal ad. And Junior's

over. But here she was and where were they? May in the ground, Christine penniless in the kitchen, ^{haunting} ~~Lean Up Beach~~ ~~spook~~. Where they belonged. She had fought them all, won, and was still winning. Her bank account was fatter than ever. Only Vida had done fairly well with her life and that was because of Sandler, who had never mocked or insulted Bill Cosey's wife. He had respected her even when his own wife did not. It was he who came to her asking if she would hire his grandson. Polite. Staying for iced coffee in her bedroom. Vida would never have done that. Not just because she disliked Heed, but also because she was afraid of Christine—as she should be. The knife flashed at Cosey's funeral was real and rumors of Christine's sloppy life included brawls, arrests, torching cars and prostitution. There was no telling what a mind trained to gutter life would think of.

It was impossible that no one knew of the fights between them when Christine returned to take up permanent residence. Most were by mouth: quarrels about whether the double C's engraved on the silver was one letter doubled or the pairing of Christine's initials. It could be either because Cosey had ordered the service after his first marriage but long before his second. They argued about twice [^] ~~stolen~~ rings and the real point of sticking

^{a dead man's}
them on fingers [^] ~~posed for death's rest~~ [Ⓢ]. But there were also bruising fights with hands, feet, teeth and soaring objects. For size and willingness Christine should have been the hands ⁻ [^] down winner. With weak hands and no size, Heed should have lost every match. But the results were even at the least. For Heed's speed more than compensated for Christine's strength, and her swift cunning—anticipating, protecting, warding off—exhausted her enemy. Once, perhaps twice, a year they punched, grabbed hair, wrestled, bit, slapped. Never drawing blood, never apologizing, never premeditating, yet drawn annually to pant through an episode that was as much rite as fight. Finally they stopped, moved into acid silence and invented other ways to underscore bitterness. Along with age, recognition that neither one could leave played a part in their un-negotiated cease fire. More on the mark was their unspoken realization that the fights did nothing other than allow them to hold one another. Their grievances were too serious for that. Like ^{friendship} ~~love~~, hatred needed more than physical intimacy; it wanted creativity ^{hard work} ~~and locks~~ to sustain itself. The first fight, ^{interrupted} ~~cancelled~~ in 1971, signaled the will to claw one another. It began when Christine stole from Heed's desk the jewelry Papa had won in a card game—a paper bag

of engagement rings he agreed to try to fence for a drummer with a police record. Rings Christine pretended she wanted to place in Papa's hands in his coffin. Four years later she pushed her way into Heed's house holding a shopping bag with fingers loaded with that collection of other women's hopes; demanding rights and space to take care of her sick mother—the same mother she had been laughing at for years when she took the trouble to think about her at all. Immediately the postponed fight resumed and remained intermittent for a decade. When they searched for more interesting means of causing pain, they had to rely on personal information, things they remembered from childhood. Each thought she was in charge. Christine because she was strappingly healthy, could drive, go about and run the house. Heed, however, knew she was still in charge, still winning, not only because she had the money, but because she was what everybody but Papa assumed she was not: smart. Smarter than the petted one, the spoiled one mis-educated in private school, stupid about men, unequipped for real work and too lazy to do it anyway; a parasite feeding off men until they dumped her and sent her home to gnaw the hand she ought to be licking.

Christine

Heed was sure she knew Christine better than ~~she~~ knew herself. And not withstanding an acquaintance ^{~ship} merely twelve hours old, she knew Junior too, and now she knew what the ~~soon to be lovers~~ ^{sex-pot was} were thinking: how to fool an arthritic old woman, how to use her to satisfy and hide ^{her} ~~their~~ cravings. Heed knew all about that too, ~~About~~ cravings sharp enough to bring tears of rage to grown [^] up eyes. Like May's when she learned who her father-in-law would marry. And young eyes. Like Christine's when she knew her best friend was the chosen one. Both of them, mother and daughter, went wild just thinking about his choice of an Up Beach girl for his bride. A girl without a night [^] gown or bathing suit. Who had never used two pieces of flatware to eat. Never knew food to be separated in special plates. Who slept on the floor and bathed on Saturday in a washtub full of the murky water left by her sisters. Who might never get rid of the ~~C~~annery fish smell. Whose family salvaged newsprint not for reading but for the privy. Who could not form a correct sentence; who knew some block letters but not script. Under those circumstances, she had to be braced every minute of the day. Papa protected her, but he wasn't around all the time or in every place where people could mess with her, because May and

Christine were not the only ones, as a particular afternoon proved. With the necessary prowess of the semi-literate, Heed had a flawless memory, and like most non-readers, she was highly numerate. She remembered not only how many gulls had come to feed off a jelly fish but the patterns of their flight when disturbed. Money she grasped completely. In addition, she had hearing as sharp and powerful as the blind.

The afternoon sizzled. She sat in the gazebo eating a light lunch. Green salad, iced water. Thirty yards away, a group of women lolled in the shade of the porch drinking rum punch. Two were actresses, one of whom had auditioned for "Anna Lucasta"; two were singers; the other one studied with Katherine Dunham. Their conversation wasn't loud, but Heed caught every word of it.

How could he marry her? Protection. From what? Other women. I don't think so. Does he play around? Probably. Are you crazy, sure he does. She's not bad looking. Good figure. Way past good; she could be in the Cotton Club. Except for her color. And she'd have to smile some of the time. Needs to do something with her hair. Tell me about it. So, why, why'd he pick her? Beats me. She's hard to be around. Hard how? I

don't know; she's sort of physical. (Long laughter.) Meaning? You know, jungle-y. (Choking laughter).

While they talked, four rivulets coursed down the side of Heed's glass, breaking paths through moisture. Pimento eyes bulged in their olive sockets. Lying on a ring of onion, a tomato slice exposed its seedy smile, one she remembers to this moment.

Papa insisted she learn how to run the hotel and she did learn, in spite of local sniggering, and May's and Christine's sabotage. They smoldered in an outrage kept lit by the radiance the couple brought with them to breakfast and their anticipatory glow at supper. Thoughts of Papa and her together in bed drove the two of them to more and newer meanness. The war had already been declared on the wedding gown Bill Cosey had ordered from Texas. Expensive, beautiful, it was way too big. L pinned it for alteration, but the gown could not be found until the afternoon of the ceremony when it was too late. L folded the cuffs, safety-pinned the hem, still it took a lot for Heed to grin her way down the stairs into the hotel lobby and through the ceremony. A ceremony unobserved by Heed's own family because, other than Solitude and Righteous Morning, none of her family

was allowed to attend. The given excuse was that they were still mourning the deaths of Joy and Welcome. The real reason was May, who took pains to snub the whole Johnson brood. She even objected to Bill Cosey's paying for the funerals—muttering that the boys had no business swimming in “their” part of the ocean. Only Heed's younger sisters were permitted to squeeze into the room and listen to “Oh, Promise Me.” From that spitefulness May and her daughter moved on to relentless criticism of the young bride: her speech, hygiene, table manners and thousands of things Heed didn't know. What “endorse a check” meant; how to dress a bed; how to dispose of sanitary napkins; how to set a table; how to estimate supplies. She could have learned to read script if that deficiency had not been a running joke. L, who liked her in those days, taught her a lot and saved the life Papa had given her and her alone. She had not thought much about it at the time, but she took for granted that her husband would be generous with her. He had already paid for her brothers' funerals; gave her mother a present and put a grateful smile on her father's face. She had no idea that so many other people—especially her own family—waited to take advantage of him. Her kinfolk so overreached, they forced the break that

NO

She could never have managed
to co-pilot if L had not been
the navigator.

She could never have navigated
those ^{treacherous} waters if L hadn't been
the current.

was never repaired. As soon as the wedding was over, they crept up on her. Hinting—"I heard they're hiring but you need work shoes to get taken..." "Did you see that dress Lola gave her mama?..." Begging—"Ask him if he can lend me a little till..." "You know I'm short since..." "I'll pay you all back as soon as..." Demanding—"Bring me some a that...." "Is this all?" "You don't need that, so you?" By the time they were told to stay off ~~H~~Hotel property, Heed was too ashamed to object. Even Righteous and Solitude began to wonder about her loyalty. Recriminations and accusations peppered her visits to Up Beach and when she told Papa why her eyes were puffy, she was relieved by his firm response. All she needed was him, which was lucky because he was all she had.

Up to her neck in lilac bubbles, Heed rested her head on the tub's curve of porcelain. Stretching, she manipulated the chain with her toe to pull out the stopper then waited until the water drained. If she slipped and knocked her [^]self out, at least she had a chance of coming to without drowning.

"This is dangerous," she thought, climbing out of the tub. "I can't do it no more."

Wrapped in a towel, resting in Papa's red barber's chair, she decided to ask ~~no~~ order ~~Junior~~ to help her right away in and out of the tub. It was a necessary sacrifice she did not look forward to. Dependency, awkwardness while exposing her poor soft nakedness to the judging glance of a firm young girl did not matter. What troubled Heed, had made her hesitate, was the loss of skin memory, the body's recollection of ^{ecstasy} ~~love~~. Of her wedding night, for instance, submerged in water in his arms. Creeping away from the uncomfortable reception, out the back door into the dark, rushing in tuxedo and way too big bridal gown across sea grass to powdery sand. Undressing. No penetration. No blood. No eeks of pain or discomfort. Just this man stroking, nursing, bathing her. She arched. He stood behind her, placed his hands behind her knees and opened her legs to the surf. Skin might forget that in the company of a sassy girl whose flesh was accumulating its own sexual memories like tattoos. The latest of which, apparently, would be Romen's mark. Where would it go? What would it look like? Junior probably had so many it would be hard to find space. They would merge finally into a lacy net covering her whole body, making indistinguishable one image from another; one ^{boy} ~~lover~~ from another.

Heed's ^{SWAN}love story was dyed in colors restored to their original clarity in bubbly water. She would have to figure out a way to prevent Junior's presence from erasing what her skin knew first in sea foam.

Once a little girl wandered too far—down to big water and along its edge where waves skidded and mud turned into clean sand. Ocean spray dampened the man's undershirt she wore. There on a red blanket another little girl with white ribbons in her hair sat eating ice cream. The water was very blue. Beyond a crowd of people laughed. "Hi, want some?" asked the girl, holding out a spoon.

They ate ice cream with peaches in it until a smiling woman came and said "Go away now. This is private."

Later, making foot prints in the mud, she heard the ice cream girl call "Wait! Wait!"

The kitchen was big and shiny, full of grown people busy cooking, talking, banging pots. The one who had said "Go away," smiled even more and the ice cream girl was her friend.

Heed put on a fresh night ^{gown} and an old fashioned satin robe. At

a dressing table she studied her face in the mirror.

"Go away?" she asked her reflection. "Wait?" How could she do both? They tried to chase her from white sand back to mud, to stop her with a hidden wedding gown, but in time the one who shouted "Wait!" was gone and the one ^{who} said "Go away" was shunned. Spoiled silly by the wealth of an open-handed man, neither ^{had} learned, or learned too late. Even now she knew ^{that} any interested folk would think her life was that of an idle old lady reduced to pouring over papers, listening to the radio and bathing three times a day. They didn't understand that winning ^{took} ~~was nine parts~~ patience, ~~Quiet determination,~~ like not acknowledging a woman who could summon your husband anytime she wanted to. Whose name he kept secret even in his sleep. "Oh girl. Oh girl." Let him moan; let him "go fishing" without tackle or bait. There ^{were} ~~was always time; always~~ remedies. But now ~~with stakes still high; cards being dealt so fast, there was less time for~~ remedy.

Christine knew it and had suddenly driven off to consult with her lawyer. One of those so-called new professional black women with twenty years of learning that Christine hoped could outwit a woman who had

bested an entire town: defeated her daughter-in-law, run Christine off and raised her self above all those conniving folks begging favors who, no matter what she did, still threw up behind her back. For as long as she could remember, Heed believed stomachs turned in her company. Truth be told, Papa was the only person who did not make her feel that way. She was safe with him no matter what he muttered in his sleep. And there was no question about what he meant her to have when he died. Will or none, nobody would ever believe he preferred ^{his granddaughter} Christine, whom he hadn't seen since 1947, to his own wife. Unless it was one of those lawyer-type black girls, full of themselves, despising women of Heed's generation who had more business sense in their tooth fillings than those educated half-wits would ever know.

Since there was nothing else, just notes for a will that L found, scribble on a menu was legal, provided no other, later and contradictory writing could be found. Provided. Provided. Suppose, however, later writing, supporting, clarifying the first was found. Not a real notarized will--there was none, and if there ever was one, crazy May had hidden it, as she had the deed--but another menu from a year after the 1958 one, one that

actually identified the deceased's "sweet Cosey child" by name: Heed Cosey. If Papa jotted down his wishes in 1958 and again on whatever subsequent menu Heed could find, no judge would favor Christine's appeal.

It was not a new thought. Heed had mused about such a miracle for a very long time; since 1975 when Christine had pushed her way into the house flashing diamonds and claiming it as hers. What was new, recent, was the jolt to Heed's memory last summer. Lotioning her hands, trying to flex her fingers, move them apart, examining the familiar scar tissue on the back of her hand, Heed re-visited the scene of the accident. Muggy kitchen, work table stacked with cartons. Electric knife, Sunbeam mixer, General Electric toaster oven—all brand new. L wordlessly refusing to open them, let alone use the equipment they contained. 1964? 1965? Heed is arguing with L. May enters the kitchen with her own cardboard box, wearing that stupid army hat. She is carrying an institutional size carton that once held boxes of Rinso. She is frantic with worry that the Hotel and everybody in it are in immediate danger. That city Blacks have already invaded Up Beach, carrying lighter fluid, matches, Molotov cocktails;

shouting, urging the locals to burn Cosey's Hotel and Resort to the ground and put the Uncle Toms, the sheriff's pal, the race traitor out of business. Papa said the protesters had no idea of what real betrayal was; that May should have married his father not his son. Without a dot of proof, a hint of attack, threat or even disrespect except the mold growing in her own mind, May was beyond discussion, assigning herself the part of the Resort's sole protector.

Once she had been merely another of the loud defenders of colored owned businesses, the benefits of separate schools, hospitals with Negro wards and doctors, colored[^] owned banks and the proud professions designed to service the race. Then she discovered that her convictions were no longer old-time racial up-lift, but separatist, "nationalistic." Not sweet Booker T., but radical Malcolm X. In confusion she began to stutter, contradict herself. She forced agreement from the like[^] minded and quarreled endlessly with those who began to wonder about dancing by the sea while children blew apart in Sunday School; about holding up property laws while neighborhoods fell in flames. As the Movement swelled and funerals, marches and riots was all the news there was, May, prophesying

mass executions, cut herself off from normal people. Even guests who agreed began to avoid her and her warnings of doom. She saw rebellion in the waiters; weapons in the hands of the yard help. A bass player was the first to publically shame her. "Aw, woman. Shut the fuck up!" It was not said to her face, but to her back and loud enough to be heard. Other guests became equally blatant, or just got up and left when she entered their company.

Eventually May quieted, but she never changed her mind. She simply went about re-moving things, hiding them from the kerosene fires she knew were about to be lit any day now. From grenades lobbed and land mines buried in sand. Her reach was both wide and precise. She patrolled the beach and set booby-traps behind her bedroom door. She hid legal documents and safety pins. As early as 1955, when a teenager's bashed up body proved how seriously whites took sass, and sensing disorder when word of an Alabama boycott spread, May recognized one fortress—the Hotel—and buried its deed in the sand. Ten years later the hotel's clientele, short tempered and loud, treated her with the courtesy you'd give a stump. And when waves of Blacks crashed through quiet neighborhoods as well as

business districts, she added the Monarch Street house to her care. Controlling nothing in either place, she went underground, locking away, storing up. Money and silverware nestled in sacks of Uncle Ben's rice; fine table linen hid toilet paper and toothpaste; tree holes were stuffed with emergency underwear; photographs, keepsakes, mementoes, junk she bagged, boxed and squirreled away.

Panting, she comes into the hotel kitchen carrying her loot while Heed argues about the waste L is causing by her refusal to open the cartons, use the equipment, and thereby produce more meals faster. L never looks up, just keeps dredging chicken parts in egg batter then flour. An arc of hot fat escapes the fryer, splashes Heed's hand.

Until recently that was all she remembered of the scene—the burn. Thirty years later, lotioning her hands, she remembered more. Before the pop of hot fat. Stopping May, checking the Rinso box, seeing useless packets of last New Year's cocktail napkins, swizzle sticks, paper hats and a stack of menus. Hearing her say, "I have to put these away." That afternoon the new equipment disappeared, to be found later in the attic—L's final, wordless comment. Now Heed was convinced that May's particular

box of junk was still there—in the attic. Fifty menus must have been in it. Prepared weekly, daily, or monthly, depending on L's whims, each menu had a date signaling the freshness of the food, its home-cooked accuracy. If the fat hit her hand in 1964 or 5, when May, reacting in terror to Mississippi or Watts, had to be followed to retrieve needed items, then the menus she was storing were prepared seven years later than the 1958 one accepted as Bill Cosey's only will and testament. There would be a lot of un-tampered menus in that box. Only one was needed. That, a larcenous heart and a young, steady hand that could write script.

Good old May. Years of cunning, decades of crazy—both equaled the simplemindedness that might just save the day. If she were alive it would kill her. Before her real death she was already a minstrel show spook, floating through the rooms, flapping over the grounds, hiding behind doors until it was safe to bury evidence of a life the Revolution wanted to deprive her of. Yet she might rest easily now, since when she died in 1976, her beloved death penalty was back in style and she had outlived the Revolution. Her ghost though, helmeted and ~~packing~~ ^{holstered}, was alive and gaining strength.

An orange-scented road to Harbor was what Christine expected, because three times the aroma had accompanied her escapes. The first was on foot, the second by bus and each time the orange trees lining the road marked her flight with a light citric perfume. More than familiar, the road formed the structure of her dreamlife. From silly to frightening every memorable dream she had took place on or near Route 12, and if not visible, the road lurked just beyond the dreaming ready to assist a scarey one, or provide the setting for the incoherent happiness of a sweetdream. Now, ~~pressing~~ ^{As she pressed} the gas pedal, her haste certainly had the feel of a nightmare --panting urgency in stationary time--but freezing weather had killed the

young fruit along with ~~their~~^{its} fragrance and Christine was keenly aware of the absence. She rolled down then up then down again the window.

Romen's version of washing the car did not include opening its doors, so the Oldsmobile sparkled on the outside while its interior smelled like a holding cell. She once fought a better class of car than this because of an odor. Tried to kill it and everything it stood for, but trying mostly to kill the White Shoulders stinging her sinuses and clotting her tongue. The owner, Dr. Rio, never saw the damage because his new girl friend had the car towed away before the sight of it could break ~~her~~^{his} ~~lover's~~ heart. So Christine's hammer swings against the windshield, the razor cuts through plump leather; the ribbons of tape (including and especially Al Greene's "For the Good Times") that she draped over the dash board and steering wheel he only heard about, never saw. And that hurt as much as his dismissal had. Killing a Cadillac was never easy but doing it in bright day light in the frenzy of another woman's cologne was an accomplishment that deserved serious witnessing by the person for whom it was meant. Dr. Rio was spared, according to Christine's landlady, by his new woman. A mistake Manila had said. The new woman should have let him learn the

lesson—observe the warning of what a displaced woman could do. If he had been allowed to see the result of getting rid of one woman, it might help the new one convert her own rental in his arms to a longer lease.

Regrets over her mis-managed life faded in the glow of Dr. Rio's memory as did the embarrassment of her battle with his beloved Cadillac. In spite of the shame-faced end of their affair, the three years with him--well, near him; he was mightily un-divorceable—were ^{wonderful} ~~the best~~. She had seen movies about the misery of kept women, how they died in the end or had suffering illegitimate babies who died also. Some times the women were saddened by guilt and cried on the betrayed wife's lap. Yet twenty years after she'd been replaced by fresher White Shoulders, Christine still insisted her kept woman years were the best. When she met Dr. Rio her forty-one years to his sixty made him an "older" man. Now, in her mid-sixties, the word meant nothing. He was sure to be dead by now or propped up in bed paying some teenage welfare mother a hundred dollars to nibble his toes while a day nurse monitored his oxygen flow. It was a scene she had to work at because the last sight she'd had of him was as seductive as the first. An elegant dresser, successful gp, passionate, playful. Her last

good chance for happiness wrecked by the second oldest enemy in the world: ~~Another Woman~~. Manila's girls said Dr. Rio gave each new ^{mistress} ~~love~~ a gift of that same cologne. Christine had thought it was unique—a private gesture from a thoughtful ^{suitor} ~~lover~~. He preferred it; she learned to. Had she stayed longer at Manila's or visited her whores once in a while, she would have discovered at once Dr. Rio's particular pattern of bull shit: he fell ^{head over heels,} ~~in~~ ^{expensive} ~~love~~, seduced, offered his ~~lovely~~ apartment on Trelaine Avenue and sent Dracena and White Shoulders on the day the replacement moved in. Unlike roses or other cut flowers, Dracena was meant to speak legitimacy, permanence. The White Shoulders—who knew? Maybe he read it somewhere, in a men's magazine invented to show men the difference between suave and a shampoo. Some creaky, unhip glossy for teenagers disguised as men that catalogued seduction techniques as if any technique at all was needed when a woman decided on a man. He could have sent a bottle of Clorox and a dead Christmas tree—she would have done whatever he wanted for what he made available. Complete freedom, total care, reliable ^{sex} ~~love-making~~, reckless gifts. Trips, short and secret lest his wife find out, parties, edginess and a satisfactory place in the pecking order of a

certain middle-class Black society that understood itself to swing, if the professional credentials and money were right.

Route 12 was empty, distracting Christine from the urgency of her mission ^{with} ~~to~~ scattered recollections of the past. How abrupt the expulsion from [^]first class cabins on romantic cruises to being head-pressed into a patrol car; from a coveted table at an NMA banquet to rocking between her own elbows on a hooker's mattress aired daily to rid it of the previous visitors' stench. When she went back to Manila's, dependant on her immediate but short-lived generosity, Christine poured the remains of her own White Shoulders down the toilet and packed her shoes, pride, halter top, brassiere and pedal pushers into a shopping bag. Everything but the diamonds and her silver spoon. Those she zipped into her purse along with Manila's loan of fifty dollars. Manila's girls had been congenial most of the time; other times not. But they so enjoyed their hearts of gold—gold they had slipped from wallets, or inveigled with mild forms of blackmail—they were staunchly optimistic. They told Christine not to worry, [,] Some woman was bound to de-dick him one day, and besides, she was still a fox, there were lots of players and every good bye ain't gone. Christine

was not cheered. Thrown out of the apartment after she had refused for weeks to leave quietly; prevented from taking her furs, suede coat, leather pants, linen suits, the St. Laurent shoes—not even her diaphragm: this goodbye was final. The four Samsonite suitcases she had left home with in 1947 held all she thought she would ever need. In 1975 the Wal-Mart shopping bag she returned with contained all she owned. Considering how much practice she had had, her exits from Silk should not have become more and more pitiful. The first one as a thirteen year old, the result of a temper tantrum, failed in eight hours; the second one at seventeen, a run for her life, was equally disastrous. Both escapes were fed by malice, but the third and last, in 1971, was a calm attempt to avert the slaughter she had in mind. Leaving other places: Harbor, Jackson, Grafenwoehr, Tampa, Waycross, Boston, Chattanooga—or any of the towns that once beckoned¹ was easy until Dr. Rio had her forcibly evicted for no good reason she could think of except a wish for fresh Dracena or a younger model for the furs he passed along from one mistress to another. Following days of reflection at Manila's (named for a father's heroic exploits), Christine discovered a way to convert a return to Silk in shame

and on borrowed money into an act of filial responsibility, taking care of her ailing mother, and a noble battle for justice—her lawful share of the Cosey estate.

She remembered the bus ride back, punctured by drifts of sleep flavored with sea salt. With one explosive exception (during which fury blinded her) it was her first glimpse of Silk in twenty-eight years. Neat houses stood on streets named for heroes and the trees destroyed to build them. Maceo's was still on Gladiator across from Lamb of God, holding its own against a new hamburger place on Prince Arthur called Patty's. Then home: a familiar place that when you left kept changing behind your back. The creamy oil painting you carried in your head turned into house paint. Vibrant, magical neighbors became misty outlines of themselves. The house nailed down in your dreams and nightmares comes undone, Not sparkling but shabby, yet even more desirable because what had happened to it had happened to you. The house had not shrunk; you had. The windows were not askew—you were. Which is to say it was more yours than ever.

Heed's look, cold and long, had been anything but inviting, so Christine just pushed past her through the door. With very few words they

came to an agreement of sorts, because May was hopeless, the place filthy, Heed's arthritis was disabling her hands and because nobody in town could stand them. So the one who had attended private school kept house while the one who could barely read ruled it. The one who had been sold by a man battled the one who had been bought by one. The level of desperation it took to force her way in was high, for she was returning to a house whose owner was willing to burn ^{it} down just to keep her out. Had once, in fact, set fire to Christine's bed for precisely that purpose. So this time, for safety, she settled in the little apartment next to the kitchen. Some relief surfaced when she saw Heed's useless hands, but knowing what the woman was capable of still caused her heart to beat raggedly in Heed's presence. No one was slyer or more vindictive. So the door between the kitchen and Christine's rooms had a hidden key and a very strong lock.

Christine braked for a turtle crossing the road but, swerving right to avoid it, she drove over a second one trailing the first. She stopped and looked in the rear view mirrors—left one, right one and overhead— for a sign of life or death: legs pleading skyward for help or a cracked immobile shell. Her hands were shaking. Seeing nothing, she left the driver's seat

and ran back down the road. The pavement was blank, the orange trees still. No turtle anywhere. Had she imagined it, the second turtle? The one left behind, Miss Second Best, crushed by a tire gone off track, swerving to save its preferred sister? Scanning the road, she did not wonder what the matter was; did not ask herself why her heart was sitting up for a turtle creeping along Route 12. She saw a movement on the south side of the road where the first turtle had been heading. Slowly she approached and was relieved to see two shine-y green shells edging toward the trees. The wheels had missed Miss Second Best and while the driver was shuddering in the car, she had caught up to the faster one. Transfixed, Christine watched the pair disappear, returning to her car only when another slowed behind it. As she left the verge, the driver smiled, "Ain't you got no toilet at home?"

"Go around, motherfucker!"

He gave her a thick finger and pulled away.

The lawyer might be surprised—Christine had no appointment—but would see her anyway. Each time she forced herself into the office, Christine had been accommodated. Her slide from spoiled girl child to

tarnished homelessness had been neither slow nor hidden. Everybody knew. There was no homecoming for her in elegant auto driven by successful husband. No degree-in-hand-with-happy-family-in-tow return. Certainly no fascinating stories about the difficulty of running one's own business or the limitations placed on one's time by demanding executives, clients, patients, agents or trainers. In short, no hometown sweep full of hints of personal fulfillment and veiled condescension. She was a flop. Disreputable. But she was also a Cosey, and in Harbor the name still lifted eyelids. William Cosey, one time owner of many houses, a hotel resort, two boats and a bank-full of gossiped about, legendary cash, always interested people but he had excited the county to fever when they learned he had left no will. Just doodles on a 1958 menu outlining his whiskey-driven desires. Which turned out to be 1. "Julia II" to Dr. Ralph. 2. Montenegro Coronas to Chief Silk. 3. the Hotel to Billy's Boy's wife. 4. the Monarch Street house and "whatever nickels are left" to "my sweet Cosey child." 5. His '55 convertible to L. 6. His stick pins to Meal Daddy, and on and on down to his record collection to Dumb Tommy "the best blues guitar player on God's earth." Feeling good, no doubt, from Wild Turkey

straight, he had sat down one night with some booze-y friends and scrawled among side orders and the day's specials, appetizers, main courses and desserts the distribution of his wealth to those ^{who pleased him most.} ~~he thought he loved.~~

Following his death sixteen years later a few booze-y friends were located and verified the event, the hand writing and the clarity of the mind that seemed to have had no further thoughts on the matter. Questions flared like snake cowl: Why was he giving Dr. Ralph his newest boat? What Coronas? Chief Buddy's been dead for years, so does his son get them? Boss Silk don't smoke and who is Meal Daddy? The lead singer of The Purple Tones, said Heed. No, the manager of the Fifth Street ^{Strutters} ~~Lovers~~, said May, but he's in prison, can inmates receive bequests? They're just records, fool, he didn't identify you by name, so what? he didn't mention you at all! and why give a convertible to somebody who can't drive you don't need to drive a car to sell it this ain't a will it's a comic book! They focused on stick pins, cigars and the current value of old 78's--never asking the central question, Who was "my sweet Cosey child"? Heed's claim was strong--especially since she called her husband Papa. Yet, since biologically speaking, Christine was the only "child" left, her claim of blood was equal

to Heed's claim as widow. Or so she and May thought. But years of absence, no history of working at the hotel, except for one summer as a minor, weakened Christine's position. With a certain amusement, the court examined the greasy menu, lingering lazily perhaps over the pineapple - C flavored slaw and Fat's Mean Chili, listened to three lawyers, and tentatively (until further evidence could be provided) judged Heed the "sweet Cosey child" of a drunken man's vocabulary.

Gwendolyn East, Attorney at Law, however, thought otherwise, and recently she'd told Christine grounds for reversal on appeal were promising. In any case, she said there was room for review, even if no mitigating evidence was found. For years Christine had searched for such evidence: the hotel, the house, and found nothing (except rubbishy traces of May's lunacy). If there was anything else—a real, typed up intelligible will--it would be in one of Heed's many locked desks behind her bedroom door also locked nightly against "intruders." Now the matter was urgent. No more waiting for the other to die or, at a minimum, suffer a debilitating stroke. Now a third element was in the mix. Heed had hired a girl. To help write her memoirs, Junior Viviane had said that morning at breakfast.

Christine sputtered her coffee at the thought of the word "write" connected with some one who had gone to school off and on for less than five years. Scooping grapefruit sections, Junior had grinned while pronouncing "memoirs" just the way illiterate Heed would have. "Of her family," said Junior. What family, Christine wondered. That nest of beach rats who bathed in a barrel and slept in their clothes? Or is she claiming Cosey blood along with Cosey land?

After mulling over what the girl had told her, Christine had retreated to her apartment—two rooms and bath annexed to the kitchen, servant quarters where L used to stay. Unlike the memory-and-junk-jammed rest of the house, the uncluttered quiet there was soothing. Except for pots of plants rescued from violent weather, the apartment looked much the same as it had some fifty years ago when she hid there under L's bed. Misting begonia leaves, Christine found herself unable to come to a conclusion for a new line of action, so she decided to consult her lawyer. She waited until Romen was due and Junior out of sight on the third floor. Earlier, at breakfast, dressed in clothes Heed must have ^{loaned} ~~loan~~ her (a red suit not seen in public since the Korean War), Junior had looked like a Sunday migrant.

Except for the boots, last night's leather was gone, as was the street life smell she had brought into the house. When Christine saw Romen puttering around in the sunshine, inspecting ice damage done to the shrubs, she called him to help her with the garage door still stuck in ice, then told him to wash the car. When he was done, she drove off, picking up speed as quickly as she could to get to Gwendolyn East before the lawyer's office closed.

Christine's entanglements with the law were varied enough to convince her that Gwendolyn was not to be trusted. The lawyer may know the courts, but she didn't know anything about police—the help or the damage they could do long before you saw a lawyer. The police who ^{had} led her away from the ^{Mutilated} Cadillac were, like Chief Buddy Silk, gentle, respectful, as though her violence was not merely understandable but justified. They handled her like a woman who had assaulted a child molester rather than a car. Her hands were cuffed in front, not behind her back—and loosely. As she sat in the patrol car, the sergeant offered her a lit cigarette and removed a shard of head light glass from her hair. Neither officer pinched her nipples or suggested what a blow job could do for racial justice. The

one time she had been in a killing frame of mind with a hammer instead of a switchblade in her hand, they treated her like a white woman. During four previous arrests—for incendiary acts, inciting mayhem, obstructing traffic and resisting arrest-- she had nothing lethal in her hand and was treated like sewage.

serious affair

Come to think of it, every ~~love~~ she had led straight to jail. First Ernie Holder, whom she married at seventeen, got them both arrested at an illegal social club. Then Fruit, whose pamphlets she passed out and with whom she had lived the longest, got her thirty days, no suspension, for inciting mayhem. Other ~~loves~~ ^{*affairs*} had overflowed and ended in dramas the law had precise names for: cursing meant assaulting an officer; yanking your arms when cuffed meant resisting arrest; throwing a cigarette too close to a police car meant conspiracy to commit arson; running across the street to get out of the way of mounted police meant obstructing traffic. Finally, Dr. Rio. A Cadillac. A hammer. A gentle, almost reluctant, arrest. After an hour's wait, no charges pressed, no write-up or interview, they gave her back the shopping bag and let her go.

Go where, she wondered, slinking down the street. She had been

man-handled out of her (his) apartment after a two-minute supervised reprieve to get her purse. No clothing can leave the premises, they said, but she was allowed to take some underwear and her cosmetics bag which, unknown to the lawyer-paid thugs, included a spoon and twelve diamond rings. Aside from the rings she would die rather than pawn, she had a recently cancelled MasterCard and seven dollars plus change. She was as lonely as a twelve-year old watching waves suck away her sand castle. None of her close friends would risk Dr. Rio's displeasure; the not so close ones were chuckling over her fall. So she walked to Manila's and persuaded her to take her in. For just a few days. For free. It was a ^{risky even} ~~serious~~ almost impudent request since Manila did not run a whore house, as certain sanctimonious people described her home. She simply rented rooms to needy women. The forlorn, the abandoned, those in transit. That these women had regular visitors or remained in transit for years was not Manila's concern.

Christine had all of these requisites in 1947. The bus driver who directed her to 187 Second Street, "right near the glass factory, look for a pink door," either misunderstood or understood completely. She had asked

him if he knew of a rooming house and he had given her Manila's address.

~~In spite~~ ^{Despite} of her white gloves, little beanie hat, quiet pearls and a flawless peter pan collar, the desperation, if not the costume, of Manila's girls was equal to her own. When she stepped out of the taxi it was 9:30 in the morning. The house seemed ideal. Quiet. Neat. Manila smiled at the four suitcases and said "Come on in." She explained the rates, the house rules and the policy on visitors. It was lunch time before Christine figured out that the visitors were clientele.

She was surprised by how faint her shock. Her plan was to find secretarial work or, even better, some high-paying post-war work in a factory. Fresh from an overdue sixteenth birthday party and graduation from Maple Valley, she had landed in a place her mother would have called "a stinking brothel" (as in "Is he going to turn this place into a...."). Christine had laughed. Nervously. This is Celestial ^{territory} ground, she thought, remembering a scar faced woman on the beach. The girls sauntered through the dining room to the living room, where Christine sat and, scanning her clothes, spoke among themselves but not to her. It reminded her of her reception at Maple Valley: the cool but thorough examination; the

tentative, smoothly hostile questions. When a few of Manila's girls did engage her—"Where you from? Cute hat. Sharp shoes too, where'd you get em? Pretty hair"—the similarity increased. The youngest ones talked about their looks, their ^{boyfriends} ~~loves~~; the older ones gave bitter advice about both. As in Maple Valley every one had a role and a matron ruled the stage. She hadn't escaped from anything. Maple Valley, Cosey's Hotel, Manila's whorehouse—all three floated in sexual tension and resentment; all three insisted on confinement; in all three status was money. And all were organized around the pressing needs of men. Christine's second escape, initiated by a home life turned dangerous, was fed by a dream of privacy, of independence. She wanted to make the rules, choose her friends, earn and control her own money. For those reasons alone she believed she would never have stayed at Manila's, but she will never know because, being a colored girl in the nineteen forties with an education that suited her for nothing but wifedom, it was easy as pie for Ernie Holder to claim her that very night. So long independence; so long privacy. He took her out of there into an organization with the least privacy, the most rules and the fewest choices: the biggest, totally male entity in the world.

PFC Ernest Holder had come to Manila's looking to buy some fun and found instead a ~~lovely~~^{beautiful} girl in a navy suit and pearls reading Life Magazine on a sofa. Christine accepted his invitation to dinner. By dessert they had plans. ~~Love~~^{Desire} so instant it felt like fate. As ~~marriages~~^{couplings} go, it had its moments. ~~As love goes~~^{marriages go}, it was ridiculous.

Christine parked and pulled down the visor's mirror to see if she was presentable. It was a move she was not accustomed to, but one she made because of an encounter on her first visit to Gwendolyn East's office. About to enter the building, she had felt a tap on her shoulder. A woman in a baseball cap and track suit grinned up at her.

"Ain't you Christine Cosey?"

"I am."

"I thought that was you. I used to work at Cosey's. Way, way back."

"Is that so?"

"I remember you. Best legs on the beach. My, you used to be so cute. Your skin, your hair. I see you still got those eyes, though. Lord, you was one pretty thing. You don't mind me saying that, do you"?

"Of course not," said Christine. "Ugly women know everything about beauty. They have to."

She didn't look back to see if the woman spit or laughed. Yet on each subsequent visit to the lawyer's office, she couldn't stop herself checking the mirror. The "pretty hair" needed a cut and a style—any style. The skin was still unlined, but "those eyes," looking out never inward, seem to belong to somebody else.

Gwendolyn East was not pleased. The whole point of an office was scheduled appointments. Christine's entrance had been like a break-in.

"We have to move," said Christine, pulling the chair closer to the desk. "Something's going on."

"I beg your pardon?" Gwendolyn asked.

"This will business. She has to be stopped."

Gwendolyn decided that encouraging this rough client was not worth the so far non-forthcoming settlement fee. "Listen, Christine. I support you, you know that, and a judge might also. But you are living there, rent free, no expenses. The fact is it could be said that Mrs. Cosey is taking care of

you when she is under no obligation to do so. And the benefit of being awarded the property is, in a way, already yours in a manner of speaking. Better, maybe."

"What are you saying? She could put me out on the street any day if she wants to."

"I know," Gwendolyn replied, "but in twenty years she hasn't. What do you make of that?"

"Slavery is what I make of it."

"Come on, Christine." Gwendolyn frowned. "You're not in a rest home or on welfare..."

"Welfare? Welfare!" Christine whispered the word at first then shouted it. "Look. If she dies who gets the house?"

"Whoever she designates."

"Like a brother or a nephew or a cousin or a hospital, right?"

"Whoever."

"Not necessarily to me, right?"

"Only if she wills it."

"No point in killing her then?"

"Christine. You are too funny."

"You listen to me. She's just now hired somebody. A girl. A young girl. She doesn't need me anymore."

"Well," Gwendolyn was thoughtful. "Do you think she would agree to a kind of lease agreement? Something that guarantees you a place there for life and support at some level in return for...services?"

Christine threw her head back and scanned the ceiling as though searching for a new language to make herself understood. What to say to this lawyer woman shouldn't be all that hard. After all, Miss East had Up Beach history, was the granddaughter of a Cannery girl who ^{suffered} died young of a stroke. Slowly she tapped her middle finger on the lawyer's desk to stress certain words. "I am the last, the only blood relative of William Cosey. For free I have taken care of his house and his widow for twenty years. I have cooked, cleaned, washed her underwear, laundered her sheets, done the shopping..."

"I know."

"You don't know! You don't! She is replacing me."

"Wait now."

"She is! That's been her whole life, don't you get it? Replacing me, getting rid of me. I'm always last; all the time the one being told to go, get out."

"Christine, please."

"This is my place. I had my sixteenth birthday party in that house. When I was away at school it was my address. It's where I belong and nobody is going to wave some liquor [^]splashed menu at me and put me out of it!"

"But you were away from the property for years..."

"Fuck you! If you don't know the difference between property and a home you need to be kicked in the face, you stupid, you dumb, you Cannery trash! You're fired!"

Once there was a little girl with white bows on each of her four plaits. She had a bedroom all to herself beneath the attic in a big hotel. Sometimes she let her brand new friend stay over and they laughed till they hiccuped under the sheets.

Then one day the little girl's mother came to tell her she would have to

leave her bedroom and sleep in a smaller room on another floor. When she asked her mother why, she was told it was for her own protection.

There were things she shouldn't see or hear or know about.

The little girl ran away. For hours she walked a road smelling of oranges until a man with a big round hat and a badge found her and took her home. There she fought to reclaim her bedroom. Her mother relented, ^{turned the} but ~~stuck~~ a key in the lock to ^{Keep} lock her in the bedroom at night. Soon after she was sent away, far away, from things not to be seen, heard, or known about.

Except for the man wearing a round hat and a badge, no one saw her cry. No one ever has. Even now her "still got those" eyes were dry. But they were also, for the first time, seeing the treacherous world her mother knew. She had hated her mother for expelling her from her bedroom and, when Chief Buddy brought her back, smacking her face so hard Christine's chin hit her shoulder. [^] ~~Then sending~~ her away to Maple Valley School where she languished for years and where a mother like May was an embarrassment. Maple Valley teachers were alarmed by acting-out Negroes, but they flinched openly when ^{they} ~~reading~~ May's incoherent letters to the Atlanta Daily

After the slap sent her into hiding
under L's bed for two days, so
they sent

World about white honor and misguided "freedom rides." Christine was happy to confine their relationship to letters she could hide or destroy.

Other than a little gossip about famous guests, there was nothing in them of interest to a thirteen[^] year[^] old trying to be popular, and as the years passed, she didn't even understand them. Christine could laugh at her own ignorance now, but then it was as though May wrote in code: CORE is sitting-in in Chicago (who was she, this Cora?) Mussolini resigned (resigned

> to what?) Detroit on fire. Did Hitler kill Roosevelt or did Roosevelt kill

within weeks of each other.

? Hitler—anyway they both died ~~in the same~~ month. Most of the letters,

however, were about Heed's doings. Plots, intrigue. Now she finally

understood her mother. The world May knew was always crumbling; her place in it never secure. A poor, hungry preacher's child, May's life

saw her

as ^{*ing*} depended on colored people who rocked boats only at sea. Events begun

in 1942 with her father-in-law's second marriage heaped up quickly

throughout the war and long after until, disoriented by her struggle against

a certain element in her house and beyond it, she became comic. Yet her

instincts, thought Christine, if not her methods, were correct. Her world had

been invaded, occupied, turned into scum. Without vigilance and constant

protection it slid away from you, left your heart fluttering, temples throbbing racing down a road that had lost its citrus.

Everyone decided her mother was insane and speculated as to why: widowhood, overwork, no sex, SNCC. It was none of that. Clarity was May's problem. By 1971, when Christine came home for Cosey's funeral, her mother's clarity had been accumulating for years. It had gone from the mild acuteness they called kleptomania to outright brilliance. She covered her bedroom windows with plywood painted red for danger. She lit look-out fires on the beach. Raised havoc with Boss Silk when he refused her purchase of a gun. The sheriff's father, Chief Silk, would have let her, but his son had a different view of Negroes with guns, even though they both wanted to shoot the same people. Now Christine realized that May's understanding of the situation was profound. She had been right in 1971 to sneer at Christine's fake military jacket; Che-style beret, black leotard, mini-skirt. Sharp as a tiger's tooth, May instantly recognized the real deal, as was clear from her own attire. People laughed. So what? The army helmet May had taken to wearing was an authentic position and a powerful statement. Even at the funeral, having been encouraged by L to substitute

160
a black scarf, she still carried it under her arm because, contrary to what Christine thought then, it was true that at any minute protection might be needed in the enemy occupied zone she, and now Christine, lived in. In that zone, readiness was all. Again, Christine felt the sheer bitterness of the past two decades tramping up and down the stairs carrying meals she was too proud to ruin, wading through layers of competing perfumes, trying not to shiver before the "come on" eyes in the painting over that grotesque bed, collecting soiled clothes, washing out the tub, pulling hairs from the drain—if this wasn't hell, it was the lobby.

Heed had long wanted to have May put away, but L's judgment, more restraining than Cosey's, stopped her. When the menu was read for the "will" it was taken to be, and "Billy Boy's wife" was awarded the hotel, Heed shot straight up out of the chair.

"To a nutcase? He leaves our business to a nut case?"

It got ugly and stayed that way until the lawyer slapped the table, assuring Heed that no one would (could?) stop her from running the hotel. She was needed, and besides, her husband had bequeathed her the house, the cash. At which point May, adjusting her helmet, had said, "I beg your

damn pardon?"

The argument that followed was a refined version of the ones that had been seething among the women since the beginning: all had been displaced by another; each had a unique claim on Cosey's affection; each had either "saved" him from some disaster or relieved him of an impending one. The only difference ^{about} ~~during~~ this pre-burial quarrel was L, whose normal silence seemed glacial then because there was no expression on her face, no listening, no empathy—nothing. Taking advantage of L's apparent indifference, Heed shouted that unstable people should not be allowed to inherit property because they needed "perfectionate" care. Only the arrival of the undertaker, announcing the need for immediate departure to the church, kept Christine's hand from becoming a fist. Temporarily, anyway, because later at the grave site, seeing Heed's false tears, her exaggerated shuddering shoulders; watching townsfolk treat her as the sole mourner, and the two real Cosey women as unwelcome visitors; angry that her attempt to place the diamonds on Cosey's fingers had been thwarted—Christine exploded. Reaching into her pocket, she leapt toward Heed with a raised arm which L, having suddenly come to life, bent behind

her back. "I'll tell." she whispered to one, the other, or to no one in particular. Heed, having thrust her face into Christine's as soon as it was safe, backed off. Nothing L said was ever idle. There were many details of her sorry life that Christine did not want exposed. Dislike she could handle, even ridicule. But not pity. Panicked, she closed the knife and settled for an icy glare. But Heed—why had she obeyed so fast? What was she afraid of? May, however, understood what was needed and immediately took her daughter's side. Stepping forward into that feline heat, she removed Heed's Gone With the Wind hat and tossed it into the air. Perfect. A giggle from somebody opened a space in which Heed chased her hat and Christine cooled.

The tacky display, the selfish disregard for rites due the deceased each claimed to ^{honor} ~~love~~, angered people, and they said so. What they did not say was how delighted they must have been by the graveside entertainment featuring beret, bonnet and helmet. Yet in that moment, by tearing Heed's silly hat off, un-crowning the false queen before the world, May's clarity was at its most extreme. As it had been when she did everything to separate the two when they were little girls. She had known instinctively the intruder was

a snake: penetrating, undermining, sullyng, devouring.

According to May's letters, as far back as 1960 Heed had begun to research ways to put her in a rest home or an asylum. But nothing Heed did—not spreading lies, inventing outrages, seeking advice from psychiatric institutions—could force May out. With L watching and without an accomplice, Heed failed. She was forced to put up with the dazzling clarity of the woman who hated her almost as much as Christine did. May's war did not end when Cosey died. She spent her last year watching in ecstasy as Heed's grasping hands turned slowly into wings. Still, Heed's solution for her problems with May had been a good one and a good idea directed at the wrong person was still good. Besides, L was gone. Hospitals were more hospitable. And now, with a little coaxing, there might just be an accomplice.

Poor Mama. Poor old May. To keep going, to protect what was hers, crazy-like-a-fox was all she could think of. Husband dead; her crumbling hotel ruled by a rabid beach rat, ignored by the man for whom she had slaved, abandoned by her daughter to strange ideas, a running joke to

neighbors—she had no place and nothing to command. So she recognized the war declared on her and fought it alone. In bunkers of her own industry. In trenches she dug near watch ^{fires} at ocean's edge. A solitary mis-understood intelligence shaping and controlling its own environment. Now she thought of it, Christine's own disorganized past was the result of laziness—emotional laziness. She had always thought of herself as fierce, active but, unlike May, she'd been simply an engine adjusting to whatever gear ^{the driver} ~~a lover~~ chose.

No more.

Blank 160
This page 161

145

143

1

(over)

^ THE OCEAN IS MY MAN NOW. HE KNOWS WHEN TO REAR AND HUMP HIS BACK. WHEN TO BE QUIET AND SIMPLY WATCH A WOMAN. HE IS NOT A FALSE-HEARTED MAN. HIS SOUL IS DEEP DOWN THERE AND SUFFERING. I PAY ATTENTION AND KNOW ALL ABOUT HIM. THAT KIND OF UNDERSTANDING CAN ONLY COME FROM PRACTICE AND I HAD A LOT OF THAT WITH MR. COSEY. YOU COULD SAY I FATHOMED HIS MIND. NOT RIGHT AWAY, OF COURSE. I WAS JUST A GIRL WHEN I WAS INTRODUCED TO HIM—A MARRIED MAN WITH A SON AND A SICK WIFE WHO NEEDED CARE EVERY MINUTE OF THE DAY AND NIGHT. HE SAID HER NAME, JULIA, SO SOFT YOU COULD HEAR THE ^{tenderness} LOVE IN IT AS WELL AS THE APOLOGY. THEIR SON, BILLY BOY, WAS TWELVE WHEN JULIA COSEY PASSED AND EVEN THOUGH I WAS ONLY FOURTEEN, IT WAS THE MOST NATURAL THING IN THE WORLD FOR ME TO STAY ON

Mr. Cozey was taken, so

AND LOOK AFTER THE TWO OF THEM. ONLY A WIDE HEART COULD
^{Care}
~~HOLD~~ THAT MUCH ~~LOVE~~ FOR A WIFE AND HAVE SO MUCH ROOM LEFT
OVER. IT TOOK ME A WHILE TO LEARN THAT. WHEN JULIA COSEY DIED,
MR. COSEY TRANSFERRED ALL OF WHAT HE FELT TO HIS SON. LUCKY
FOR HIM, THE BOY HAD THAT INSIGHT CHILDREN HAVE TO USE WITH
^{important}
GROWN UPS TO STAY ~~LOVED~~. NOT BY DOING WHAT THEY SAY, BUT
FIGURING OUT WHAT THEY REALLY WANT. A DADDY CAN SAY "FEND
FOR YOURSELF, BOY" WHILE HE MEANS "DON'T SHOW ME UP; HURRY
UP AND FAIL." OR HE CAN SAY "I'LL TEACH YOU THE WORLD,"
MEANING "I'M SCARED TO DEATH OF YOU." I DON'T KNOW WHAT
MR. COSEY SAID TO HIS SON ALONG THOSE LINES, BUT WHATEVER IT
WAS, BILLY BOY UNDERSTOOD IT TO MEAN "BE SOMETHING I CAN GET
UP FOR IN THE MORNING; GIVE ME SOMETHING TO DO WHILE I
PADDLE ALONG." SO IT DIDN'T MATTER MUCH IF HE WAS A VERY
GOOD SON OR A REALLY BAD ONE. HE ONLY HAD TO BE
INTERESTING. JUST BY LUCK, I SUSPECT, HE CHOSE THE FORMER. MR.
COSEY WAS PLEASED WITH EVERYTHING BILLY BOY DID AND SAID. HE
LAVISHED MONEY ON HIM AND TOOK HIM EVERYWHERE. WITH HIS

HAIR PARTED IN THE MIDDLE AND A CAP JUST LIKE HIS FATHER'S—WHAT A PAIR THEY MUST HAVE BEEN, ONE LOUNGING IN THE BARBER SHOP WHILE THE OTHER GOT A TRIM; SITTING IN THE BLEACHERS AT EAGLE GAMES, ON CAMP STOOLS AT SING-OUT COMPETITIONS, AT NARROW TABLES IN COUNTRY JOINTS WHERE THE MOST GIFTED MUSICIANS PLAYED. THEY SLEPT IN ROOMING HOUSES OR JUST KNOCKED ON A DOOR. MR. COSEY SAID HE WANTED BILLY BOY TO SEE MEN ENJOY THE PERFECTION OF THEIR WORK, SO THEY WENT TO PERDIDO STREET FOR KING OLIVER, MEMPHIS FOR THE TIGERS, BIRMINGHAM FOR THE BARONS. THEY WATCHED HOW COOKS EXAMINED MARKET PRODUCE, WATERMEN SORT ^{red} OYSTERS, BARTENDERS, POOL ^{red} HALL RASCALS, PICK-POCKETS AND CHOIRMASTERS. EVERYTHING WAS A LABOR LESSON FROM A MAN ^{proud of} ~~WHO LOVED~~ HIS SKILL ⁽ⁱ⁾ THE WAY A MAN LOVES A ~~WOMAN—WHICH IS TO SAY EVERY WHICH WAY (PROVIDED HE DIDN'T HAVE TO BE ONE).~~ MR. COSEY SAID IT WAS LIFE'S REAL EDUCATION, BUT IT LOOKED TO ME LIKE TRUANCY FROM HIS OWN FATHER'S SCHOOL. A WAY TO FLUNK THE LESSONS DARK ^{had} TAUGHT HIM.

BESOTTED ATTENTION DIDN'T SPOIL THE BOY. HE KNEW HIS DUTY

AND SPLASHED IN IT, COULD SMILE EVEN AS HIS FATHER BRAGGED ABOUT HIM IN FRONT OF PATIENT FRIENDS. BRAGGED ABOUT HIS ARM WITH A BALL, HIS COOL HEAD IN EMERGENCY. HOW HE HAD EXTRACTED A BENT NAIL STUCK IN A LITTLE GIRL'S FACE BETTER THAN ANY DOCTOR COULD HAVE. I SAW THAT ONE MYSELF. I'D BROUGHT THE LUNCH THEY WANTED ONE DAY WHILE THEY WASTED TIME ON THE BEACH—KNOCKING PEBBLES INTO THE SEA WITH BASEBALL BATS. DOWN A WAYS, A GIRL, MAYBE NINE OR TEN YEARS OLD, WAS CASTING INTO THE WAVES. FOR WHAT, WHO KNOWS. NOTHING WITH SCALES SWIMS THIS CLOSE TO THE SHORE. ON THE SECOND THROW THE WIND TURNED AND THE HOME MADE FISH HOOK HOOKED HER. HER FINGERS WERE DRIPPING RED WHEN BILLY BOY GOT TO HER. HE WAS DEFT ENOUGH AND SHE WAS GRATEFUL, STANDING THERE CUPPING HER FACE WITH OUT A TEAR OR A MOAN. BUT WE TOOK HER BACK TO THE HOTEL ANYWAY. I SAT HER IN THE GAZEBO, CLEANED HER CHEEK AND SPREAD ALOE GUM AND HONEY ON THE WOUND, HOPING SHE WAS TOO STRONG FOR LOCKJAW. OVER TIME, AS USUAL, MR. COSEY PLUMPED UP THE STORY. DEPENDING ON HIS MOOD AND HIS

AUDIENCE YOU WOULD HAVE THOUGHT THE CHILD WAS ABOUT TO BE DRAGGED INTO THE WATER BY A SWORDFISH IF BILLY BOY HADN'T SAVED HER. OR THAT HE HAD REMOVED A HOOK FROM A LITTLE BABY'S EYEBALL. BILLY BOY SMILED AT THESE FAT, ^{cherished} ~~LOVABLE~~ LIES, AND TOOK HIS FATHER'S ADVICE IN EVERYTHING, INCLUDING MARRIAGE: TO WED A DEVOTED, ^{worshipped} ~~FELL IN LOVE~~ NOT CALCULATING GIRL. SO BILLY BOY CHOSE MAY WHO, AS ANYBODY COULD SEE, WOULD NEITHER DISRUPT NOR RIVAL THE BOND BETWEEN FATHER AND SON. MR. COSEY WAS ALARMED AT FIRST NOT BEING PRIVY TO HIS SON'S SELECTION, BUT WAS MADE EASY WHEN THE BRIDE NOT ONLY ^{worshipped} ~~FELL IN LOVE~~ WITH THE HOTEL, BUT SHOWED SIGNS OF UNDERSTANDING WHAT SUPERIOR MEN REQUIRE. IF I WAS A SERVANT IN THAT PLACE, ^{worshipped} ~~FELL IN LOVE~~ MAY WAS ITS SLAVE. HER WHOLE LIFE WAS MAKING SURE THOSE COSEY MEN HAD WHAT THEY WANTED. THE FATHER MORE THAN THE SON; THE FATHER MORE THAN HER OWN DAUGHTER. AND WHAT MR. COSEY, WIDOWER, WANTED IN 1930 SHOULD HAVE BEEN IMPOSSIBLE. THAT WAS THE YEAR THE WHOLE COUNTRY BEGAN TO LIVE ON RELIEF THE WAY UP BEACH PEOPLE DID-IF THEY WERE LUCKY, THAT IS. IF NOT, THEY KILLED THEMSELVES

OR TOOK TO THE ROAD. MR. COSEY, HOWEVER, TOOK ADVANTAGE. HE BOUGHT A BROKE DOWN 'WHITES ONLY' CLUB AT SOOKER BAY FROM A MAN HONEST ENOUGH TO SAY THAT ALTHOUGH HE SWORE TO GOD AND HIS PAPPY HE WOULD NEVER SELL TO NIGGERS, HE WAS HAPPY AS A CLAM TO BREAK HIS OATH AND TAKE HIS FAMILY AWAY FROM THAT BIRD-INFESTED SIDEWALK FOR HURRICANES.

WHO WOULD HAVE THOUGHT THAT IN THE TEETH OF THE DEPRESSION COLORED PEOPLE WOULD WANT TO PLAY, OR IF THEY DID, HOW COULD THEY PAY FOR IT? MR. COSEY, THAT'S WHO. BECAUSE HE KNEW WHAT A HARMONICA PLAYER ON A STREET CORNER KNEW: WHERE THERE WAS MUSIC THERE WAS MONEY. CHECK THE CHURCHES IF YOU DOUBT IT. AND HE BELIEVED SOMETHING ELSE. IF COLORED MUSICIANS WERE TREATED WELL, PAID WELL AND CODDLED, THEY WOULD TELL ONE ANOTHER ABOUT SUCH A PLACE WHERE THEY COULD WALK IN THE FRONT DOOR, NOT THE SERVICE ENTRANCE; EAT IN THE DINING ROOM, NOT THE KITCHEN; SIT WITH THE GUESTS, SLEEP IN BEDS, NOT THEIR AUTOMOBILES OR IN A WHORE HOUSE ACROSS TOWN. A PLACE WHERE THEIR INSTRUMENTS WERE SAFE, THEIR DRINKS

171

UN-WATERED, THEIR TALENT HONORED SO THEY DIDN'T HAVE TO GO
TO COPENHAGEN OR PARIS FOR ^{Praise.} LOVE. FLOCKS OF COLORED PEOPLE
WOULD PAY TO BE IN THAT ATMOSPHERE. THOSE WHO HAD THE
MONEY WOULD PAY IT; THOSE WHO DIDN'T WOULD FIND IT. IT
COMFORTS EVERYBODY TO THINK OF ALL NEGROES AS DIRT POOR,
AND OF THOSE WHO WERE NOT, WHO EARNED GOOD MONEY AND
KEPT IT, AS SOME KIND OF SHAMEFUL MIRACLE. WHITE PEOPLE LIKED
IT BECAUSE NEGROES WITH MONEY AND SENSE MAKE THEM NERVOUS.
COLORED PEOPLE LIKED IT BECAUSE, IN THOSE DAYS, THEY TRUSTED
POVERTY, BELIEVED IT WAS VIRTUE AND A SURE SIGN OF HONESTY.
TOO MUCH MONEY HAD A WHIFF OF EVIL AND SOMEBODY ELSE'S
BLOOD. MR. COSEY DIDN'T CARE. HE WANTED A PLAYGROUND FOR
FOLK WHO FELT THE WAY HE DID, WHO STUDIED WAYS TO
CONTRADICT HISTORY. WITH A PLAN INSTEAD OF A PALM. ?

BUT IT HAD TO BE SPECIAL: EVENING DRESS IN THE EVENING;
SPORT CLOTHES FOR SPORT. AND NO ZOOT SUITS. FLOWERS IN THE
BEDROOMS, CRYSTAL ON THE TABLE. MUSIC, DANCING AND, IF YOU

WANTED TO, YOU COULD JOIN A PRIVATE CARD GAME WHERE MONEY CHANGED HANDS AMONG A FEW FRIENDS, MUSICIANS, DOCTORS WHO ENJOYED THE EXCITEMENT OF LOSING WHAT MOST PEOPLE COULDN'T EARN. HE LIKED GEORGE RAFT CLOTHES AND GANGSTER CARS, BUT USED HIS HEART LIKE SANTA CLAUS. IF A FAMILY COULDN'T PAY FOR A BURIAL, HE HAD A QUIET TALK WITH THE UNDERTAKER. HIS FRIENDSHIP WITH THE SHERIFF GOT MANY A SON OUT OF HANDCUFFS. ^{For years and} WITHOUT A WORD, HE TOOK CARE OF A STROKE VICTIM'S DOCTOR BILLS AND HER ^{grand} DAUGHTER'S COLLEGE FEES. IN THOSE DAYS THE DEVOTED OUTWEIGHED THE JEALOUS AND THE HOTEL BASKED IN HIS GLOW.

MAY, A SWEET TEMPERED PREACHER'S DAUGHTER BRED TO HARD WORK AND DUTY, TOOK TO THE BUSINESS LIKE A BEE TO POLLEN. AT FIRST THE TWO OF US MANAGED THE KITCHEN, WITH BILLY BOY WAITING TABLES. WHEN IT BECAME CLEAR THAT THE QUEEN AT THE STOVE WAS ME, SHE MOVED TO HOUSEKEEPING, BOOKKEEPING, PROCURING AND HER HUSBAND BOOKED THE MUSICIANS. I THINK I DESERVE HALF THE CREDIT FOR THE WAY THE HOTEL GREW. GOOD

FOOD AND FATS WALLER IS A ONCE IN A LIFETIME COMBINATION. STILL, YOU HAD TO ADMIRE MAY. SHE WAS THE ONE WHO ARRANGED EVERYTHING, SAW TO THE LINEN, PAID THE BILLS, CONTROLLED THE HELP. THE TWO OF US WERE LIKE THE BACK OF A CLOCK. MR. COSEY WAS ITS FACE TELLING YOU THE TIME WAS NOW.

WHEN WE WERE JUST THE TWO FEMALES, THINGS WENT ALONG FINE. IT WAS WHEN THE GIRLS GOT IN THE PICTURE—CHRISTINE AND HEED— THINGS BEGAN TO FRAY. OH, I KNOW THE “REASONS” GIVEN: CANNERY SMELL, CIVIL RIGHTS, INTEGRATION. AND MAY’S BEHAVIOR DID GO STRANGE IN 1955 WHEN THAT BOY FROM CHICAGO TRIED TO ACT LIKE A MAN AND GOT BEAT TO DEATH FOR HIS TROUBLE. IT SENT MAY TO THE BEACH WHERE SHE BURIED NOT JUST THE DEED, BUT A FLASHLIGHT AND LORD KNOWS WHAT ELSE. WE ALL SHIVERED ABOUT WHAT THEY DID TO THAT BOY. HE HAD SUCH LIGHT EYES. BUT FOR MAY IT WAS A SIGN. ANY DAY NOW SOME NEGRO WAS GOING TO RILE WAITING WHITES, GIVE THEM AN EXCUSE TO HANG SOMEBODY AND CLOSE THE HOTEL DOWN. MR. COSEY DESPISED HER DREAD. I GUESS IT WAS TOO CLOSE TO HOME. HAVING GROWN UP THE SON

OF A STOOGES, HE DANCED ALL THE HARDER. WHETHER THE PLACE
THRIVED OR DIDN'T THE DECLINE STARTED WAY BEFORE 1955. I
FORESAW RUIN IN 1942 WHEN MR. COSEY WAS MAKING MONEY
HAND OVER FIST AND THE HOTEL WAS A SHOWPLACE. ^{See} THAT WINDOW
OVER THERE ^{? It} LOOKED OUT ON PARADISE. ONE ME AND MAY MADE
BECAUSE WHEN BILLY BOY DIED MR. COSEY BOUGHT THE BARBER
^{the two of them used to take turns in,} CHAIR AND FOR A YEAR OR SO, JUST SAT IN IT. THEN SUDDENLY HE
REVVED BACK UP, ORDERED SOME FINE SILVERWARE, AND JOINED US
^{in keeping} TO KEEP THE HOTEL THE HOT SPOT FOLKS ^{wanted.} LOVED. HANDSOME DOG.
WOMEN TRAILED HIM EVERYWHERE AND I KEPT MY EYES OPEN FOR
WHO HE MIGHT PICK. THE HOOKED C'S ON THE SILVERWARE
WORRIED ME BECAUSE I KNEW HE TOOK CASUAL WOMEN CASUALLY. ^{still}
SO I WAS KNOCKED OUT OF MY SOCKS IN 1942 WHEN HE DID
CHOOSE. WORD WAS HE WANTED CHILDREN, LOTS OF CHILDREN, TO
FILL THE MIRROR FOR HIM THE WAY BILLY BOY USED TO. FOR
MOTHERHOOD ONLY AN UNUSED GIRL WOULD DO. AFTER PLAYING
AROUND A WHILE, MR. COSEY ENDED UP IN THE MOST LIKELY PLACE
FOR MAKING BABIES AND THE LEAST LIKELY FOR A VIRGIN. UP BEACH.

because I thought he took
casual women casually. But if doubled
C's were meant to mean Celestial Casey, he
was losing his nerve. ~~his nerve~~

WHERE EVERY WOMAN'S OBITUARY COULD HAVE READ "DEATH BY CHILDREN." IT WAS MARRYING HEED THAT LAID THE BRICKWORK FOR RUINATION. SEE, HE CHOSE A GIRL ALREADY SPOKEN FOR. NOT PROMISED TO ANYONE BY HER PARENTS. THAT TRASH GAVE HER UP LIKE THEY WOULD A PUPPY. NO. THE WAY I SEE IT, SHE BELONGED TO CHRISTINE AND CHRISTINE BELONGED TO HER. ANYWAY, IF HE WAS TRYING TO ^{Change} ~~RE-MAKE~~ THE BLOOD HE ONCE TRIED TO CORRECT, HE FAILED. HEED NEVER GAVE HIM A TADPOLE AND , LIKE MOST MEN, HE BELIEVED THE FAULT WAS HERS. HE WAITED A FEW YEARS INTO THE MARRIAGE BEFORE GOING BACK TO HIS FAVORITE, BUT BACK HE WENT. YOU'D THINK SINCE ONE OF HIS WOMEN HAD A STROKE AFTER ROOTING WITH HIM IN THE SAND, HE'D AVOID THE BEACH AS A SETTING FOR FUN. BUT HE DIDN'T. HE EVEN SPENT HIS WEDDING NIGHT THERE, WHICH PROVES HOW MUCH HE LIKED IT. GOOD WEATHER OR FOUL. ME TOO.

MOSQUITOES DON'T LIKE MY BLOOD. ONCE I WAS YOUNG ENOUGH TO TAKE OFFENSE AT THAT, NOT UNDERSTAND THE REJECTION AS A BLESSING. SO YOU CAN SEE WHY I LIKED WALKING

THE SHORE WAY HOME HOWEVER MUGGY THE WEATHER. THE SKY IS
EMPTY NOW, ERASED, BUT BACK THEN THE MILKY WAY WAS COMMON
AS DIRT. ITS LIGHT MADE EVERYTHING A LOVELY BLACK AND WHITE
MOVIE. NO MATTER WHAT YOUR PLACE IN LIFE OR YOUR STATE OF
MIND, HAVING A STAR PACKED SKY BE PART OF YOUR NIGHT MADE
YOU FEEL RICH. AND THEN THERE WAS THE SEA. FISHERMEN SAY
THERE IS LIFE DOWN THERE THAT LOOKS LIKE WEDDING VEILS AND
ROPES OF GOLD WITH RUBY EYES. THEY SAY SOME MAKE YOU THINK
OF THE COLLARS OF SCHOOL TEACHERS OR PARASOLS MADE OF
FLOWERS. THAT'S WHAT I WAS THINKING ABOUT ONE HOT NIGHT
AFTER A BIRTHDAY CELEBRATION. OFF AND ON, WHENEVER I FELT LIKE
IT, I STAYED IN MY MOTHER'S HOUSE IN UP BEACH. I WAS ON MY
WAY THERE THAT NIGHT, TIRED AS A DOG, WHEN I SAW MR. COSEY
WITH HIS SHOES IN HIS HAND WALKING NORTH BACK TOWARD THE
HOTEL. I WAS UP AT THE GRASS LINE HOPING TO CATCH A BREEZE
STRONG ENOUGH TO GET THE SMOKE AND SUGAR SMELL OUT OF MY
UNIFORM. HE WAS FURTHER DOWN, SLOSHING THROUGH THE
WAVES. I WAVED AND STARTED TO CALL OUT TO HIM BUT

SOMETHING—THE WAY HE HELD HIS HEAD, MAYBE, OR A KIND OF
PRIVACY WRAPPED ABOUT HIM—STOPPED ME. I WANTED TO WARN HIM
BUT, WEARY AND STILL OUT OF SORTS, I KEPT ON WALKING. DOWN
A PIECE I SAW SOMEBODY ELSE. A WOMAN SITTING ON A BLANKET
MASSAGING HER HEAD WITH BOTH HANDS. I STOOD THERE WHILE SHE
GOT UP, NAKED AS TRUTH, AND WENT INTO THE WAVES. THE TIDE
WAS OUT SO SHE HAD TO WALK A LONG TIME FOR THE WATER TO
REACH HER WAIST. TALL, RAGGEDY CLOUDS DRIFTED ACROSS THE
MOON AND I REMEMBER HOW MY HEART KICKED. POLICE-HEADS
WERE ON THE MOVE THEN: THEY HAD ALREADY DROWNED THE
JOHNSON BOYS; ALMOST KILLED THE CANNERY GIRL AND WHO KNEW
WHAT ELSE. BUT THIS WOMAN KEPT ON WADING OUT INTO BLACK
WATER AND I COULD TELL SHE WASN'T AFRAID OF THEM—OR OF
ANYTHING BECAUSE SHE STRETCHED, RAISED HER ARMS, AND DOVE. I
REMEMBER THAT ARC BETTER THAN I REMEMBER YESTERDAY. SHE WAS
OUT OF SIGHT FOR A TIME AND I HELD MY BREATH AS LONG AS SHE
DID. FINALLY SHE SURFACED AND I BREATHED AGAIN WATCHING HER
SWIM BACK TO SHALLOW WATER. SHE STOOD UP AND MASSAGED HER

HEAD ONCE MORE. HER HAIR, FLAT WHEN SHE WENT IN, ROSE UP
SLOWLY AND TOOK ON THE SHAPE OF THE CLOUDS DRAGGING THE
MOON. THEN SHE—WELL, MADE A SOUND. I DON'T KNOW TO THIS
DAY WHETHER IT WAS A WORD, A ^{tune} SCREAM OR A ^{scream.} CALL. ALL I KNOW IS
THAT IT WAS A SOUND I WANTED TO ANSWER. EVEN THOUGH
NORMALLY I'M STONE QUIET, CELESTIAL. ^

I CAN WATCH MY MAN FROM THE PORCH. IN THE
EVENING MOSTLY, BUT SUNRISE TOO WHEN I NEED TO SEE HIS
SHOULDERS COLLARED WITH SEA FOAM. THERE USED TO BE WHITE
WICKER CHAIRS OUT HERE WHERE PRETTY WOMEN DRANK ICED TEA
WITH A DROP OF JACK DANIELS OR CUTTY SARK IN IT. NOTHING LEFT
NOW, SO I SIT ON THE STEPS OR LEAN MY ELBOWS ON THE RAILINGS.
IF I'M REAL STILL AND LISTENING CAREFULLY I CAN HEAR HIS VOICE.
YOU'D THINK WITH ALL THAT STRENGTH, HE'D BE A BASS. BUT, NO.
MY MAN IS A TENOR.

I don't deny her unstoppable good looks -
they did arrest the mind - and while
how she made her living saddened me (she
came from a whole family of sporting women)
she did it in such a quiet reserved way
you would have thought she was a
Red Cross nurse. ^{When} Mr. Cosey changed,
^{well} ~~and~~ limited her case load, neither could
break the spell of the other one (~~the spell they~~
~~were under?~~) ^{and} The grave didn't change a
thing.

~~179~~

173

Rogue

~~Bachelor~~

5

LOVER

7

SON?

~~Sweetheart~~
~~Seducer~~

180

174

1

Sandler admitted he could have imagined the look but not the glisten. That was definite. Vida credited neither. The proof, she felt, was in her grandson's walk. Whatever the sign, both agreed that Romen was seeing someone, maybe even going with someone. They liked those terms—"seeing," "going with"—suggesting merely looking, accompanying. Not the furious coupling that produced the unmistakable look Sandler believed he had detected and a moist radiance he recognized at once. But Vida was right about the walk. Romen had developed a kind of strut to replace his former skulk. Of Sandler's feelings—resignation, pride, alarm, envy—he chose to focus on the last, trying to summon the memory of

adolescent heat, its shield of well being created by the accomplishment of being spent. He remembered his own maiden voyage (free of embarrassment, now) as a ferocity that had never mellowed into routine pleasure. Romen's entry might be as cherish-able as it was enviable, and although it would probably end in foolishness or misery, it seemed unfair to cut off the boy's swagger when it was fresh. He believed ~~topping~~^{toppling} him now—introducing shame along with sound advice—was more likely to pervert future encounters without stopping them. So he watched the new moves, the attention to hygiene, the knowing smile replacing guffaws and sniggers, the condescension in his tone when he spoke to Vida. Most of all he savored the skin beauty as well as the ripple Vida noticed in his walk. Also, he appreciated the fact that Romen had stopped swinging his leg and grabbing his groin every minute in that obnoxious way that signaled more 'want' than 'have.' Let him preen a while, thought Sandler. Otherwise he might end up dog-chasing women his whole life. Forever on the prowl for a repeat of that first first time, he might end up like Bill Cosey had, wasting hours between the elbows of women whose names he could not remember and whose eyes he avoided. Except for one. Other than her, Cosey had

said, he never felt connected to a woman. His adored first wife thought his interests tiresome, his appetite ^{abusive} ~~crazy~~. So he chose the view he saw in the eyes of local women, vacationers, slightly tipsy vocalists whose boyfriends had not joined them on the tour. Thus buoyed up and simmered down, he had released his wife from class, given her the hall pass she wanted. Or, in Cosey's own words, "when kittens sleep, lions creep."

"You wrong," Sandler replied. "Lions mate for life."

"So do I," said Cosey, laughing softly. "So do I."

Maybe, thought Sandler, but it was a mating that had not changed Cosey's bachelor behavior which, after years of eligible widower-hood, he hoped to end by marrying a girl he could educate to his taste. And if that had worked out for him as planned, Cosey might have limited his boat activity to fish caught with a hook instead of a wallet. Sandler had come to enjoy the fishing trips. At twenty-three he didn't like to pal around with old men, but since his father had moved away...of course it wasn't like being with his own father, but the conversation between them got easier. Dipping a ball of cotton in bacon fat, Sandler had smiled, saying, "My father taught me this."

Cosey looked at the bait. "You and him close?"

"Close enough."

"He still living?"

"Oh, yeah. Up north with my sister after Mama died. Old men feel better with their daughters. Young girls easier to push around." He caught himself and tried to clean it up in case Cosey was offended. "I wanted him to stay with us. I mean it's his house we living in. He's way too stubborn, but he must have his reasons."

"Fathers can be hard," answered Cosey, unaffected, it seemed, by the old man's young girl comment.

"Yours wasn't. I hear tell he left you a trunk full of money. That so?"

"Well, he had to leave it to somebody."

"My old man did all right by me too," said Sandler. "Not with money. Never had none, but I could always count on him, ^{and} he can count on me. He knows I love him no (don't) matter what."

"I hated mine."

"Sure enough?" Sandler was more surprised by the candor than the fact.

"Sure enough. He died on Christmas day. His funeral was like a gift to the world."

But once
That's the way their talk was when it was just the two of them. Sandler was invited to one of Cosey's famous boat parties and afterwards promised himself he would never go again. Not just because of the company, although he was uncomfortable being jovial with middle aged white men one of whom was holstered; the well to do black men also made him feel out of place. The laughter was easy enough. And the three or four women stimulating it were pleasant. It was the talk, its tone, its lie, that he couldn't take. Talk as fuel to feed the main delusion: the counterfeit world invented on the boat; the real one set aside for a few hours so women could dominate, men would crawl, blacks could insult whites. Until they docked. Then the sheriff could put his badge back on and call the colored physician a boy. Then the women took their shoes off because they had to walk home alone. One woman at the party stayed aloof, sober, slightly chiding. Deftly warding off advances, she never raised stakes or temperature.

was it
Clearly she belonged to the host and in the photograph from which Cosey's portrait was painted, Sandler knew Cosey was looking at her. Hanging

Once, and only once, ^{when} Sandler asked him
about her, Casey said, "You can live
with anything if you have what you
can't live without."

once in back of Vida's desk, then above Heed Cosey's bed, the face had a look he would recognize anywhere. One that Romen was acquiring: first ownership. Sandler knew that sometimes the first was also the last and God help the boy if he got soul-chained to a woman he couldn't trust.

But that was his male take on it. Vida would certainly read it differently. The big question now was, who. Who was the girl who burnished skin and oiled a boy's stride? Romen went to no parties, was home when told to be, entertained no friends at home. Maybe she was older, a grown woman with afternoon time on her hands. But Romen's weekends and after school evenings were filled with chores. When did he have time? Sandler put the question to Vida, who was urging him to speak to Romen.

"I need to know who it is before I start lecturing him," he said.

"What difference does it make?"

"I take it you content with his sheets?"

"I'll worry about the laundry," said Vida. "You worry about ^{vd}vd." Which, by the way, doesn't come with a biography. I work in a hospital, remember? You have no idea what I see."

"Well, I'm going to find out who she is."

"How?"

"I'll ask him."

"Sandler, he's not going to tell you."

"Must be a way. This is a wee little town and I don't want to wait until somebody's daddy or brother bangs on my door."

"People don't do that anymore. That was in our day. Did you bang on Plaquemain's door when he was courting Dolly?"

"Would have if you hadn't ~~been~~ ^{SOLD ON} ~~already fallen in love with him.~~"

SOON'S he walked in the door

"Be serious. Plaquemain had two years of college. Nobody around here could hold a candle to him."

"Thanks for reminding me. Now I think about it, maybe we should leave it up to his college-y father. When are they due?"

"Thanksgiving, Dolly said."

"See there? Just two weeks."

"The girl could be pregnant by then!"

"Thought ^{you} ^{was} ~~you~~ [^] [^] was worrying you."

"Everything is worrying me!"

"Come on, Vida. The boy doesn't stay out late; he cut loose those raggedy friends and you don't have to drag him out of bed anymore to go to school. He's ready before you are, and works good and steady at the Coseys. Overtime, too."

"Oh, Lord," said Vida. "Oh my Lord."

"What?" Sandler looked at his wife and then burst out laughing.

"You have lost your natural mind, woman."

"Uh uh," she said. "No I haven't. And 'steady' is the word, all right."

Suddenly Sandler saw thighs rising from tall black boots, and wondered again how icy the skin would be to the touch. And how smooth.

The boots, probably, which she never took off, ^{freaked} excited Romen as much as her nakedness—in fact they made her more naked than if she had removed them. So it seemed natural to steal his grandfather's security uniform cap. It was gray, not black to match the boots, but it had a shiny visor and when she put it on and stood there in just the cap and the boots, Romen knew his ^{impulse} instinct was right. All his ^{of impulses} instincts were right, now. He was

fourteen doing an eighteen or maybe twenty [^]year[^] old woman. Not only did she want him; she demanded him. Her craving was equal to his and his was bottomless. He could barely remember himself before November 12. Who was that wuss crying under a pillow because of some jive turkeys? Romen had no time for that sniveling self now. The halls of Bethune High were parade grounds; the congregation at the lockers was the audience of a prince. No more sidle along the walls or safety searches in crowds. And no trumpet blast to be heard. It was that simple.

When he approached the lockers that first day, they knew. And those who didn't, he told—in a way. Anybody who needed to get drunk, or tie somebody up, or required the company of a herd was a punk. Two days earlier Theo would have knocked him into the wall. But on November 13, Romen had new eyes, ones that appraised and dared. The boys hazarded a few lame teases, but Romen's smile, slow and informed, kept them off balance. The clincher came from the girls. Sensing something capable in his manner, they stopped rolling their eyes and smothering giggles. Now they arched their backs, threw back their shoulders in great, long deceptive yawns. Now they cut question-and-answer glances his way. Not only had

Romen scored, the score was big time. A teacher, they wondered? Somebody's older sister? He wouldn't say--even resisting the "your mama" that rose to his lips. In any case, he had neck now. And when he wasn't stretching it, he was gazing through the classroom window dreaming of what had already taken place and imagining new ways to do it. The boots. The black socks. With the security cap she would look like an officer. Hard enough to drill for oil, Romen adjusted his chair and tried to focus on the Eighteenth Amendment the teacher was explaining with such intensity he almost understood her. How was he supposed to concentrate on a history lesson when Junior's ^{mouth} neck was a study? Her ^{breasts} ~~armpits~~ required intense exploration; her skin demanded closer analysis. Was its perfume flower-y or more like rain? Besides, he had to memorize the thirty-eight ways she could smile and what each one meant. He needed a whole semester to figure out her sci-fi eyes: the lids, the lashes, irises so shiny black she could be an alien. One he would ^{kill} ~~fight~~ to join on the spaceship.

Junior had use of the Cosey's car. To shop, go to the bank, post office, do errands ^{DS, Cosey} ~~Miss Heed~~ needed done and Miss Christine didn't want to do. So if he skipped sixth period, or if study hall preceded lunch, Junior

picked him up on Prince Arthur Street and they drove to one of their pre-planned spots. The plan (hers) was to make it everywhere. To map the county with grapple and heat. On the list, but not managed yet, was Bethune High (preferably in a class room); the Cine-plex, the beach, the abandoned Cannery, ^{and the hotel} the phone booth on Baron Street near Softee's ^{was} and her favorite ^{and} ~~the bus station~~. So far, they had accomplished only one ^{other} outside-her-bedroom event—a back seat adventure one evening in Café Ria's parking lot. Today he would meet her behind Videoland, for some fast stroking before she drove him to Monarch Street where he would pull leaves from the gutters. Then she would drive him home, stopping maybe at a different phone booth on the way. Exciting as all that travel was to anticipate, indelible as this town was becoming (he sort of owned Café Ria now, and Theo too), nothing beat the sight of a straddling Junior in bed, booted, hatted, with a visor throwing her eyes into shadow. Theo, Jamal and Freddie could keep whatever tenth grade party girl in plastic heels they found. Where was the neck in that? No arms tightening but their own; no eager mouths but their own; no eeeee's of pleasure but their own. Most of all, no privacy. Instead they needed a chorus of each other to back them

up, make it real, help them turn down the trumpet screech in their own ears. All the time doing it, not to the girl but for, maybe even to, one another. He, on the other hand, gripped and nibbled on, had a woman of his own, one who stepped up and snatched privacy right in the middle of a stupid-blind public.

Romen raised his eyes to the clock. Two minutes—forever—before the bell.

Junior kept the motor running. She had no driver's license and wanted to be in position to take off if noticed by a cop cruiser. She was hungry again. Two hours earlier she had eaten four strips of bacon, toast and two eggs. Now she thought of getting burgers and shakes at Softees to take back to Videoland. She could do two things at the same time. Even three. Romen would like that and so would her Good Man. Sometimes he sat at the foot of her bed—^{happy} just to watch her sleep, and when she woke he winked ^{before} he smiled and stepped away. Funny how being seen all the time, watched day and night at Correctional, had infuriated her, but being looked at by her Good Man ^{delighted} excited her. She didn't have to turn her head to know his ^{shoe} foot

was on the door saddle or that his fingers were drumming a window sill. The aftershave announced his entrance. And if she were still enough, he might whisper: "nice hair", "take it", "good girl", "sweet tits", "why not?" More understanding than any G.I. Joe. Her luck was still holding: a ^{cushy} lovely, warm place to stay, a lot of really good food, a (paying) job—more than she expected when, because of her age, Correctional had to release her. But the bonus of Romen was like the plus sign after an "A". The ones she got when she had been a model student. Considered model until they made it seem as though she had killed him. Why would she do that? Mess up just when she was about to graduate.

Killing the Administrator was not on her mind—stopping him was. Some girls liked his Conferences; traded them for Office Duty, underwear, trips off-campus. But not her. ~~To~~ Junior, already prized for her keyboard skills, ~~she~~ always had office work, besides cotton underwear was just fine; and the thrill of off-campus trips was erased by the watchful eyes of townspeople as you strolled through the aisles, or put your elbows on the Burger King counter. Anyway, she got her sex from Campus A or from a girl crying for home. Who wanted or needed an old man (he must be thirty, at least)

wearing a wide red tie pointing down to a penis that couldn't compete with raw vegetables, bars of soap, kitchen utensils, lollipops, or anything else inventive girls could conjure?

The Exit Conference was scheduled for Friday, and when he changed it to Monday, four days earlier, Junior thought a prize or a job offer would be discussed. At fifteen she was free to leave, purged of the wickedness that had landed her there, and return to her family, not one of whom had visited in the whole three years. She had no intention of going back to the Settlement. Correctional had saved her from them. But she did want to see the outside-the-Settlement world; the televised one, the one new Correctional students talked about. Eagerness to get out would have prevented any last minute infraction; her known good behavior would have disallowed it. Still, the Committee refused to believe her, believed the Administrator instead, and the Guidance Counselor who knew better.

The Exit Conference started out great. The Administrator, relaxed and talkative, described his hopes for Correctional, for her. He strolled to the sliding doors that opened on to a small balcony, invited her to join him and admire the grand trees surrounding. Perched on the railing, he suggested

she do the same, congratulating her, reminding her to keep in touch. He was there for her. Smiling he told her she might want to get a haircut before she left. "Such beautiful hair, wild." He touched it, patting her head fondly, at first and, then, drawing closer, pressed it. Hard. Junior dropped to her knees and while the Administrator's hands were busy unbelting, hers went to the back of his knees, upending him over the railing. He fell one story. Only one. The Guidance Counselor who saw him fall and rushed to his aid, saw also the loosened belt and open fly. His testimony, arranged of course to keep his job, supported the Administrator who was as confounded and bewildered as anybody at the "sudden, strange, self-loathing behavior" of a once model student. The Committee, pained by Junior's use of the word "^{suck}lick" in her defense, quickly transferred her from student to inmate for a violence they could only shake their heads at.

Junior learned a lot in the next three years. If she ever had a moment's thought that after Correctional she would fail ⁱⁿ real life, the thought quickly evaporated. Reform, then Prison, refined her insight. In Correctional real time is not spent; it is deposited, bit by manageable bit. What to do for the next half hour, ten minutes. It will take seven minutes to do your nails;

twenty to wash your hair. A minute and a half to get from gym to class. Games, ninety minutes. Two hours of television before lights out and the falling down years of sleeping while awake to the "there" of other people's bodies. Unlike what people thought, in the daily grid of activities, to plan was fatal. Stay ready, on tippy-toe. And read fast: gestures, eyes, mouths, tones of speech, body movement¹_m-minds. Gauge the moment. Recognize a chance. It's all you. And if you luck out, find yourself near an open wallet, window, or door, GO! It's all you. All of it. Good luck you found, but good fortune you made. And her Good Man agreed. As she knew from the beginning, he liked to see her win.

They recognized each other the very first night when he gazed at her from his portrait. But it was in dream they got acquainted. No fuss, no bother, no recriminations—he lifted her up to his shoulders where she rode through an orchard of green Granny apples. When she woke in a bright, cold room the dream-warmth was better than the blanket. A tub bath (at last) before eagerly climbing the stairs partly to show her new boss lady how punctual she was; mostly to catch another glimpse of her Good Man's shoulders. Heed was sitting in bed, the crown of her head just under the

frame's gilt. Junior told her she didn't want to go pick up her clothes—that she would wear what she had on until she could afford new things. Heed directed her to a closet where a red suit hung in plastic. It was ugly and too big, but Junior was thinking how much she wanted to undress right there in Heed's bedroom while he watched.

"Get some breakfast and come right on back," said Heed.

She did: grapefruit, scrambled eggs, bacon, grits—chatting with Christine in an old woman's suit.

It was when she had finished, on her way back to Heed, that she knew for sure. In the hallway on the second floor she was flooded by his company: a tinkle of glee, a promise of more; then her attention drawn to a door opposite the room she had slept in. Ajar. A light pomade or after shave in the air. She stepped through. Inside a kind of office with sofa, desk leather chairs, dresser. Junior examined it all. She stroked ties and shirts in the closet; smelled his shoes; rubbed her cheek on the sleeve of his seersucker jacket. Then, finding a stack of undershorts, she took off the red suit, stepped into the shorts and lay on the sofa. His happiness was unmistakable. So was his relief at having her there, ^{handling} ~~loving~~ his things and

enjoying herself in front of him.

Later, on her way back to Heed's room, Junior looked over her shoulder toward the door—still ajar—and saw the cuff of a white shirt sleeve, his hand closing the door. Junior laughed, knowing as she did that he did too.

And wouldn't you know it? Right outside Heed's window was a boy. For her. Everything was becoming clear. If she pleased both women, they could live happily together. All she had to do was study them, learn them. Christine didn't care about money, liked feeding her, and encouraged her to take the car. Heed worried about gasoline prices and the value of dated milk cartons and day-old bread. Junior saw both Christine's generosity and Heed's stinginess as forms of dismissal; one was "Take what you need and leave me alone." The other was "I'm in control and you are not." Neither woman was interested in her—except as she simplified or complicated their relationship with each other. Not quite a go-between, not quite a confidante, it was a murky role in which she had discovered small secrets. Among the new, never worn clothes in the locked suitcases were a short, sheer nightie, aqua fuzz at the hem; a carton that explained its contents as a

douche bag; a jar of mustard yellow Massengill powder. Things needed on vacation? For escape? Christine took a bunch of vitamin pills and poured Michelob in empty Pepsi cans. Both women regularly bought and wore sanitary napkins, and threw them in the trash completely unstained. Heed's signature on a check was a press of her initials, HC, rickety- and slanting to the left.

In time the women would tire of their fight, leave things to her. She could make it happen, arrange harmony when she felt like it, the way she had at Correctional when Betty cut in on Sarah at the Christmas Dance and they had fought themselves into Isolation[?]. Junior had brokered the peace when the girls returned, bristling, to the Common Room, threatening Behavior that could ruin it for the whole of Mary House. Siding with each antagonist she had become indispensable to both. How much harder could it be with women too tired to shop[?], too weak to dye their own hair[?]. Too old to remember the real purpose of an automobile. He chuckled.

She gunned the motor. Vanilla? Strawberry? Romen was in view.

199

194

6

HUSBAND

200

195

Correctional girls knew better than to trust a label. "Let set for 5 minutes, then rinse thoroughly" was a suggestion, not an order. Some products needed fifteen minutes; others would cook the scalp instantly. Correctionals knew all about grooming hair—^{1/4}braiding, curling, shampooing, straightening, cutting. And before coloring privileges were taken away—Fawn practically blinded Helen with a deliberate blast of Natural Instinct—they practiced tint and dye with professional single mindedness.

Junior slid the tail of a fine-tooth comb through Heed's hair. ^{and} Then filled ^{each} the silver valley with a thick stream of Velvet Tress. She had lubricated each parting with Vaseline to take down the pain of its lye. ^{When it was finished} Upon completion she tipped Heed's head gently—this way and that—to check the nape and hairline. The rims of Heed's ears were lightly scarred, either from old dye

burns or awkwardly held straightening combs. Junior ran a gloved forefinger slowly over the wounds. Then she bent the ear to blot the excess liquid with cotton. Satisfied that the roots were wet and steeping, she tucked the hair into a shower cap. Washing utensils, folding towels, she listened to Heed's drone—the voluptuous murmur that always accompanies hair dressing. Massage, caress by devoted hands, are natural companions to a warm water rinse, to the shy squeak of clean hair. In a drowsy voice full of amusement Heed explained the barber's chair she was sitting in. How Papa said no chair in the world was more comfortable; that he had paid thirty dollars for it but it was worth hundreds. How home[^]decorating issues could not keep him from moving it from the hotel into the bathroom of their new house. How much Heed treasured it, because in the early days of their marriage it was in that very chair that he took pains to teach her how to manicure, pedicure, keep all his nails in perfect shape. And how to shave him too, with a straight razor and strop. She was so little she had to stand on a stool to reach. But he was nothing but patience, and she learned. Encouraged by Junior's obedient but interested silence, she went on to say she never felt clean enough in those early days. Folks from her

neighborhood were mocked for living near a fish factory and although she had never worked one minute in the place, she suspected she was suspected of its blight. Even now it was the worst thing about her hands, how limited her habits of hygiene had become.

Junior wondered if Heed was trying to ask for a pedicure as well as a bathing hand. Although it was not the fun of group showers at Correctional, soaping a body—any body—held a satisfaction only a Settlement child could know. Besides, it pleased him to see her taking care of his wife; as it pleased him to watch her and Romen wrestle naked in the back seat of his twenty-five year old car; just as it tickled him to know she was wearing his shorts.

She turned on the blow dryer. Warm, then cool, air played on Heed's scalp stimulating more reminiscence.

"We were the first colored family in Silk and not a peep out of one white mouth. Nineteen forty five. The War was just over. Everybody had money, but Papa had more than most, so he built this house on land as far as you could see. It's Oceanside now, but then it was a rundown orchard full of birds. Hand me the towel."

Heed patted her temples and looked in the mirror.

"We had two Victory celebrations. One at the hotel for the public; and a private one here at the house. People talked about it for years. ^{that} whole summer was a party; started in May and ended August 14. Flags everywhere. Firecrackers and rockets on the beach. Meat was rationed, but Papa had black market connections so we had a truckload. I wasn't allowed in the kitchen, but they needed me then."

"Why wouldn't they let you in the kitchen?"

Heed wrinkled her nose. "Oh, I wasn't much of a cook. Besides I was the wife, you know; the hostess, and the hostess never..."

Heed stopped. Memory of "hostessing" those two kinds of Victory parties in 1945 was swamped by another pair of celebrations, two years later. A sixteenth birthday ^{plus} graduation party for Christine. Again, a family dinner at the house preceding a public celebration at the Hotel. In June of 1947, Heed had not seen her used-to-be friend in four years. The Christine that stepped out of ^{Papa's} ~~Cosby's~~ Cadillac was nothing like the one who, in 1943, had left home rubbing tears from her cheeks with her palm. The eyes above those cheeks had widened—and cooled. Two braids had become a page

boy smooth as the wearer's smile. They did not pretend to like each other and sitting at the table hid curiosity like pros. The sun, dipping and red as watermelon, left its heat behind—moist and buzzing. Heed remembered the baby-powder smell from the bowl of gardenias; their edges browning like toast. And hands: a casual wave at a fly, a dinner napkin pressed to a damp upper lip; ^{Papa's} ~~Cosey's~~ forefinger playing his mustache. In silence they waited for L. She had cooked a sumptuous meal and prepared a cake. Sixteen candles waited to be lit in a garden of sugar roses and ribbons of blue marzipan. The conversation had been polite, hollow, stressed by the grating ceiling fan and meaningful looks between May and Christine. ^{Papa} ~~Cosey~~, in the grip of post-war excitement, had talked about his plans to improve the hotel, including a Carrier air [^]cooling system.

"Wouldn't that be wonderful," said Christine. "I had forgotten how hot it gets here."

"We'll do the ^{Papa} ~~Hotel~~ first," said ~~Cosey~~. "Then the house."

Heed, feeling a flush of authority, chimed in. "The bedroom fans is in good shape, but I do feel badly about the one in this room."

"You mean 'bad.' You feel 'bad.'"

"That's what I said."

"You said 'badly'. Feel is an intransitive verb in your sentence and is modified by an adjective. If you really mean you feel 'badly', then you are saying something like 'My fingers are numb and therefore they don't touch things well.' Now if you...."

"Don't you sit at my table and tell me how to talk."

"Your table?"

"Be quiet, you two. Please? Just be quiet."

"Whose side you on?"

"Do what I say, Heed."

"You taking her side!" Heed stood up.

"Sit down, you hear me?"

Heed sat down in the thumping silence, aware of magnified hands and gardenia petals until L entered with a champagne bucket. In her presence Heed calmed enough to hold up her glass for the pouring.

"The other one," he said. "That's a water glass."

May didn't try to hide her glee as she exchanged glances with her

daughter. When Heed caught the smile, the look, she burst out of

herself and, throwing the incorrect glass at her husband, rushed past him toward the stairs. ^{Papa} Cosey rose and grabbed her arm. Then with a kind of old-timey grace, he put her across his knee and spanked her. Not hard. Not cruel. Methodically, reluctantly, ^{the way} like you would any other brat. When he stopped there was no way for her to get out of the room onto the stairs. No way at all, but she made it. The conversation that picked up as she stumbled up the stairs was relaxed, as though an awful smell that had been distracting the guests had been eliminated at last.

Junior cut off the dryer. "What about your own family? You never talk about them."

Heed made a sound in her throat and waved a fin.

Junior laughed. "I know what you mean. I'd swallow lye before I'd live with my folks. They made me sleep on the floor."

"That's funny," said Heed. "First few weeks after my wedding, I couldn't sleep anywhere but. That's how used to it I was."

Heed glanced at Junior's face in the mirror, thinking: That's what it is, what made me take her on. We're both out here, alone. With fire ants for

family. Her marriage was a chance to get out, to learn how to sleep in a real bed, to have somebody ask you what you wanted to eat then labor over the dish. All in a big hotel where clothes were ironed and folded or hung on hangers—not nails. Where you could see city women sway on a dance floor; hide behind the stage to watch musicians tune up and singers fix their underwear or take a final sip before going on to sing "In the ~~Dark~~, in the ~~Dark~~." Right after the wedding, her own family had begun to swarm and bite for blood. Whatever it ^{cost} ^{in humiliation} the Cosey's were (had become) her family. Although it turned out she had to fight for her place in it, Papa made it possible. When he was around everybody backed off. Time after time he made it clear—they would respect her. Like the time they came back from a three day "honeymoon". Heed was bursting with stories to tell Christine. ^{Wobbling} ^{Stumbling} in her ^{new} sling back pumps, half falling up the steps, she was met not just by May's scorn, but Christine's sulk as well.

May, of course, started it, laughing aloud at Heed's new clothes; but Christine joined in with a smirk Heed had never seen before.

"What in God's name have you got on?" said May, holding her forehead. "You look like a, a...."

"Whoa. Whoa," said Papa. "I'm not having that. Both of you—quit it. You hear me?"

Trembling, Heed looked to Christine for help. There wasn't any. Her friend's eyes were cold, as though Heed had betrayed her, instead of the other way around. L came forward with a scissors and cut the price tag hanging from Heed's sleeve. What, she wondered, are they laughing at? The Cuban heel shoes? The black net stockings? The pretty purple suit? Papa had been charmed with her purchases. He had taken her to a fine department store that did not have a "No Colored" sign or policy, where you could use the bathroom, try on hats (they put tissue inside the crown), and undress in a special room in the back. Heed picked out things glamorous women in the ~~H~~otel wore and believed ^{that} the wide smile of the clerk and the merry laughter of other customers showed their delighted approval of her choices. "You look like a dream," one of them said and sputtered with pleasure. As she came out of the dressing room in a creamy beige dress with red silk roses sewed at the shoulder, the low cut bosom gathered for breasts somewhere in her future, Papa smiled, nodded and said "We'll take it. We'll take it all."

Every day for three days they shopped, Papa letting her buy anything she wanted, including Parisian Night lipstick. They played "wrestle" in the morning, then ate lunch at Reynaud's (Unlike Cosey's Hotel, this one had no dining room, which pleased Papa, who was always looking for colored businesses less satisfactory than his.) He took her to Broad Street, Edwards Bros., Woolworth's, Hansons, where she bought not just high heeled shoes, but huaraches, shiny bedroom slippers and fish net hose. Only in the evening was she alone, ~~But~~ ^{But} for a few hours while he visited friends, tended to business. None of which Heed minded because she had coloring books, picture magazines, paper dolls to cut out and clothe. Then there was the street. From their second floor window, she watched in gaping fascination ^{AND} the people traffic below. Black square-topped automobiles, bleating. Soldiers, sailors, women in tiny hats like pin cushions. Vegetable stands in front of Uncle Sam Wants You posters.

Papa took her to see "How Green Was My Valley," "Kitty Foyle. She sobbed so loud and long at "Grapes of Wrath," his handkerchief was squeezing wet. Wonderful as the honeymoon was, she could hardly wait to get back and tell Christine all about it. Hurt by her reception, she kept her

stories to herself. The one time she tried to make peace with Christine, offering to let her wear her wedding ring, the kitchen exploded. The four of them ¹/_m May, L, Christine and Heed ¹/_m were preparing vegetables when Heed slipped off the ring, held it out to Christine, and said, "You can wear it, if you want."

"You little fool!" May shouted.

Even L turned on her. "Watch yourself," she said. "The streets don't go there."

Christine burst out crying and ran through the back door. From the rain barrel, Heed could hear her shouting: "Ou-yidagay a ave-slidagay! E-hidagay ought-bidagay ou-yidagay ith-widagay a ears-yidagay ent-ridagay an-didagay a andy-cidagay ar-bidagay!"

Heed examined the string beans as closely as she could while "Ave-slidagay! Ave-slidagay!" rang in her head.

That night when Christine was dragged back by Chief Buddy Silk from a ^{foolish} failed attempt to run away, and got slapped in the face for it, Heed did not speak one word to her. Instead, she stood on the stairs with Papa and took his hand in hers. Two weeks later, Christine was gone, leaving Heed

fending for herself. L and Papa her saviors in that puzzling world.

"I never ~~really~~ knew my ~~Daddy~~," said Junior. "He was killed in the army. Vietnam."

"At least he went," said Heed.

"And my mother didn't care a thing about me."

"Mine, neither."

"Maybe I should get married, like you did."

"Be careful."

"Well, you got this nice big house ~~and everything~~ ^{out of it}."

"My Vietnam. Except I come out alive." So far, she thought. ^

"Listen." She reached back to touch Junior's elbow. "There is something I want you to do for me. Together. We have to do it together.

There's something in it for you as well as me."

"Sure. What?"

"There's some documents I need. But they're in a place I can't get to by myself. You'll have to take me there and then you have to help me find them."

"Take you where?"

He did leave me well off. "

] "Is that because he ~~loved~~ ^{felt sorry for} you?"

] "Sorry? What makes you say that?"

] "Well, not sorry. I didn't mean that. I meant

After 1947 she never heard him say ~~the word~~ ^{it either}

Not to her, ^{anyway} and she listened for 24 years. The screams that shot from her mouth when he died were in recognition that she would never hear ^{the word} it again.

he must have known you'd be alone. "

"Of course he did. But that wasn't pity. It was, was...o" She couldn't say it and

"To the ~~Hotel~~. The attic. We'll need a fountain pen."

Junior couldn't find him. She looked for him in other rooms, because ^{when she WAS} sitting in his study and wearing his tie, there was no trace of after shave; no "Hey, sweet thing" whispered in her ear. Maybe she didn't need him to tell her. To approve. Maybe he took for granted she'd know what to do. First, check on Christine; make sure they were still friendly in case Heed's plans went bust. Getting Heed out to the car unseen by Christine should be easy, since the house schedule was as reliable as Correctional's.

That evening, she squatted near Christine ^{who WAS} sitting on the back porch with a soda can in one hand and a cigarette in the other. ^(over)

"Can I have one?"

"Buy your own. You get paid. I don't."

"Suppose I can't afford it, Christine."

"You can afford that metal in your nose, you can afford cigarettes."

"Well, I don't smoke anyway. Stinks."

Christine laughed, thinking of the waft Junior ^{had} brought into the house the day she came. "Good for you," she said.

Indifferent to the chilly weather, Christine
~~was wearing~~^{wore} a sleeveless blouse under her apron.
Junior pointed to the cigarette pack.

"How come you don't get paid? You work harder than me."

"Because your boss lady is insane as well as evil and needs help."

"I help her."

"Not that kind of help. You don't notice anything strange about her?"

"A little. Maybe."

"A little? Who don't leave a room for years but a demented person?"

What you all talk about up there, anyway?"

"Stuff. Her life."

"God."

"She showed me pictures. Wedding pictures. I saw a beautiful picture of you at her wedding. You were hot, Christine, really hot. You've known her a long time, right? You cousins or something?"

"Cousins?" Christine lips curled.

"You're not related? Just friends?"

"She is not my friend. She's my grandmother."

"Say what?"

"You heard me. Grandmother. Get it?"

"But you're the same age."

"I'm older. Eight months older."

"Wait a minute." Junior frowned. "She said she was married for thirty years and he died twenty five years ago. So she must have been...a baby."

"Mention was made." Christine sipped from the can.

"And you were...how old?"

"Twelve. My grandfather married her when she was eleven. We were best friends. One day we built castles on the beach; next day he sat her in his lap. One day we were playing house under a quilt; next day she slept in his bed. One day we played jacks; the next she was fucking my grandfather." Christine surveyed her diamonds, waved her fingers like a hula dancer. "One day this house was mine; next day she owned it."

She put her cigarettes away and stood up. "It does something to the mind, marrying before your first period. She needs professional help, don't you think?" Christine blew on her rings. "There's virgins and then there's children," she said, and left Junior to ponder the thought.

Back in the kitchen, Christine began to perspire. She put her forehead against the refrigerator door, then opened it for the cool air. The wave of

again as it had outside on the steps
returned quickly and
heat receded ~~but~~ left her trembling. It had been a while since the veil parted to expose a wide plateau of lifeless stone and she wondered if it was she, not Heed, who needed professional care. Extracting some ice cubes, she wrapped them in a towel, touching her throat, temples, wrists until she felt steady. The bleakness remained. A clear sight of the world as it was—barren dark ugly without remorse. What was she doing here? her mind scurried; her motives pointless. She knew she was playing busy, but how else to set it aside—the bleak rock stripped of green. Closing her eyes, the cold towel pressed against her lids, she whispered No! and straightened her spine. This was important. Her struggle with Heed was neither mindless nor wasted. She would never forget how she had fought for her, defied her mother to protect her, to give her clothes: dresses, shorts, a bathing suit, sandals; to picnic alone on the beach. They shared stomach ^{ache} laughter, a secret language, and knew as they slept together ^{that} one's dreaming was the same as the other one's. Then to have your best and only friend leave the squealing splash in your bath tub, trade the stories made up and whispered beneath sheets in your bed for a dark room at the end of the hall reeking of liquor and an old man's business, doing things no

one would describe but were so terrible no one could ignore them. She would not forget that. Why should she? It changed her life. It changed May for life. Even L's jaw dropped.

After the wedding, they tried to play together occasionally, but with each one lying in wait for the other's insult, the efforts ended in quarrel. Then tears, May's hand gripping ; words hissed lest Grandpa Cosey hear you mocking his bride.

There was a heap of blame to spread. He was the Big Man who, with no one to stop him, could get away with it and anything else he wanted. Then there was her mother who chose to send her away rather than confront him. Put her in a far away school and discouraged summer vacations at home. For her own good, she said, arranging church camps and summers with classmates. Once May enrolled her as a counselor in a Settlement House for Negro girls who had run away rather than be mistreated at home. Nevermind Christmas packages in the mail, expensive, wrong size shoes in September; in spite of envelopes fat with lies and money, the rejection was obvious. L too, was to blame; she was the only

peacemaker around, whether glaring or shaking her head, but she would take no one's side. The real betrayal, however, lay at the feet of the friend who grinned happily as she was led down the hall to darkness, liquor smell, and old man business. So who had to go? Who had to leave her bedroom, her playhouse, the sea? The only innocent one in the place, that's who. Even when she returned, a sixteen year old, poised and ready to take her place in the family, they threw her away, because by then Heed had become grown-up-nasty. Mean enough to set her on fire.

Christine went to her room and sat down in the worn recliner she preferred to the scratchy sofa. The perspiration was ebbing; the dizziness receding. The melancholy persisted. "I must have been the one who dreamed up this world," she thought. "No nice person could have."

It should have been different. She meant it to be different. On the train, heading home from Maple Valley, she had carefully planned her attitude, her behavior. Everything would come off nicely since her return began with a celebration celebrating everything: her birthday, graduation, the new house. She was determined to be civil to Heed, in control, but nicely so, the way they were taught to behave at Maple Valley. How or why

she got lured into showing off about grammar, she couldn't recall. What she most remembered was her grandfather spanking Heed, and the ^{prick} ~~rush~~ of pleasure that came when he took his granddaughter's side against his wife's, for a change, taking steps to show the kind of behavior he prized. Christine's delight was deep and rampant as the three of them—the real Cosey's—left together, drove off in the big automobile, the unworthy one nowhere to be seen.

When she and May returned, smoke was billowing from her bedroom window. Racing, screaming into the house and up the stairs they found L smothering the blackened sheets with a twenty pound sack of sugar, carmelizing evil.

Again, it was Christine, not Heed, who had to leave. Bill Cosey, ^{had} left the hotel party abruptly to go nobody knew where to. Afraid and angry, mother and daughter stayed awake seething until 3:00 am when he came back, barefoot as a yard dog, holding his shoes in his hand. Instead of fury, instead of locating Heed to throw her back where she came from, he laughed.

"She's going to kill us," May hissed.

"The bed was empty," he said, still chuckling.

"Tonight it was! What about tomorrow?"

"I'll speak to her."

"Speak? Speak? ^{Bill} Mr. ~~Cosey~~, please!" May was begging.

"Calm down, May. I said I'd take care of it." He moved, as though the conversation was over and he needed rest. May touched his elbow.

"What about Christine? She can't live here like this. It's dangerous."

"It won't happen again," he said, hitting the word 'won't.' "

"She's dangerous, Mr. ^{Bill} ~~Cosey~~. You know she is."

He looked at May then, for what seemed an age and nodded. "You may be right." Then, touching his moustache, "Is there somewhere she can go for a week or two?"

"Heed?"

"No," he said, surprised at the suggestion, then frowning. "Christine."

^{But}
"Mr. ~~Cosey~~, Heed started the fire. Why should Christine leave?"

"I'm not married to Christine. I married Heed. Besides it will be for just a little while. Til things get settled around here."

Just like that, Christine is to be packed off, sent away to the house of a

216

220

21

classmate. For a week or two. A "vacation," they will tell people whether anyone believed it or not. Christine will call and May will get on the line, make arrangements.

Standing there in a movie star's gown, rhinestones glittering its top, Christine made up her own mind. He never once looked at her. He had laughed. The cheap little bitch had tried to kill her—sort of—and might succeed one day would he laugh then too would he look finally at the charred flesh of his own flesh and settle that also as though it were a guest's bounced check or a now-show musician or a quarrel with a salesman who had short changed an order of Scotch whiskey. Later, for a visit with a classmate. Later, crazies. Put on your shoes, old man and look at me good now, because you will never see me again.

217 Blank.

218

221

1

You are always thinking about death, I told her. No, she said. Death is always thinking about me. ~~That~~ That was May's way of explaining why she hoarded and buried and preserved and stole. Death was trying to pry open the door, and she needed all her cunning to stave him off. Her daughter was the loose hinge. A weakness that could lead to the loss of everything, Christine had to be defended not only from what came in and snatched her husband, but from the live death of poverty, the Negro kind May was familiar with. Unhoused, begging; their Christian faith demanding never ending gratitude for a plate of hominy. Other than disapproving whitefolk, nothing scared her more. She gave herself every opportunity to recount how Mr. Cosey came from a long line of quiet, prosperous slaves and thrifty freedmen—each generation adding to the inheritance left by the previous one. Independent contractors, she called them. Cobblers, seamstresses, carpenters, iron mongers, blacksmiths, unpaid laborers and

She didn't know ^{SQUAT} about death.
She thought it was going to heaven or
hell. It never occurred to her it might be
just more of the same: you could do
anything you wanted ^{except} ~~but~~ you're [↑] all
alone doing it. But

craftsmen who refined their skills, narrowed and pointed them for rich folks who would gift and tip them. The carpenters made fine pianos; the iron mongers served a local college laboratory. One, a blacksmith, took his craft to a horse farm where he made himself first reliable, then indispensable then profitable. In that position his claim to wages instead of shelter was accepted. Little by little, the story went, they gathered and held on to what they earned for offspring they told and taught to do better. But they kept low, no bragging, no sass—just curry and keep close relationships with the whites who mattered. That was the street-sweet story anyway—the one that belonged to somebody else that she and Mr. Cosey took for themselves. He knew better, but she believed it and that's why little Heed with a t-shirt for a dress looked to her like the end of all that. A bottle fly let in through the door, already buzzing at the food table and, if it settled on Christine, bound to smear her with the garbage it was born in. She had put up with the girls' friendship until Mr. Cosey messed with it. Then she had to figure something out fast. If Heed and Christine had ideas about being friends and behaving like sisters just because a reckless old reprobate had a whim, May put a stop to them. If she couldn't swat the bottle fly, she could

tear its wings, Raid-spray the air so it couldn't breathe—or turn her daughter into its ally.

Pity. They were just little girls. In a year they would be bleeding—hard. Skin clear and death defying. They had no business in that business.

The day Mr. Cosey told us who he was marrying was the opening day of May's personal December 7. In an eye blink she went from defense to war. And as any honest veteran can tell you, war is good for the lonely; an outright comfort to the daft. She wasn't always like that. When I first saw her in 1929 standing next to Billy Boy she looked just like what she was: the last daughter of an itinerant preacher who had to accept clothes from any congregation he could attract. A pretty under-^{cherished} ~~loved~~ girl in an over-mended coat. The little scrap of fur collar, the lettuce ^{green} dress and black and white pumps put you right away in mind of a rummage sale. And while I was wondering where Mr. Cosey's son found her, she raised Billy Boy's hand to her mouth and kissed it. The way her eyes ate everything, traveling up and around the hotel lobby, I thought she would behave like a ^{guest} ~~visitor~~ expecting to be waited on. I was dead wrong about that. She put off unpacking her cardboard suitcase; just changed out of that hand-me-down

dress and started in. "Let's," she said, in a soft, sweet voice. "Let's polish this. Let's move that, clean under here, wipe there..." How could we help but smile? Her meringue voice, her lady-like manners. Mr. Cosey most of all, seeing his son had chosen a wife certain to be a plus.

She moved Billy Boy from waiting tables to tending bar and then booking performers which left Mr. Cosey free to think about money and play. Even pregnancy didn't slow her down. May was the first mother I saw who weaned her baby at three months. When Billy Boy died in '35 ^(over) and Mr. Cosey ~~went~~ ^{sank} so ^{low} it was left to ^{to keep} May and me ~~kept~~ things up and going. For the next seven years she put all her energy into the Hotel's business, ~~leaving Christine to me to raise~~ ^{that}. Seven years of her hard work were rewarded with "I'm taking a wife. You know her. Christine's little friend." Rewarded by watching her father-in-law marry her twelve year old daughter's playmate and put that playmate ahead of everything including herself, her daughter, and all she had worked for. Not only that. She was supposed to teach and train the playmate to take charge of us. Most people married young back then, ⁹ (the sooner a girl was taken over by a man, the better) but eleven? It was worrisome for sure, but there was more to it than age. May's new mother-

went so fast we didn't have time
He ~~was~~ sick
to tend him. Christine crawled
under my bed and when I found her
there I let her sleep with me. She was
never a crying child so ^{listening to her} ~~low~~ whimpering
in her sleep was a comfort to me since
May regarded ^{Billy Boy's} ~~his~~ death more of an
insult than a tragedy. Dry-eyed
as a turtle she left Christine to me to
raise.

in-law was not just a child, she was a Johnson. In no wild dream could she have invented a family that scared her more. The fool on German Syrup labels. The savage on Czar's Baking Powder. The brain ^{dead} on Alden's Fruit Vinegar, Korn Kinks Cereal, J.J. Coates Thread and the fly-blown babies on Sanford's Ginger. That's who she saw when she looked at the Johnsons. She might be braiding her hair in the bedroom, patting cool water on her temples in the kitchen, wherever she was her talk was the same: shiftlessness was not a habit; it was a trait; ignorance was destiny; dirt lingered on by choice. She shuddered when she said that being the daughter of a preacher she really tried to dredge up Christian ^{Charity} ~~love~~, but failed whenever she looked at a Johnson. Or heard about them. Listen to their names, she said. Overblown names people give to mules and fishing boats. Bride. Welcome Morning. Princess Starlight. Righteous Spirit. Solitude. Heed the Night. Add to that the main calamity—the unapologetic shiftlessness of the parents, Wilbur and Surrey, who thought sitting in a rowboat with a string was work. Having lost two children to the seabed, they used their grief first like a begging cup, then as a tax levied on their neighbors. So why not let their youngest girl marry a fifty-two year old man

for who knew how much money changed hands. If he gave them a two-dollar bill, May said, a dollar and fifty cents refund was due. But we all knew Mr. Cosey never bought anything cheap—or if he did, it came to have value in time. Like a child who would soon grow up and bear other children. Which brings me to the other thing bothering May. The Johnsons were not just poor and trifling, their girls were thought to be mighty quick in the skirt-raising department. So what must have attracted Mr. Cosey to Heed in the first place could infect her ^{OWN} daughter. Before May had even begun instruction about menstruation, or thought of sheltering Christine from unsuitable boys, her home was throbbing with girl flesh made sexy, an atmosphere that Christine might soak up faster than a fruit cake soaks up rum. And all because Mr. Cosey wanted children.

Well, that's what he told his friends and maybe himself. But not me. He never told that to me because I had worked for him since I was fourteen and knew the truth. He liked her. Besides, like a lot of folk did when war plants desegregated, his sporting woman left town. That was the truth but not all of it. I remember him telling me a tale about some child who fell down in horse manure running after a posse and how the white folks

laughed. So cruel, the crowd enjoying themselves at murder. He repeated it every time he need an example of heartless whites, so I supposed the point was he laughed too and apologized for it by marrying Heed. Just like he avoided Christine because she had his father's gray eyes, he picked

Heed to make old Dark groan. I've come to believe every family has a

Dark and needs one. ^{All over the world} In every country, tribe, race; in every business and

religion, ^{traitors help} ~~treachery~~ equals progress. It nestles power, ^{hides but} ~~licks its boots~~, learns

~~the lingo and protects itself from discovery. Most do it for coin, some for~~

~~flag although the lingo calls it "service", "dedication", "morals", or even~~

^{Sort of} "freedom". ^{smallpox} Like the ~~plague~~ filling the cemetery, ^{vaccination} ~~treachery~~ purifies its

^{survives it} survivors, helps them know the difference between a strong mind and a

healthy one; between the righteous and the right—which is, after all,

progress. The problem for those left alive is what to do about

^{revenge} ~~vengeance~~—how to escape the sweetness of its rot. So you can see why

families make the best enemies. They have time and convenience to honey-

butter the wickedness they prefer. Short sighted, though. What good does

it do to keep a favorite hate going when the very person you've poisoned

your life with is the one (maybe the only one) able or willing to carry you to

the bathroom when you can't get there on your own? I sat at the bottom of May's bed or on top of her dresser sometimes and watched Heed soap her bottom, mash badly cooked food to just the right consistency. She cut May's toe nails and wiped white flakes from her eyelids. The girl May lived to mistreat was the one she depended on to hold her head over the slop jar. Nagging her every second, but doing it: airing, cleaning, spooning, rubbing, turning her over to the cooler side of the bed on nights hot enough to make you cry. And there's not much sense in wasting time and life trying to put a woman in the asylum just to end up chipping ice for her to suck on. Where's the gain in setting fire to the nest you live in if you have to pay ^{live in} ~~pay~~ ^{ashes} the interest for fifty years? I saw what Mr. Cosey did to Heed at the birthday party. My heart reached out to her and I let him know it. While he fumbled for something in his pocket, and May and Christine were waiting in the car, I tapped him on the shoulder. "Don't you never lay a hand on her again no matter what. Do, and I'm long gone." He looked at me with Billy Boy's eyes and said, "I made a mistake, L. A big mistake." "Tell her," I said. All I got was a sigh for an answer and if I hadn't been so agitated I would have known right then who he was sighing over.

I never did learn what really happened at the dance, but my mother didn't knit me. Soon as they left I knew Heed was up to something. She telephoned one of the hotel waiters; told him to come get her. About an hour or so after she left I heard a truck drive up and a door slam. Then high heels running across the hall. Not five minutes passed when I smelled smoke. I had the sense to climb up there with a pail of water and had to run back and forth from the bathroom sink to fill it, but water's no use with mattress fire. You think it's out, but deep in there it's waiting, biding its time till you turn your back. Then it eats the whole place up. I hauled the biggest sack of sugar I could find up there. When May and Christine got back the bed was quiet, like syrup.

Heed never admitted or denied the fire and I used to wonder why, if she was mad at him, she took it out on Christine instead. I don't wonder anymore. And I don't wonder why his mood stayed pleasant when he heard what Heed had done. May, naturally, was unforgiving and, twenty-eight years later, loved the sight of her enemy forced to feed her. More satisfying than if her daughter had been her nurse—which she was eventually.

Heed snarled, as you would expect, at Christine's break-in, but she was happy to shift May onto her. And just in case Christine looked at the job, changed her mind and left, Heed took to her bed and let her hands fold. At first I thought May would be relieved by her daughter's return, even though Christine was a big disappointment to her. Their quarrels were name-calling contests separated by years of nothing. So I was surprised at May's reaction. She was afraid. Not sure if her daughter could be trusted with a pillow. But Christine jumped right in with beautiful cooking and plants to fill the room, both of which, if truth be told, hurried the sick woman along. Christine played prodigal girl for a year or so, then, on one of the prettiest dawns, May died. Smiling.

I don't know what the smile was about. Nothing she aimed for had gone her way—except for the hatchet she threw between Heed and Christine when they were little girls. That stuck. Cleaved the ground they stood on. So when Christine leaned in to wipe crumbs from her mother's chin, May saw a familiar look in her daughter's eyes. Like before, they whispered about Heed, refreshed themselves with old stories of how she tried to trick them into believing she could write; the chop that fell to the floor because

231

11

she couldn't manage the knife; how her coddling of Mr. Cosey failed to limit him to her sheets; the hat she chose for his funeral. Mother and daughter became friends at last. ^{Decades (over)} ~~Twenty-five or so years~~ of disgust at the other one's behavior ^p ^{all} was gone. Dead the question of what was best for the race because Heed answered it for them. She was the throw back they both had fought. Neither won, but they agreed on the target so I guess that's why May smiled into that lovely dawn.

Heed closed her fingers. Christine decorated hers. No matter. They battled on as though they were champions instead of sacrifices. A crying shame.

229

f bitterness sealed by arguments
over Malcolm X and Reverend King,

232

230

7

GUARDIAN

233

231

"I don't know what to say to the boy."

"Well, think of something. Fast. Or I will."

"What? What can you tell him?"

"The purpose of a zipper. The responsibility of a father. The mortality rate of AIDS."

"AIDS?"

"Who knows where she's been or with who? Who is she, anyway? Got no people, nobody ever heard of her. Dresses like a street woman. Acts like a, a..."

"She wouldn't be working for them if she wasn't all right. Had references or some such."

"You senile or just pretending?"

"Look who's talking."

"Christine has a reputation make Jezebel cringe, and Heed's a Johnson remember."

"What's that supposed to mean?"

"It means morals of any kind whatsoever are not known in that family. What would Heed, who got married at the ripe old age of eleven, know about morals, restraint...."

"She never ran around on Cosey and you know she never condoned Christine's past. You can't blame her for what her daddy did."

"No, but I can take note of what her daddy is. Did she or didn't she try to burn her own house down?"

"I never did believe that."

"Well, the seed don't fall far from the pod. If they take in that kind of girl to work for them, what else might be going on over there? How can you trust either one of them? Just because Heed lets Romen clean her yard doesn't mean she's changed."

"Changed from what?"

"From a deceitful bitch who has to control people."

"I thought this was about Romen's behavior."

"It is. Behavior influenced by an ex-hooker and a witch. Listen, Sandler, I am not about to be a great grandmother or an unpaid nurse or a deep pocketbook for some trashy teen mama just because you don't know what to say to a fourteen[^] year[^] old boy. Besides, we're responsible for Romen. Our own daughter expects us to be. Counts on us to be."

Sandler grunted and let his wife's argument, point by point, roll on. He did know what to say to Romen, but he knew it wouldn't matter. Forbidding it would just make the whole thing hotter, more enticing. He wouldn't be telling him to choose one girl over another, but to give up the only one he had complete physical access to. Like telling a duck not to waddle. He would have to think up something else. Condoms at the least, but Vida expected more—an end to the relationship. Add to that improbability the fact that he thought Romen was handling things pretty well, considering. He wasn't doping, ganged up, courting arrest[,] and his house manners had definitely improved. But Vida was right. The neighborhood had changed and so had the times. They didn't know the girl, had no recent knowledge of what the Cosey women might be up to. Just gossip, speculation and grudges from local people who didn't know

anymore than they did. Once upon a time, everybody knew everything. Once upon a time, a man could speak to another about his son or daughter; or a group of women would swoop down on a fast girl. Except the Johnsons. Nobody swooped down on them. They were not typical, even in Up Beach where people lived on top of one another and every cough, every sidelong look was monitored.

Oh, Christ, he thought, that was fifty years ago. What was the point in remembering the good old days as though the past was pure. He knew for a fact it was simply stifled. Vida, in her tale of wickedness, had not said a word about Bill Cosey. She acted as though Heed had chased and seduced a fifty-two year old man older than her father. That she had chosen to marry him rather than having been told to. Vida, like most people, probably ~~hated the idea that~~ *resented the child because* she stayed married to him, liked it, and took over his business. In their minds she was born a liar, a gold digger unable to wait for her twelfth birthday for pay dirt. They forgave Cosey. Everything. Even to the point of blaming a child for a grown man's interest in her. What was she supposed to do? Run away? Where? Was there some place Cosey or Wilbur Johnson couldn't reach?

He had seen Heed more recently than anyone the day he knocked on the door and asked her if she could take Romen on as after school help. She was civil. Neat as a pin, as always. Offered him iced tea, probably to let him see Christine's status in the house. Sandler had always found her less of a pain than others had. Because of his friendship with her husband, he guessed. Her edges were ^{smoothed} ~~softened~~ by his recollection of Bill Cosey telling him that he had not touched her until her period came; waited a year and only then took her on a honeymoon for the initiation. Still she was not easy to be around. He couldn't say whether she was good looking or not because "false", "touchy" were the words that came to his mind about her. False the way anybody would be who had jumped from a log to a castle overnight. Touchy the way anybody would be who had envy plus May on her back. But what Sandler saw was nothing like what Bill Cosey must have seen. For him it was as though twenty-five years hadn't happened. The Heed that Cosey reminisced about in his cups on the boat—as though she were dead—was not a frowning woman always on the look-out for a slight, a chance to find fault, but a long legged angel with candle eyes and a smile he couldn't help but join.

Uneasy with other men's sexual confidences (he certainly wasn't providing any of his own) Sandler always made it his business to change the subject. But he remembered Cosey's dream-bitten expression as he rambled on about his first sight of Heed: hips narrow, chest smooth as a plank, skin soft and damp, like a lip. Invisible navel above ^{SCANT} newborn hair. Cosey never explained the attraction any other way, except to say he couldn't wait to watch her grow. That the steady, up [^] close observation most men don't know the pleasure of kept him not just true, but lively. Listening to Cosey's rapturous description of his wife, Sandler was not as repelled as he'd expected to be since the picture that emerged from the telling called to his mind not a child, [^] but a fashion model. Although by then Cosey was fully involved with grown women, the memory of his child bride still stirred him. Vida had nothing to say about that, and Sandler didn't want the misery of bringing it up, of tilting his wife's idol with a blow of insight.

Oh, well. This is what I'm for, he thought. The day Romen came to stay he knew he had to protect him. From bad cops, street slaughter, dope death, prison shivs and friendly fire in whitefolks wars. He never would have believed a female would be a serious threat and his first real danger.

So he and Vida planned a way for him to be alone with his grandson. To his surprise the boy was as eager as he was. Did he want to talk too?

Vida stood at the window wiping her palms together—a gesture of accomplishment. Seeing her husband and grandson drive off together on an errand soothed her. Romen's generation made her nervous. Nothing learned from her own childhood or from raising Dolly worked with them, and everywhere parents were flummoxed. These days the first thought at Christmas was the children; in her own generation it was the last. Now children wept if their birthdays weren't banquets; then the day was barely acknowledged. The hardship stories told by her parents that mesmerized and steeled her made Romen cover his mouth to disguise a yawn. The gap was certainly normal now, but it wasn't eternal. That kid who threw a bucket of offal on Bill Cosey was not alone. Many had cheered.

Laughter and applause interrupted the singing that ~~extremely~~^{furnace} hot afternoon. Cosey had been repairing a fishing rod in back of the hotel. Casting, re-winding, casting again and then walking around to the front to see what the commotion was; to listen, perhaps, to the singing, or read the signs held aloft, some pleading, some demanding. As he approached, rod

in hand, it looked to somebody like an excuse to raise the level from persuasion to argument to a drama carefully prepared for. A kid leapt forward with a pail and tossed its contents on Bill Cosey. The cheering subsided as Cosey remained where he was, animal waste spattering his shoes and trousers. He didn't move, not even to examine the soiling. Instead he looked at each one as though photographing them. Then he leaned the fishing rod against the porch railing and walked toward them. Slowly.

"Hey Bella. Afternoon, Miss Barnes. Good to see you, George; got that truck running yet?"

He spoke to young and older. "How you, doin' Pete? Your girl still in college? You looking good, Francie. Hi, there, Shoo-fly...."

Courteous replies met his greetings and countered the violent smell of dung ^{clotted} ~~drying~~ on his cuffs and paving his way. Finally he raised his hand in a general farewell and left them as though he'd been inaugurated or baptized. The crowd lingered, but in disarray. Such was the rift between generations in 1968, but Cosey had managed to span it, to de-tox it; to say "I am neither stranger nor enemy." Talk, then, respectful but serious, was

the bridge. Otherwise hog shit filled the gap. He never did what they were asking—give over some land—but he did try. Vida didn't know if it was May or Heed who prevented it, but she was thankful somebody had. Housing was more important than pottery classes. What would they be now? Homeless tai chi experts, mis-educated vagabonds raising their children in condemned buildings and flat bed trucks. The choice, she thought, was not whether to surrender to power or dislodge it. It was to do your duty to your family, and, at the moment, that meant serious talk to a grandson. ^(over)

Fifteen aluminum-foiled platters were stacked on newspaper in the back seat, a name taped to each one. The list of shut-ins Vida had clipped to the visor included addresses, as though he might forget that Alice Brent was rooming now; that Mr. Royce had moved in with his daughter who worked nights. Or that Miss Coleman, still on crutches, was staying with her blind brother on Governor Street. The shut-ins had three choices: fish, chicken or barbecue, and the conflagration of aromas changed his car from a machine to a kitchen where talk could be easy.

Romen turned the radio on soon as he slid in, fiddling the buttons until he found what he liked: the music Vida made him wear headphones to

She believed
Roman had a natural tendency
to care for people. But he seemed
nowadays not to know what to do with it.

^{at home}
hear. That way only the throb and Romen's listening face disturbed her—not
the words. Sandler liked the music but agreed with his wife that unlike the
suggestive language of their own generation ("I want some seafood, mama.
Chicken and rice are very nice but gimme seafood, mama."), the language
of Romen's music had the subtlety of an oil spill. "Polluting and disfiguring
the natural mind." said Vida. Sandler reached over and turned the knob to
"off." He expected a whine from Romen, but none came. They rode in
silence until he arrived at the first house on the list. Sandler had to pull the
hands of three children away from his trousers to get to the front door.

^{the idea}
Alice Brent insisted on inviting him in, relinquishing only when he told her
she was first but he had fourteen deliveries left. Flattered, she let him go.
He heard Romen click the radio back off, too late for Sandler not to notice.

At least he respects my preference, he thought. Pulling away from the curb
he tried to think of some small talk. Something they could share before the

^{He and Vida}
interrogation or the lecture began. ~~They~~ had no son. Dolly, a ^{sweet-tempered} lovely

obedient child, directed whatever rebellion she felt first into an early
marriage, then into the armed forces. But it couldn't be that hard.

Sandler's own father and grandfather had no trouble telling him what to do.

Short biting commands: "never carry a lazy man's load," when he hauled too much at once in order to save himself frequent trips. "If she don't respect herself she won't respect you" or "Don't hang your pants where you can't hang your hat," when he claimed a quick conquest. No long sermons and no talking back. None of that worked with Romen. Sulk was the result of Sandler's efforts along those lines. Nineties children didn't want to hear "sayings" or be managed by lessons too dusty to be read let alone understood. They got better advice from their hammering music. Straight no chaser. Black no sugar. Direct as bullet.

"She pregnant?"

Romen was startled but not angry or evasive. "No! Why you ask me that?"

Good, thought Sandler. Direct like his own father but minus the ^{Because} threat. "You spend an awful lot of time with her. Doing what?"

"Just stuff."

"What stuff?"

"Ride around, you know," said Romen. "Went out to that old hotel last Saturday. Just looking around." For a floor, a pallet, anything would

do as long as it was in a strange place. His palms were wet with excitement because she insisted he drive. Not just because he didn't know how, but also because she liked to nuzzle and distract him while he struggled to control the wheel, and for the thrill of nearly hitting a tree or skidding into a ditch while fingering each other.

"You got in there?" asked Sandler

"Yeah, it was open." The padlocked doors, the windows tight as iron so angered Romen he rammed his fist into a pane, matching the determination of Junior's hand in his jeans. They had thought the place would be scary: cobwebs and garbage-y corners. Instead the kitchen, glowing in noon light, welcomed them to its table top as well as between its legs. Other rooms were dim, but no less promising. Junior counts each as they explore themselves in every one, all the way from the lobby floor to the top.

"I don't believe anybody's been in there for years. Must be rat casino," Sandler said.

"Sorta." No rats. Birds. Flying and tittering in the rafters. The whole place smelled like wine.

"I take it they didn't get in your way?"

"No. I mean. We were just looking, fooling around, you know?"

"Who you think you talking to?"

"No, like, I mean..."

"Romen, we men or not?"

Romen looked at his high tops. Black canvas with a cool white circle.

"Okay, then. Get off it. Straight, now."

"Okay. Well. She likes, she likes to..." Romen rubbed his knees.

"And you don't?"

"Aw, you know how it is."

"What happened?"

"Nothing. I mean, yeah. We made out and, like, explored everywhere. No big deal." Except for the attic. Getting up there required hoisting himself on a chair to get to the chain to pull down the folded stairs and climb in there. "We need matches," he told her, "or a flashlight." "No we don't," she whispered. "I like it dark." A rustle of wings and twitter as they entered. "Bats?" he wondered, but the wings that flew past, shooting through the hall light filtering into the attic, were yellow and he was about to

say "Look, canaries" when she pulled him to her. It was hide and seek then, tearing through spider web trellises. Losing then finding one another in a pitch black room; stumbling, bumping heads, tripping, falling, grabbing a foot, a neck, then the whole person, they dared darkness with loud laughter and moans of pleasure and pain. ^{Birds screamed.} Cartons toppled and crashed. Floor boards creaked then split beneath them, raking their nakedness and sharpening their play, lending it a high seriousness he could never have imagined.

"No big deal?"

"Well, it did get, you know. Rough, I guess you'd say. Know what I mean?" He pushed ¹ ~~her~~ ¹ ~~no~~, slammed ¹ ~~her~~ ¹ against the wall ¹ ~~after~~ she squeezed his privates—and she had groaned happily instead of crying out ~~or~~ screaming when he bit her nipple ¹ ~~hard~~. It shifted then. From black to red. It was as though outside, looking on he could see himself clearly in the dark—his bruised sweaty skin, his glittering teeth and half-closed eyes.

"What did you do, Romen. ² Out with it."

"Not me. Her."

"Will you just say it, boy. "

✓~~I~~ "She plays hard, that's all. I mean she likes being hurt."

Sandler braked at an intersection. It was a moment before he realized he had stopped at a green light. Romen was looking through the passenger window. ~~Waiting~~ ^TWaiting for some response, some grown man comment worthy of his trust, his confidence, ~~An~~ ^A answer to the question coiled in his confession. A chuckle from his grandfather would mean one thing. Reproach would mean another thing. Was there anything else? The traffic light changed.

"What do you think about that?" Sandler drove slowly through the red light pretending to be searching for an address.

"Weird. Whack." She didn't just like it. She preferred it. But the rush was in him as well. Standing next to himself-impressed, un-smiling-watching himself inflict and suffer pain above scream level where a fresh kind of joy lay, the Romen who could not bear mittens laced to a bed post, purple polish on bitten nails, the wine and vegetable smell of pulling bodies-that Romen evaporated. Never to be seen again, he was certain. Not in full, anyway. Just a faded version who, afterwards, felt annoyance instead of shame. Driving away from the hotel he complained (^{Chill bitch} "Hey, girl."

Stop it. You going to make me have a wreck.") about her leg banging his, the tip of her tongue on his neck, nipples pushed into his ear. Then there was the other thing. For the first time Junior had taken off her boots and her socks. When they had undressed back in the kitchen, as usual she kept her socks on. In the attic she removed them, tying one tightly around his neck. He was half way down the attic ladder when he looked up. Junior, sitting in the opening, had ^{the other} one on, ~~one off~~. He couldn't be sure—light in the hall was scarce—but ^{the foot she slipped} he thought he saw her slip a hoof into the sock, ^{looked to him like a hoof.}

"Whack, huh. Well, I never believed much in free will. It ain't nothing if there's nothing you can control." Sandler parked in front of a pale blue house. The grass in front was patchy, starved for rain. "But of the few things you do have some say over, who you choose to hang out with is one. Looks like you hooked yourself up with somebody who bothers you, ^{more than instinct, it's} makes you feel uneasy. That feeling is information, information you can count on. You can't always pay attention to what other people say, but you should pay attention to that. Don't worry about whether backing off means you a wimp. It can save your life. You not helpless, Romen. Don't ever think that. Sometimes it takes more guts to quit than to keep on. Some

friends you know better than to bring home. There's a good reason for that, you understand me?"

"Yes, sir. I hear you."

"A woman is an important somebody and sometimes you win the triple crown: good food, good sex and good talk. Most men settle for any one, happy as a clam if they get two. But listen, let me tell you something. A good man is a good thing, but there is nothing in the world better than a good good woman. She can be your mother, your wife, your girlfriend, your sister, or somebody you work next to. Don't matter. You find one, stay there. You see a scary one, make tracks."

(over)

^ The platters were cold but still savory and Sandler's mood was cheerful as they completed the deliveries. Romen was eager to help, jumping out first at each stop, lifting trays like a waiter as he trotted to the doors. Vida would be pleased. Don't fret, he'd tell her. Relax. He glanced at his grandson who had not turned on the radio, just ^{lay}~~laid~~ back on the head rest, asleep.

Romen, eyes closed, swallowed the saliva gathering in his mouth in anticipation of Junior's. Just talking about her turned him on. No matter

] "I got you," said Romen.

what bothered him, she knocked him out. More than at first when she was the starter. Now with the tender mixed with the rough, the trite language of ~~love~~^{desire} smithereened by obscenities, he was the one in charge. He could beat her up if he wanted to and she would still go down. Funny. She was like a gorgeous pet. Feed it or whip it—it ~~loved~~^{lapped} you anyway.

The radio and tape player was for herself. The short handled sponge mop was for Heed. So was the hair brush with bristle ~~softer~~^{finer} than the other one. Junior spread the purchases on the dining room table. Heed might not appreciate the brush, but she would love the convenience of the little mop for personal hygiene. It even had a wrist loop so it wouldn't slip from hands that don't work properly. The best thing, thought Junior, was to convince her to get out of that tub and into a shower. Have a little seat put in there. Safer. Easier. Get her to have two showers installed--one for the second floor as well. All that cash and nothing to spend it on. Locking herself in at night, going nowhere in the day. Now she wanted to be driven out to the ~~Hotel~~, in secret. Neither Heed nor Christine paid any attention to the rest of the house--what was needed in it. The dining room, big, never

used, should be done over. Get rid of the ceiling fan, the ugly table. Put in some sofas, chairs, a television. Junior smiled realizing she was turning the space into Correctional's Rec Room. Well, why not? And the living room, too needed help. It had a re-run look like a house in an old tv show with loud rich kids and talky parents. She walked across the hall and sat on the living room sofa. A sectional, turquoise on once-white carpeting. The glittery pear[^] shaped lamps on the end tables were both cracked. Two panels of striped drapes sagged from their rods; others were ripped. Battle signs, she thought. Before they got too old or tired to do it anymore and settled for un-smash[^]-able silence.

Sitting there, Junior felt the kick of being, living, in a house, a real house, her first. A place with different reasons for each room and different things to put in them. She wondered what her Good Man liked. Velvet? Wicker? Had he picked this stuff? Did he even care? You didn't like it here, did you? Who broke the lamps? Who glued them back, Christine? Was it Heed who grabbed the drapes? She talks about you all the time. About how ^{adored} much she ~~loved~~ you, but she's faking it, right? And Christine hates you. Your eyes are smiling in your picture but your mouth looks

hungry. You married an eleven year old girl. I ran away when I was eleven. They brought me back then put me in Correctional. I had a G.I. Joe but they took it. If you knew me then, nobody would have messed ^{with} ~~over~~ me. You'd have taken care of me because you understand me and everything and won't let anybody get me. Did you marry Heed to protect her? Was that the only way? An Old Man tried to make me do things. Force me. I didn't though. If you'd been there you'd have killed him. They said I tried to, but I didn't. Try to, I mean. I know you called me here. I read the ad in a paper I found in the bus station. It was lying right next to me on the bench. A long shot. I took two twenties from a woman's wallet. She left her purse on the sink when she went to the other end of the bathroom to dry her hands. I knocked her purse over and apologized. She didn't check. ^{Lula} ~~Dotty~~ loaned me some of her clothes. Kind of. I mean she would've loaned them if I'd asked her to. I met her in the Red Moon. Correctional gave me one hundred dollars for three years' work. I spent it in movies and restaurants. ^{Lula} ~~Dotty~~ waitressed at the Red Moon. We got on; laughed a lot. She invited me to stay over when I told her I was sleeping in daylight. Church pews, movies, in the sand near the piers. Moving all the

252
253

time so Cops wouldn't see me and think I was drunk or on something. I never drink or do dope. It feels good, but you miss a lot when your head is fucked. I don't want to miss anything, anything at all. Being locked away all those years. My fault, I guess. I was fifteen and on my way out. I should have known. But I only knew Boys, not Men. Do you like my Boyfriend? He's beautiful, isn't he? Who has legs like that? His shoulders are a mile wide and they don't move when he walks. ~~Love him.~~ God. (So nice and mean. ~~And he loves me to death.~~ I want to keep him, okay? He was late today because he had to be with his Grandfather. It was ice cold in the garage, but we fucked anyway eating barbecue. You should have seen us. But you did, didn't you? You go wherever you want and I know you liked the ~~Hotel~~ better than here. I can tell when me and my Boyfriend go there. I feel you all over the place. Heed wants me to do something in there. She won't tell me what, but I know it's something to fix Christine for good. Dream on. The game they're playing? both lose. I just have to make sure it's not me. Or you. I don't know why I said that. Sorry. I'm still not used to it. Sometimes I forget you're my Good Man.

254

253

8

FATHER

254

255

1

The hiking boots, purchased with Anna Krieg's instruction, are what she needs. The road to the Hotel is treacherous for an hysterical pedestrian on a chilly night in tennis shoes and no socks. The tough-minded Anna Krieg would have been prepared: ruck sack, water, flashlight, brot, dried fish, nuts. Christine had learned how to cook from her while ^{they} both, wives of American soldiers, were stationed in Germany. Barely twenty, devoted to the PX, Anna was adept with fresh vegetables, varieties of potatoes, sea food but especially voluptuous desserts. [tk recipes] Cooking lessons and beer made the evenings cheery and postponed the collapse of Christine's marriage into a desolation exactly like the quarters they lived in. In return for the friendship, Christine agreed one day to hike with Anna. She bought

the good boots and rucksack Anna recommended and early one morning they set out. Halfway to the halfway point, Christine stopped and begged to cancel, to hitch back to the base. Her feet were on fire; her lungs hyphenating. Anna's face registered extreme disappointment but understanding too. "Poor, soft American, no stamina, no will." They turned back in silence.

When Christine opened the door she found Ernie locked in the arms of the staff sergeant's wife. She wanted to kick him, but her feet hurt so she settled for six bottles of Spaten hurled in rapid succession at his head.

For the benefit and morale of the other wives in this newly desegregated army, she felt obliged to go through the motions of jealous rage, but she was more dumbfounded than angry. Puzzled as to who Ernie Holder thought he was, other than a ragged PFC who had offered devotion, a uniform, and escape to another country in exchange for her own gorgeous well-bred self. She left him the next day, taking ruck sack, cooking skills and hiking boots with her. From Idlewild, she called her mother. May seemed relieved to hear her voice but ambivalent about her return to Silk. Her jumbled chatter held no curiosity about Christine's

situation but was spiked instead with references to the "swamp wife" and a burned "freedom" bus. Clearly she was being warned away.

Since the atmosphere May described seemed so dank and small-town-y, Christine lingered. After two nights not quite on the street (a bus station didn't count), after being turned away from the YWCA, ^{she} ~~Christine~~ moved into a Philis Wheatley House. ^(over) On looks alone she got a job in a restaurant waitressing until they discovered she could cook. It was a friendly, neighborhood place where she laughed at the ways customers found to hustle free food, and where she spent years avoiding and lying to May while searching for a husband. She had found three, none her own, when she met Fruit. By then she was steeped in and bored by workplace gossip involving the owner, his wife, the cashier and the short ⁻ order cook. The pointless malice exhausted her as did the drift of conversation between herself and whatever married ^{man} ~~boyfriend~~ she was attached to. She didn't really care whether he separated from his wife or not, slept with the mother of his children or not, gave her a lesser Christmas present or not. But since they never had friends in common, there was nothing else to talk about except proof of affection and threats of dissolution. It was an outline of a

The Country ^{was} ~~so~~ pleased with
itself when she'd left it; ~~when~~
~~she returned~~ ~~now~~ it was ^{now} frightened &
by red threats and black lists,

life, a doodling on a paper napkin yet to be filled in while she purposely stayed away from the home May described. Into that aimlessness came Fruit with a canvas satchel and a flawlessly ironed work shirt.

"Don't hide the meat. I like to see what I eat." Christine withheld the red gravy and wondered at his clarity—which she discovered later was his habit and his gift. When she listened to him, everything was suddenly so clear she spent nine years in his company. He was a fine-boned man, intense, with large beautiful hands and a mesmerizing voice. He clarified the world for her. Her grandfather (a bourgeois traitor); her mother (a handkerchief head); Heed (a field hand wannabee); Ernie (a sell out). ^(over) And ^{then} he outlined her own obligations. With apology for her light skin, gray eyes, and hair threatening a lethal silkiness, Christine became a dedicated helpmate, coherent and happy to serve. She changed her clothing to "motherland", sharpened her language to activate slogans, carried a knife for defense, hid her inauthentic hair in exquisite gele's; hung cowrie shells from her ear lobes and never crossed her legs at the knees.

Her fears that she might disappoint such a man, fierce, uncorruptible, demanding, or that he might be forced to treat her like dirt were

~~All of th~~ They were the "churrs"
MalcolmX ~~identified~~ described —
acid dripping from the word.

never realized because Fruit liked dirt. His view of soil, earth, crops was a romance he shared with her. A farm, he said, if we had one, it could be a base for us. Christine agreed, but events were so swift and money, (collected, wheedled, extorted) was needed for other emergencies.

All over the country there were sleeping neighborhoods that needed arousing, inattentive young people needing focus. The hiking boots were broken in at marches; her ruck sack simulated comfort at sit-ins. Pumped by seething exhilaration and purpose, Christine's personal vanity became racial legitimacy and her flair for acting-out became courage. She hardly remembered the quarrels now: informants galore, tainted money, random acts vs. long range plans, underground vs. dance with the media. Theirs was a group of seventeen—eleven black, six white—^{GN}~~under the~~ underground [?] formed after the Till trial. Independent, autonomous, they joined other groups only when they judged the activity strong enough. ⁱⁿWhat she relished ^{thrived on its} ^{seriousness} ^{and was totally committed to} ~~was the work, who she loved was~~ Fruit. There, with him she was not in the way; she was in. Not the disrupting wife, the surplus mistress, the unwanted nuisance daughter, the ignored granddaughter, the disposable friend. She was valuable. There was no reason why it could not last. ^(over) [^]

planted in 1955,

The urgency, ^{had blossomed} ~~that waxed in 1965~~
~~waned in 1965, blossomed~~
~~with increased fury in 1968~~
~~when~~ _____

and ^{with fury}
was ripe in 1968. By 1970
exhausted by feignings
it seemed to wane

[^]
~~The beginning of the end, when it came, ^{it} was unrecognizable as such.~~

A small quite insignificant toilet flush. After a routine abortion, the last of seven, she rose, tapped the lever and turned to watch the swirl. There in a blur of congealed red, she thought she saw a profile. For less than a second that completely impossible image surfaced. Christine bathed and went back to bed. She had always been unsentimental about abortions, considering them as one less link in the holding chain, and she did not want to be a mother—ever. Besides ^{she do} no one stopped her or suggested otherwise: [^]Revolutions needed men—not fathers. So this seventh intervention did not trouble her in the least. Although she realized she had conjured up the unborn eye that had disappeared in a cloud of ^{rasp-}strawberry red, still, on occasion, she wondered who it was who looked up at her with such quiet interest. At the oddest moments—cloistered in a hospital waiting room with a shot boy's weeping mother, dispensing bottled water and raisins to exhausted students—that non-committal eye seemed to be there, at home in the chaos of cops and tears. Had she paid closer attention, perhaps she could have stalled, even prevented, the real end, but her grandfather died. Fruit encouraged her to attend the funeral (Family is family, he said,

Nina Simone ^{helped} delay the beginning
of the end. Her voice ^{taught} states to
~~surrender~~ ~~miserable~~ and ~~ferocity to love~~. So when
the end arrived

~~made~~
romance to transgression.

smiling, even if they are political morons.) Christine hesitated. She would have to be in Heed's murderous company; her mother and she would continue to argue politics as they did on intermittent phone calls screaming accusations: Why can't you all just quiet down? Three hundred years of quiet not enough for you? Whites are killing us all, so what good is it? SLAM.

He was dead. The dirty one who introduced her to nasty and blamed it on her.

He was dead. The powerful one who abandoned his own kin and transferred ~~love and~~ rule to her playmate.

He was dead. Well, good. She would go and view the wreck he left behind.

Nothing is watching now. It is long gone, ^{the} ~~that~~ non-judgmental eye, along with the rucksack and the hiking boots which she desperately needs now if she is going to stop the snake and her minion from destroying the balance of her life. The two of them, Heed and Junior, were nowhere in the house. The garage ^{was} ~~is~~ empty, the driveway clear. Nothing could make Heed leave her room but devilment—and at night? There is only one place she

~~that even Nina could not reveal~~

could be interested in—the Hotel—and there ^{WAS} is no time to waste even if she has to run all the way.

No one could have guessed, but Fruit was eight years younger than she was, so of course he pleased himself with other women. That was the beauty, the honesty of their relationship. She of all people, queen of seduced husbands, understood, having grown up in a Hotel where the tippy toe of bare feet, the rustle behind the equipment shed, the eye-blaze of one female guest aimed at another had been everyday stuff. Hadn't she heard her grandfather tell his wife in front of everybody, "Don't wag your little tail. ^{at me} I don't want it and I sure don't need it," and leave that wife dancing alone at the birthday party while he raced off to meet whoever it was he did need? Notwithstanding Ernie Holder and the Spaten soaring toward his head, ^{having} loving men meant sharing them. Get used to it and do it with grace, right? Other women's beds were not a problem. Anyway, with all the work to be done, who had time to monitor every stray coupling? She was the designated woman, the one everybody acknowledged as such. Their names spoken in a planning meeting sounded like a candy bar: Fruit n Chris. Chris n Fruit.

The candy bar didn't crumble until somebody raped one of the student volunteers. A Comrade had done it. The girl, too ashamed to be angry, begged Christine not to tell her father, a university dean.

"Please, please don't."

"What about your mother?"

"Oh no! She'll tell him!"

Christine bristled. Like a Doberman puppy in training, the girl had gone into protection mode. Good Daddy Big Man mustn't know. Christine ignored her, told everyone, and was satisfied, especially by Fruit's response. They all took care of the girl, cursed and fumed at what the Comrade had done; promised to speak to, punish, expel him. But didn't. The next time he showed up, it was "Hey man, how's it going?" When Christine cornered Fruit he reported what the Comrade had said: it wasn't his fault the girl was all over him bra- less sitting sloppy he'd even patted her behind to alert her to his interest she giggled instead of breaking his jaw and asked him if he wanted a beer. Fruit shook his head, mourning human stupidity and retrograde politics. Yet mourn was all he did. Regardless of her urging, "speaking to"—not to mention "punish" or "expel"—he never got around to.

264

Yes, Fruit thought the Comrade a menace, but he could not tell him so.

Yes, he believed the Comrade jeopardized their principled cause, but he could not confront him. The girl's violation carried no weight against the sturdier violation of male friendship. Fruit could upbraid, expel, beat up a traitor, a coward or any jive turkey over the slightest offense. But not this one—this assault against a girl of seventeen was not even a hastily added footnote to his list of Unacceptable Behavior since the raped one did not belong to him. It would have helped if the other girls' moans of sympathy for the raped one had not been laced with disturbing questions: what did she do? why didn't she...?

Eventually Christine shut up about it and the good work of civil disobedience and personal obedience went on, interrupted only now and then by the profile, turning, offering its uncritical eye. When she got back from her Grandfather's funeral, she opened her ruck sack and shook out the paper bag of engagement rings. Solitaires of all sizes. Enough to get twelve women to sign the guest book at Hotel ^{Make-Believe} Love. The question apparently was, ^{is} how comfortable [?] the suite. In 1973 Tremaine Avenue, with its high level of comfort, was mighty attractive. Especially since everybody,

militants and moderates, wanted to be in and stay out at the same time, the good work of disobedience was merging with disguised acquiescence. The issues changed, spread, moved from streets and doorways to offices and ~~C~~onferences in elegant hotels. Nobody needed a street worker-baby sitter-cook-mimeographing-marching nut-and-raisin-carrying woman who was too old anyway for the hip new students with complex strategies; a woman not educated enough for the college crowd; not shallow enough for television. The disinterested eye, carefully studied by the Supreme Court, had closed. She was irrelevant. Fruit sensed her despair and they parted as friends.

He was, she thinks, the last true friend she had. He would have mourned again if he knew what she ^{had} settled for: kept woman to a mimeographed copy of her bourgeois grandfather. And rightly, for after Dr. Rio threw her out there was no place like and no place but home. Hers. To hang on to and keep an insane bitch from evicting her.

Christine was in a car the last time she traveled this road. Up front too, because her wide skirts, a powder blue heap of chiffon, needed ~~room~~ room. She ^{is wearing} wore a movie star's gown, strapless with rhinestones sprinkling the top.

24 12
Pontiac

Her mother ^{is} ~~sat~~ in the back seat; her grandfather ~~was~~ driving the 1939 ~~it~~,
which irritated ^s him because it ^{is} ~~was~~ already 1947 and post war cars are still
unavailable to most civilians. That is what he is saying, explaining his
strange mood at a time of giddy celebration: Christine's delayed sixteenth
birthday and graduation party. She ^{thinks} ~~thought~~ the real reason he ^{is} ~~was~~ agitated
^{is} ~~was~~ the same reason she and her mother ^{are} ~~were~~ jubilant. At the family-only
dinner preceding the ~~Hotel~~ party, they have managed to eliminate Heed and
^{have} had the pleasure of watching her disciplined by her husband. At last, just
the three of them. No ignorant, clinging wife-lette to sully this magnificent
homecoming display.

Christine, led from the car on her grandfather's arm, ^{makes} ~~made~~ a
glamorous entrance; an Oh, so pretty girl in perfectly beautiful gown proof
and consequence of racial ^{up} lift and proper dreams. The band plays [n.b.
v. tense] "Happy Birthday" over the crowd's applause then segues into
"Harbor Lights." May beams. Christine glows. The ~~Hotel~~ is packed with
uniformed veterans, vacationing couples and Cosey's friends. The
musicians switch to "How High the Moon" ³⁷ since the future is not just bright,
it is there, visible in paychecks, tangible in G.I. Bill applications, audible in

the scat vocalist's range. Just look through the wide doors beyond the open air dance floor and see the way the stars go. Hear the waves roll; inhale the ocean's cologne, how sweet and male it is.

Then a flutter, a murmur of disbelief. Turning heads. Heed is in the center of the room dancing with a man in a green zoot suit. He lifts her over his head, brings her down between his legs, casts her aside, splits and rises on angled legs in time to meet her hips shimmying toward his clenched pelvis. The band blasts. The crowd parts. Bill Cosey places his napkin on the table and stands. The guests look sideways at his approach. Zoot suit halts mid-step, his pocket chain swung low. Heed's dress looks like a red slip; the shoulder strap falls to her elbow. Bill Cosey doesn't hiss or shout, and he does not command or take her away. In fact he does not touch her. The musicians, alert to every nuance of crowd drama, grow silent, so everybody hears Bill Cosey's dismissal and his remedy.

— The crash of the sea is sounding in Christine's ears. She is not close enough to the shore to hear it, so this must be heightened blood pressure. Next will come the dizziness and zig zags of light before her eyes. She should rest a moment, but Heed is not resting. Heed is doing something

secret with an able bodied spider to help her.

She should have known. She did know. ^(over) The minute ^{the girl} Junior sat down at the kitchen table lacing her lies with Yes ^a mams, oozing street flavor like a yell, she knew: this girl will do anything. Yet that was precisely what was so appealing. And you had to admire any girl who survived on the street without a gun. The bold eyes, the mischievous smile. Her willingness to do any errand, tackle any difficulty was a blessing for Christine. But more than that, Junior listened. To complaints, jokes, justifications, advice, reminiscences. Never accusing, judging—simply interested. In that silent house, talking to anybody was like music. Who cared if she sneaked around with Vida's grandson from time to time? Good for him. Fun for her. A happily sexed girl would be more likely to stay on. What Christine had forgotten was the ^a run away's creed: Hang in, hang out, hang loose. Meaning friendship, yes. Loyalty, no.

The ~~H~~otel is darker than the night. No lights, but the car is parked in the driveway. No voices either. The ocean is whispering underneath the blood roaring in her ears. Maybe this is a lure. Maybe she will open the door and they will kill her, as they would not Anna Kreig, who would have

no history
Junior ~~known~~ ^{had} no past but her own.
Things she didn't know or had never
heard of would make ~~a~~ universe.

had the sense not to bolt out of a house in tennis shoes and no Swiss Army knife. ^(over) ^

Christine gazes into the darkness huddling the porch steps where a sunlit child is rigid with fear and the grief of abandonment. Yet her hand raised in farewell is limp. Only the bow in her hair is more languid than that hand. Beyond her gaze is another child, staring through the window of an automobile, idling, purring like a cat. The driver is the grandfather of one, the husband of the other. The passenger's face is a blend of wild eyes, grin and confusion. The limp hand waves while the other ^{ones} fingers press the car window. Will it break? Will her fingers crack the glass, cutting the skin and spill ^{ing} blood down the side of the door? They might, because she is pressing so hard. Her eyes are large, but she is grinning too. Does she want to go? Is she afraid to go? Neither one understands. Why can't she go too? Why is he taking one to a honeymoon and leaving the other? They will come back, won't they? But when? She looks so alone in that big car, but she is smiling—or trying to. There ought to be blood. There must be blood somewhere, because the sunlit child on the porch is holding herself stiff against the possibility. Only her farewell hand is soft, limp. Like the

Stumbling along in the dark,
she has ~~never~~ ^{seldom} felt more alone.

~~Except once~~. She was five when
her father died. ^{One} Saturday he gave her
a baseball cap; the following Monday
they carried him down the stairs
on a metal stretcher. His eyes were
closed and he didn't answer when
she called him. People kept coming and
coming to comfort the parent, the widow; kept
whispering about how hard it was to lose
a son, a husband, a friend. Nothing
was said about the loss of a father, ~~instead~~
They patted her on the head and smiled.
That was the first time she took refuge
under L's bed and if she had her
druthers she would be there now instead

climbing toward the place that ^{what was the other thing?} ~~racked~~ - her with
fear and ^{and} ~~paranoia~~ ^{what was the other thing?}

bow in her hair.

A thorn of pain scratches Christine's shoulder as she climbs the steps. She reaches through the dark for the door knob. She can't find it. The door is open.

"You sure you want to do this? We can go back." Junior leaves the motor running. Her exquisite nose ring flickers in the late sun. "Or tell me what to look for and you stay here." She is nervous. Her Good Man hasn't shown up for some time. She hopes he is here in the hotel. Everything is going fine, but it would be nicer if he were around to say so.

"We can do this some other day. Anytime you want to. It's up to you, though."

Heed is not listening. Neither is she looking through a car window at a ruined hotel in twilight. She is twenty-eight years old, standing at its second floor window facing the lawn and beyond that sand and sea. Beneath her, women and children look like butterflies flitting in and out of the tents. The men wear white shirts, black suits. The preacher is in a

rocking chair; he keeps his straw hat on. More and more she rents to churches, groups. Former guests, older now, don't return to Cosey's Resort often. Their children are pre-occupied with boycotts, legislation, voting rights. A mother sits apart, a white handkerchief over her nursing breast. One hand holds the baby, the other slowly fanning in case a fly soars near. She could have had children too, Heed is thinking. Would have had them if she had known in 1942 what one slip into another man's arms taught her in 1958: that she wasn't barren at all. The man—he came to collect his brother's body, accompany it on the train back home. Heed, remembering the pain of losing ~~a brother~~, two brothers, ^{that} ~~to water~~, tells him his room, as long as he likes, will be free. And if there is anything else she can do....He sat on the bed and wept. She touched his shoulder rising and falling in unmanageable grief. She had never seen a sober man cry. Heed knelt down, gazing at the hand covering his eyes, and took the one on his knee. His fingers clutched hers and they held that position until he quieted.

"Sorry. I'm sorry," he said, reaching for his handkerchief.

"Don't be. Don't never be sorry for ^{crying over} ~~loving~~ somebody." She was almost shouting and he looked at her as though she had said the smartest

thing ever heard.

"You need to eat something," she said. "I'll bring you a tray.

Anything special you want?"

He shook his head. "Anything."

She ran downstairs, suddenly aware of the difference between being needed and being obliged. In the kitchen she prepared a roast pork sandwich and swaddled the meat in hot sauce. Thinking of the adorable paunch pushing out his shirt, she added a bottle of beer as well as iced water to the tray. L looked askance at the food, so Heed answered her unasked question. "It's for the dead man's brother."

"Did I use too much?" she asked when he bit into the sandwich.

He shook his head. "Perfect. How did you know?"

Heed laughed. "Mr. Sinclair, you let me know directly if you need something. Anything at all."

"Knox. Please."

"I'm Heed," she said, thinking I have to get out of this room or I'll kiss his belly.

Knox Sinclair stayed six days, the length ^{of} time needed to arrange

for, prepare, then ship the body to Indiana. Each day was more glorious than the one before. Heed helped him with telephone calls, telegraphed money, trips to Harbor for the death certificate. Tended him with the care any good hotel manager, who had a guest drown, would.

That was the excuse. The reason was Jimmy Witherspoon singing "Ain't Nobody's Business If I Do." She got her wish and was able to nestle and stroke his belly nightly while her husband entertained clientele^{and} in the morning while he slept it off. She made Knox talk about his brother, his life, just to hear his Northern accent. She was stunned to be ^{wanted} loved by a man her own age who found her interesting, intelligent, desirable. So this is what it feels like to be happy.

^{"Forever"}
~~Undying love~~ is what they promised each other. He will return in six weeks and they will go away together. For six weeks Papa's fishing "parties" were a relief, his night murmurs pathetic. She planned so carefully even L didn't catch on: new clothes packed away in two suitcases; the till modestly but regularly raided.

He never showed.

She called his house in Indiana. A woman answered. Heed hung up.

Called again and spoke to her.

"Is this the Sinclair residence?"

"Yes it is." A warm voice, kind.

"May I speak to Mr. Sinclair, please?"

"I'm sorry. He's not here. Would you like to leave a message?"

"No. Bye. Thanks."

Another call. The warm voice answers, "This is Mrs. Sinclair. Can I help you?"

"I'm Mrs. Cosey. From the hotel where Mr. Sinclair uh stayed."

"Oh. Is there a problem?"

"No. Uh. You his wife"?

"Whose wife?"

"Knox. Knox Sinclair, I mean."

"Oh, no dear. I'm his mother."

"Oh. Well. Would you tell him, have him call me? Mrs. Cosey at...."

He didn't and Heed called seven times more until his mother said,
"I've lost a son, dear. He's lost a brother. Please don't call here again."

Her badly smashed heart was quickly mended when she learned, after

fifteen years of questions and pity, that she was pregnant. Sorry as she was about "not here" Knox, she would trade a father for a child any day.

Gleaming in anticipation, she felt kind, generous. Unique but not isolated; important without having to prove it. When a single instance of spotting was followed by heavy clotting, she was not alarmed because her breasts continued to swell and her appetite remained ravenous. Dr. Ralph reassured her everything was fine. Her weight gain was as sharp as May's looks, and steady, like Papa's smiles. She had no menses for eleven months and would have had none for eleven more if L had not sat her down, slapped her—hard—then peered into her eyes saying, "Wake up, girl. Your oven's cold." After months of darkness thickened by public snigger and her husband's recoil, she did wake up and, skinny as a witch, rode into daylight on a broomstick.

The mother finishes nursing and rocks the baby on her shoulder. Back and forth. Back and forth. The church folk, drained of color by a rising moon, leave the lawn in small groups. Overfed. Calling out happy goodbyes.

Her baby was a son, she was sure, and had he been born she

wouldn't need to sneak off, driven by an untethered teenager to a collapsing hotel in order to secure her place.

Taking out her key, Heed notices the broken pane in the door.

"Somebody's busted in here."

"Could be," says Junior. She opens the door.

Heed follows and waits while Junior rummages in her shopping bag of supplies: light bulbs, scissors, pen, flashlight. It won't be dark for at least an hour, so they easily find their way to the third floor and the cord hanging from the attic hatch. There the flashlight is needed while Junior searches the ceiling for the fixture.

Standing on a crate she screws in a bulb and pulls the string.

Heed is shocked. The attic's layout, indelible in her memory for decades, is blasted. Boxes are everywhere, in disarray, open, smashed, upside down. Bed springs angled dangerously against broken chairs, rakes, carpet samples, stewing pots. Disoriented, Heed twirls, saying, "I told you somebody busted in here. Trying to steal from me."

"Kids maybe," says Junior. "Fooling around."

"How you know? Anything could be missing. Look at this mess. This is going to take all night." Heed stares at a rusty electric fan. Her nerves are strung.

"What are we looking for?" Junior speaks softly, trying to soothe her. ^(over)

"Rinso," ^{Heed SNAPS} "A big old box with R I N S O on it. It's here somewhere."

"Well," says Junior, "let's get started."

"I can't get around this mess."

"Wait here." Junior drags and hauls until a path, front to back, is cleared. Over cracked and slanting floor boards she tosses a yard of flowered carpet and rights a carton of men's shoes. Cobwebs are not a problem.

While they search, Junior smells baking bread, something with cinnamon. "You smell something?" she asks.

Heed sniffs. "Smells like L," she says.

"Hell can't smell that good," answers Junior.

Heed lets it go.

"There! Look!" Junior points. "It's behind you. Up there."

Heed turns to look. osniR. "That don't say Rinso."

thinking, we must have scared away
the birds, Not a single one twittered.

"It's upside down." Junior laughs.

Heed is embarrassed. "Must be losing my sight," she says. Suddenly Junior is annoying. What's that look? Mocking? Disrespectful? "Over here" she directs, pointing to where she wants Junior to place the carton.

Finally situated, cartons for seats, chair for desk, Heed thumbs through a bundle of menus. Most have ^{only} just the month and day, but several show the year: 1964. She is about to instruct Junior what to write in the spaces when she notices the ball point pen in Junior's fingers.

"What's that? I said a fountain pen. He wouldn't use that. He wouldn't use nothing but real ink. Oh Lord, you messing this whole thing up. I told you! Didn't I tell you?"

Junior lowers her eyes, thinking what the fuck is the matter with her who does she think she is I'm helping her steal or trick or lie and she talks to me like a warden? Saying,

"In 1964 he might have."

"No he wouldn't. You don't know what you talking about."

"Well, a ball point proves it's more recent, doesn't it? A later version,"
idiot.

"You think?"

"Sure," you ignorant bitch.

"Maybe you right. Okay. Here's what you say." Heed closes her eyes and dictates. "I leave all my wordly good to my dear wife Heed the Night..."

Junior looks up, but doesn't say anything. It's clear why the Good Man stopped liking her—if he ever did. "Wordly good." Is he listening? Is he laughing? Is he here? She can't tell. The cinnamon bread is not him.

"...who have stood by me faithful all these years. In case of her death, if she leaves no will her own self, everything goes to...." Heed pauses, smiles. "Solitude Johnson."

Yeah. Sure. Junior scribbles quickly. She has practiced her Good Man's handwriting to perfection. "Is that all?" she asks.

"Shh!"

"What?"

"I hear something." Heed's eyes widen.

"I don't."

"It's her."

"Christine? I don't hear ^{ANY} a thing."

"You wouldn't."

Heeds stands up glancing around for something to use for protection.

Nothing is available.

"Stop worrying," says Junior. "If she gets close, I'll..."

"Fool! She'll wipe the floor with you!" She snatches the pen from Junior and waits. Both hear the measured foot steps ascending the ladder. Both watch the crown, then the face rise into the light. The eyes are terrible. Christine enters the room and stands still. For breath ease? To decide? Junior breaks into the quiet.

"Oh, hi," she says. "How'd you get here? We were just looking some stuff up. For her book, remember? Dates have to be checked, right? That's what research is all about they say."

If they hear her, they give no sign. Christine remains still; Heed is moving, cautiously taking one step then another, the Bic clenched between palm and powerful thumb. The eyes of each are enslaved by the other's. Opening pangs of guilt, rage, fatigue, despair are replaced by a hatred so pure, so solemn, it feels beautiful, almost holy.

Junior's head tracks left to right, like a tennis fan's. She senses rather than sees where Heed, blind to everything but the motionless figure before her, is heading—one footfall at a time. Carefully, with the toe of her boot, Junior eases the piece of carpeting toward herself. She does not watch or call out. Instead, she turns to smile at Christine whose blood roar is louder than the cracking so the falling is like a silent movie and the soft twisted hands with no hope of hanging on to rotted wood dissolve, fade to black as movies always do and the ^{feeling of} abandonment loosens a loneliness so intolerable ^{that} Christine drops to her knees peering ^{down} ~~through the break~~ at the body arching below. She races down the ladder, along the hall and into the room. On her knees again, she turns, then gathers Heed in her arms. In light sifting from above they search the face of the other. The holy feeling is still alive, as is its purity, but it is altered now, overwhelmed by desire. Old, decrepit, yet sharp. The attic light goes out and although they can hear boots running, the engine start of a car, they are neither surprised nor interested. There in a little girl's bedroom an obstinate skeleton stirs, clacks, refreshes itself.

The aroma of baking bread was too intense. Cinnamon flavored. He wasn't there. Although Junior couldn't tell yet what he might be thinking, she was sure he would ^{chuckle} ~~giggle~~ when she told him, showed him the forged menu his airhead wife thought would work, and the revisions Junior had made in case it did. Sorry, Solitude. She pushed a little harder on the gas pedal. If either or both got out, she would say she fled to get help or something. But first she had to get to Monarch Street; find him; share the excitement and her smarts. It was a long shot, sudden, unpremeditated, but it might turn out the way she dreamed. She parked and ran down the steps. The kitchen door was wide open, swinging in icy air. Christine must have left not just in a hurry but in a fit. She hadn't turned the lights or the oven off, and a shriveled leg of lamb clung to its juices ^a ~~carmelizing~~ in the pan. Junior turned the knob to off, ^{" "} then wandered the rooms, irritated by the ^{odor of} burnt meat hiding his cologne. He was nowhere, not even in his study, so she went directly to him. Good. There he was. Smiling welcome above Heed's bed. Her Good Man.

On Monarch Street Romen peddled ^d into the driveway. Leaning his

bike on the garage door he notices^d steam coming from the Cadillac. He touched^d the hood. It's warm. When Junior answers^d his knock she seems^{ed} to him as beautiful as it is possible for a human to be. Her hair^d is like it was when he first saw her: soft, loud, mixing threat and invitation. The sci-fi eyes^{were} are gleaming and she^{was} is wearing smile number 31. They make^d love^{out} where they^{stood} stand and he^{did not} does not think to ask where the women are until Junior^{led} leads him up to^{the third floor} Miss Cosey's bedroom.

"Where's^{Mrs.} Miss Cosey? I never knew her to leave this room."

"Visiting her granddaughter," Junior laughs^{ed}.

"What granddaughter?"

"Lives over in Harbor, she said."

"No kidding?"

"Come here." Junior^{pulled} is pulling back the covers. "Take your clothes off and get in here."

"She'll catch us, girl."

"Not a chance. Come on!"

Romen didn't^{want to do it} like making out with that face hanging on the wall, so

he pulled Junior into the bathroom where they filled the tub to see what it

was like underwater. Confining; not as interesting as he thought it would be until they pretended to drown one another. They sloshed water and called each other filthy names until, like spent salmon, they fell apart, sucking air at opposite ends of the tub. He angled away from the spigot; she resting her head on the rim.

Feeling strong and melted at the same time, Romen reached under the water and raised Junior's misshapen foot above it. She flinched, tried to yank it out of his hands, but he held on and held on, looking closely at the mangled toes. Then, bending his head, he lifted them to his tongue. After a moment he felt her soften, give, so when he looked up he was surprised to see how dead the sci-fi eyes.

Afterwards, beneath the covers in Heed's bed, he said, "Serious. Where are they?"

"At the hotel."

"What for?"

Junior told him, then, what had happened in the attic. She sounded like a tv news reader, remote, faking lather about an incident of no importance.

"You left them there?"

"Why not?" She seems^{ed} genuinely surprised by his question. "Turn over. Let me rub your back."

"I hate that picture. Like screwing in front of your father." Her breath was cool on his spine.

"Then turn out the light, sugarboy."

24

284

9

PHANTOM

25X

Heed can't look. Christine has covered her feet, in perfect fourth position now, with a quilt and gone to search for something to ease the pain. There could be all sorts of items sequestered by May: liquor in a toilet tank, aspirin in a flue. Heed hopes for the first because there is no water and she would like to pass out from drunkenness rather than agony. Her bones, fragile from decades of stupor, have splintered like glass. The ankles are not the only joints she believes are cracked. There is a dullness in her pelvis and she can't lift her right leg. Christine has propped her against the wall since there is no mattress on the bed. In her wisdom, when the Hotel closed, she sold every thing possible.

Drawing a ribbon of breath, she blocks any tears that may be lurking

like memories behind her eyelids. But the forget-me-nots roaming the wall paper are more vivid in this deliberate dark than they ever were in daylight and she wonders what it was that made her want it so. Home, she thinks. When I stepped in the door, I thought I was home.

Christine's familiar tread interrupts her efforts to remember more. She has found things: among them matches, a box of hurricane candles, a can of Dole pineapple and some packets of Stanback powder. She lights a candle, securing it in its own drippings. If she can manage to open the pineapple, Heed can swallow the powder. Wordlessness continues as Christine uses a ball-peen to bang a stud nail into the rim of the can. When she succeeds, she opens two packets and sifts the bitter powder into Heed's mouth, alternating it with the juice. She pulls the quilt up around her shoulders because Heed is shivering.

They both had expected a quarrel. Who's to blame? Who started it all by hiring a thief and who made it necessary by consulting a lawyer? Whose fault is it they are abandoned seven miles from humanity with nobody knowing they are there or caring even if they do know? No one is praying for them and they have never prayed for themselves. Still, they avoid

rehearsing accusations, a waste of breath now with one of them cracked to pieces and the other sweating like a laundress. Up here where the solitude is like the room of a dead child, the ocean has no scent or roar. The future is disintegrating along with the past. The landscape beyond this room is without color. Just a bleak ridge of stone and no one to imagine it otherwise, because that is the way it is ^{as} [^]as, deep down, everyone knows. An unborn world where sound, any sound—the scratch of a claw, the flap of webbed feet—is a gift. Where a human voice is the only miracle and the only necessity. Language, when finally it comes, has the vigor of a felon pardoned after twenty-one years on hold. Sudden, raw, stripped to its underwear.

You know May wasn't much of a mother to me.

At least she didn't sell you.

No, she gave me away.

Maple Valley?

Maple Valley.

I thought you wanted to go.

Hell no. But so what if I did? I was thirteen. She was the mama. She

wanted me gone because he did, and she wanted whatever he wanted.

Except you. She was Daddy's girl. Not you.

Don't I know it.

I bet she made your life a horror movie .

Her own too. For years I believed she was hiding stuff just to devil me. I didn't know it was Huey Newton she was scared of.

She thought the Panthers were after her?

Among others. She wanted to be ready. In case.

Yeah. For the real revolution: twenty [^]year [^]old boys fighting to bed sixty [^]year [^]old women.

They could do worse.

They did do worse.

You ever meet any?

No. I was out of it by then.

Was it worth it?

No question.

I called you a fool, but I was jealous too. The excitement and all.

It had that.

You sound sad.

No. It's just. Well it's like we started out being sold, got free of it, then sold ourselves to the highest bidder.

Who you mean 'we'? Black people? women? You mean me and you?

I don't know what I mean. Christine touches Heed's ankle. The unswollen one.

Sssss.

Sorry.

It's broke too, I guess.

I'll get us out of here by morning.

Christine lights another candle, heaves herself up and crosses to the dresser, opening one drawer after another. In the top one she finds crayons, a small cloth pouch; in the middle one mice scat and the remnants of a child's underwear : socks, a slip, panties. She pulls out a pale yellow top and holds it up for Heed to see.

That's your bathing suit.

Was anybody ever this small?

Mine in there?

Don't see it. Christine wipes perspiration from her face and neck with the fabric then tosses it on the floor. She moves back to Heed and seats herself with difficulty at her side. Candleflame lights their hands but not their faces.

(over)

^

Was he good to you, Heed? I mean really good?

At first. For a few years he was good to me. Mind you, at eleven I thought a box of candied popcorn was good treatment. He scrubbed my feet til the soles was like butter.

Damn.

So when things got bad I relied on May and you to explain it. And when that didn't work I blamed everything on when he started losing money. I never blamed him.

I always did.

You could afford to. The sheriff wasn't breathing down your neck.

I remember him. They fished together.

Fished. I'll say. He forgot what every pickaninny knows. Whites don't throw pennies in your cup if you ain't dancing.

Was you ever a whore?

Oh, please.

People said ~~People lied~~ ^{swapped}
~~I never sold it. traded~~ it, though.

~~Same as me.~~

No, ~~you didn't.~~ ~~Not you.~~ ~~Never you.~~ You were.

~~Too young to decide.~~ -

~~Not too young to want.~~

5/6/1

You saying Buddy Silk broke him?

Not him; his son, Boss. He was friends so to speak with the father but the son was another breed of dog. He did better then break him. He let him break hisself.

How you mean?

A little loan here, a bigger one there. Went along and went along. He had to pay, you know, to stay open and sell liquor in the place. It was tight but okay. Then the old Silk died and the new one upped the fees. We couldn't pay the bands, the police and the liquor man too.

How'd you manage for so long?

Luck. I found some fishing pictures.

Heed gives Christine a look.

No.

Oh, yeah.

Who? Where?

Who cares who? And "where" was the bunk, the deck, the pilot's chair, anyplace and anything on board. Make you think twice about what a fishing rod can catch.

Men have the shortest memories. They always want pictures.

Huh.

Heed sighed, picturing Boss Silk. Herself standing there, afraid, wavering from damp sweat to chill. Wondering if he wanted sex or just her humiliation; or maybe the money he'd come for plus a quick feel. Shame he wanted, for sure, but she didn't know if it included her tits. In any case, she had been sold once and that was enough. "Here's something he wanted you to have." She handed him a brown envelope and hoped he would think it was money. Then turned her back to let him open it in private and to convey her own ignorance about men's business. When she heard him remove the contents, she said, "By the way there's another envelope used to be around here somewhere. But it was addressed to your mother care of the Harbor Journal. If I find it, should I give it to her or mail it to them? Want some iced tea, suh,?"

Heed recounts the meeting in Mammy accent with bulging Mammy eyes. They chuckle.

Did he? Have a set for the wife?

I made that part up.

Hey, Celestial.

Aw, girl. When did we first start that?

Playing at the beach one day, when they were ten years old, they heard a man call out "Hey, Celestial" to a young woman in a red sun-back dress. His voice had humor in it, a kind of private knowing along with a touch of envy. The woman didn't look around to see who called her. Her profile was etched against the seascape; her head held high. She turned instead to look at them. Her face was cut from cheek to ear. A fine scar like a pencil mark an eraser could turn into a flawless face. Her eyes locking theirs were cold and scary, until she winked at them, making their toes ~~to~~ clench and curl with happiness. Later they asked May who she ~~is~~ ^{was}, this Celestial. "Stay as far away from her as you can," May said. "Cross the road when you see her coming your way." They asked why and May answered "Because there is nothing a sporting woman won't do."

Fascinated, they tried to imagine the things she does not hesitate to do regardless of danger. They named their play house after her. Celestial Palace. And from then on, to say "Amen," or acknowledge a particularly bold, smart, risky thing, they mimicked the male voice crying "Hey,

Celestial,"

Except for the words they had invented for secrets in a language they called "idagay", "Hey, Celestial" was their most private code. Idagay was for intimacy, gossip, telling jokes on grown ups. Only once was it used to draw friendly blood.

Ou-yidagay a ave-slidagay! E-hidagay ought-bidagay ou-yidagay ith-widagay a ears-yidagay ent-ridagay an-didagay a andy-cidagay ar-bidagay!

Ave-slidagay. That hurt, Christine. Calling me a slave. Hurt bad.

It was meant to. I thought I would die.

~~"Was you ever~~

Poor us.

What the hell was on his mind?

Search me.

When he died I said Bingo! Then right away took up with somebody just like him. Old, selfish, skirt chasing.

You could have stayed here if that's what you wanted to be tied to. He had so many women I lost count.

Bother you?

Sure.

Did L know what was going on out on his boat?

Probably.

I meant to ask you. How did she die?

How you think? Cooking.

Frying chicken?

Uh uh. Smothering pork chops.

Where?

Maceo's. Dropped dead at the stove.

She never came back after the funeral?

Nope. I thought you'd come back for hers. Didn't May write you?

She did, but I was in a fancy apartment banging my head over some rat.

The doctor?

Kenny Rio.

Traded ?.

~~Bought?~~

Bought. Like a fifth of whiskey. And, well, you know, at some point you have to buy more. I lasted three years. Miss Cutty Sark.

You were nobody's liquor.

Neither were you.

What then? ~~Fools?~~

A girl.

~~Women.~~ Trying to find a place when the streets don't go there.

L used to say that.

~~She disapproved of us.~~

~~We disapproved of us.~~

Jesus

I miss her.

Me too. Always have.

our lives hand in hand

We could have been living instead of looking for Big Daddy

everywhere.

Especially since he was everywhere. And nowhere. ~~Like a ghost.~~

~~One we made up.~~

~~7~~

We ~~didn't~~ make him up.

^ (over)

Hey, Celestial.

Even in idagay they had never been able to share a certain twin shame.

Each one thought the rot was hers alone. Now, sitting on the floor braving

1. He made himself up.

2. We helped

3. Uh uh.

Ho. Only a ~~factary?~~ devil could ~~do that~~ ~~think him up.~~
H

~~Nobody~~ ~~do that~~ ~~(think him up)~~
~~who could invent him.~~

4. One did.

the body's treason, with everything and nothing to lose, the phrase takes them back once again to a time when innocence did not exist because no one had dreamed up hell.

It is 1940 and they are going by themselves to play at the beach. L has packed a picnic lunch for them and as always they will eat it in the shade and privacy of Celestial Palace: a keeled over row boat long abandoned to sea grass. They have cleaned it, furnished it and named it. It contains a blanket, a driftwood table, two broken saucers and emergency food: canned peaches, sardines, a jar of apple jelly, peanut butter, soda crackers. They are wearing bathing suits. Heed is wearing one of Christine's, blue with white piping. Christine's is a yellow two piece; midriff, it is called. Their hair has been quartered into four braids so they have identical hair styles. Christine's braids are slippery, Heed's are not. They are walking across the hotel lawn when one remembers that they have forgotten the jacks. Heed volunteers to get them while Christine waits in the gazebo and guards the food.

Heed runs into the service entrance and up the back stairs, excited by the picnic to come and the flavor of her bubble gum. Music is coming from

the hotel bar—something so sweet and urgent Heed shakes her hips to the beat as she moves down the hallway. She bumps into her friend's grandfather. He looks at her. Embarrassed—did he see her wiggle her hips?—and in awe. He is the handsome giant who owns the hotel and who nobody sasses. Heed stops, unable to move or say "Excuse me. Sorry."

He speaks. "Where's the fire?"

She doesn't answer. Her tongue is trying to shift the bubble gum.

He speaks again. "You Johnson's girl?"

The reference to her father helps and her tongue loosens. "Yes, sir."

He nods. "What they call you?"

"Heed, sir." Then, "Heed the Night."

He smiles. "I should. I really should."

"Sir?"

"Nothing. Never mind."

He touches her chin, and then ¹/_h casually, still smiling ¹/_m her nipple, or rather the place under her swim suit where a nipple will be if the circled dot on her chest ever changes. Heed stands there for what seems an hour but is less than the time it takes to blow a perfect bubble. He watches the pink

ease from her mouth then moves away still smiling. Heed bolts back down the stairs. The spot on her chest she didn't know she had is burning, tingling. When she reaches the door, she is panting as though she has run the length of the beach instead of a flight of stairs. May grabs her from behind and scolds her about running through the hotel. Orders Heed to help carry sacks of soiled bed linen through to the laundry. It takes only a minute or two, but May Cosey has things to tell her about public behavior. When she is finished telling Heed how happy they all are that she and Christine are friends and what that friendship can teach her, Heed runs to tell Christine what happened, what her grandfather did. But Christine is not in the gazebo. Heed finds her behind the hotel at the rain barrel. Christine has spilled something on her bathing suit that looks like puke. Her face is hard, flat. She looks sick, disgusted, and doesn't meet Heed's eyes. Heed can't speak, can't tell her friend what happened. She knows she has spoiled it all. In silence they go on their picnic. And although they fall into the routine—using made-up names, arranging the food—the game of jacks cannot be played because Heed doesn't have them. She tells Christine she could not find them. That first lie, of many to follow, is born because Heed

thinks Christine knows what happened and it made her vomit. So there is something wrong with Heed. The old man saw it right away so all he had to do was touch her and it moved as he knew it would because the wrong was already there, waiting for a thumb to bring it to life. And she had started it—not him. The hip-wiggling came first—then him. Now Christine knows it's there too, and can't look at her because the wrong thing shows.

She does not know that Christine has left the gazebo to meet her friend at the service entrance. No one is there. Christine looks up toward the window of her own bedroom where Heed would be looking for the jacks. The window is open; pale curtains lift through it. She opens her mouth to call out, "Heed! Come on!" But she doesn't because her grandfather is standing there, in her bedroom window, his trousers open, his wrist moving with the same speed L used to beat egg whites into unbelievable creaminess. He doesn't see Christine because his eyes are closed. Christine covers her laughing mouth, but yanks her hand away when her breakfast flows into her palm. She rushes to the rain barrel to rinse the sick from her yellow top, her hands and her bare feet.

When Heed finds her, Christine doesn't explain the bathing suit, why

she is wiping it, or why she can't look at Heed. She is ashamed of her grandfather and herself. When she went to bed that night, his shadow had booked the room. She did not have to glance at the window or see the curtains yield before a breeze to know that an old man's solitary pleasure lurked there. Like a guest with a long held reservation arriving in your room at last, a guest you knew would stay.

It wasn't the arousals, not altogether unpleasant, that the girls could not talk about. It was the other thing. The thing that made each believe, without knowing why, that this particular shame was different and could not tolerate speech—not even in the language they had invented for secrets.

Would the inside dirtiness leak?

Now, exhausted, drifting toward a maybe permanent sleep, they don't speak of the birth of sin. Idagay can't help them with that.

Heed needs more Stanback and coughs when she swallows it. A rasping cough that takes a long time to quiet.

Where does it hurt?

Name it.

Be light soon.

Then what?

I'll carry you.

Yeah, sure.

Hey! Look what I found.

Christine holds up the pouch and empties it, spilling five jacks and a rubber ball on the floor. She collects the five and fans them out. Too few for a game. She takes enough rings from her fingers to complete the set. Stars mixed with jewels sparkle in fresh candle light. Heed can't bounce the ball, but her fingers are perfect for scooping.

Hating you was the only thing my mother liked about me.

I heard it was two hundred dollars he gave my daddy, and a pocket book for mama.

But you wanted to, didn't you? Didn't you want to?

Quickly Christine scoops four, then groans. The thorn in her shoulder is traveling down her arm.

I wanted to be with you. Married to him I thought I would be.

I wanted to go on your honeymoon.

Wish you had.

How was the sex?

Seemed like fun at the time. Couldn't tell. Nothing to compare it to.

Never?

Once.

Hey Celestial.

I'd just as soon our picnics. Member? H

Do I. We had Baby Ruths in the basket.

And lemonade. H

No seeds, either. L spooned out the seeds.

Was that baloney or ham? H

Ham, girl. L wouldn't go near baloney.

Did it rain? Seem to remember rain. H

Fire flies. That's what I remember.

You wanted to bottle them. H

You wouldn't let me.

The turtles scared us. H

You're crying.

So are you. H

Am I?

Uh huh. ✦

I can barely hear you

Hold my...my hand. ✦

He took all my childhood away from me, girl.

He took all of you away from me. ✦

The sky, remember? When the sun went down?

Sand. It turned pale blue. ✦

And the stars. Just a few at first.

Then so many they lit the whole fucking world. ✦

Pretty. So so pretty.

Love. I really do. ✦

Oh, sweet.

^

Ush-hidagay. Ush-hidagay.

In un-lit places without street lamps or yelping neon, night is profound and often comes as ease. Relief from looking out for and away from.

Thieves need the night in order to be furtive, but can't enjoy it. Mothers wait for it yet are braced all through their sleeping. The main ingredient offered

by the night is escape from watching and watchers alike. Artlessly, like stars free to make their own history and not care about another one; or like diamonds unburdened, released into handsome rock.

No one answers when he calls out, "Anybody here?" Guided by the weak beam of a flashlight, Romen crosses the lobby and climbs the stairs. It will be daylight soon, but now everything is hidden. He hears a light snoring to his left through a half open door. He pushes it wide and dapples the beam over two women. He comes closer. Both look asleep but only one is breathing. One is lying on her back, left arm akimbo; the other has wrapped the right arm of the dead one around her own neck and is snoring into the other's shoulder. As he pours light into her face, she stirs, focuses, and says, "You're late," as though they had an appointment. As though stealing the car was not an impulse but an errand she had assigned him. As though what Junior told him hadn't mattered.

"Look what I got." Junior was propped in Heed's bed under that man's picture. Naked, waving a folded sheet of paper. Romen hadn't looked at it.

He had been lying in the bed thinking about getting something to eat when she told him.

"You left them there?"

"Why not?...turn out the light, sugarboy."

Romen was reaching to turn off the lamp but found himself scooping up the car keys instead. He stood up then and dressed. Whatever Junior was saying, shouting, at his over-caressed back he couldn't decipher. He ran-fast, down the stairs, out the door, chasing^{ed by} the whisper of an old man.

"You not helpless, Roman. Don't ever think that." Stupid. He was trying to warn him, make him listen, tell him that the old Roman, the sniveling one who couldn't help untying shoe laces from an unwilling girl's wrist was hipper than the one who couldn't help flinging a willing girl around an attic. Slower, he thought. Slower. The road has no shoulders. Ditches beckoned on either side. One headlight blinked and died.

He has to carry them both. One at a time,^{one} at a time down the stairs. Tucking the dead one into the wide back seat; helping the other one into the front.

"She gone?"

"No Mam. She's at the house."

She won't let him go to the hospital, insisting he drive to Monarch Street.

When they arrive, light is finally breaking. The windows are glazed peach; the house inhales the damp air, its siding juicy with moisture. Roman carries her down the steps into the kitchen. Before he can seat her, Junior rushes in—~~all~~ big eyed and apprehensive.

"Oooo, I'm so glad. I tried to get help and couldn't find anybody then Romen came by and I made him go out there right away. You all right?"

"Alive."

"I'll make some coffee, should I? Where is...?"

"Get in there and shut the door." Leaning heavily, her arm bent in Romen's, a hand clutching the back of a chair, she nods towards L's old rooms.

Junior looks at Roman. He looks back, ^(over) ~~thinking something is draining from her. Junior frowns then turns and, looking all the while at the floor, goes in the room and shuts the door.~~

"Lock it," she tells Romen. "The key is in the bread box."

expecting to see pleading. There is only
startle in her eyes, ^{NO} without fear or question.
Holding her gaze, Roman watched the startle
become calculation became a frown directed
at the floor. Something ^{WAS} ~~is~~ draining from her.
"Go on!"

Without looking up Junior turns, goes
in the room and shuts the door.

He helps her into the chair, then locks the door.

"You got to take her to the mortuary. Find a phone and get an ambulance out here. Make haste,"

Romen turns to leave.

"Wait," she says. "Thank you, Romen. Everything left in me thanks you."

"Yes, ^{Ma} Mam," he says and heads for the door.

"Wait," she says again. "Take a blanket. She might get cold."

Alone, seated at the table, she speaks to the friend of her life waiting to be driven to the morgue. ^(over)

I bet she thinks up a way to get out before the ambulance gets here.

No she won't.

Well, she'll start yelling then. Think she's shamed?

Ought to be.

Should we let her stay, little rudderless, homeless girl?

Under certain circumstances.

Hey, Celestial.

Romen returns with a blanket. "I'll be right back," he says. "Don't

What do we do with her?
A bullet sounds about right.

You okay?
Middling, You?
Dizzy.

I bet she's figuring out a way to get out before
the ambulance comes.

No, she's not. Trust me,

Well, she'll start yelling in a minute, Think
she's shamed's

Ought to be.

^{you}
1 worry," he says and ^{opens} ~~steps through~~ the door.

^{Step on it.}
"Cover her," she says, stroking the key with her thumb. ^(Cover)
1

~~Outside the house Romen looks back.~~ ^{UN} Friendly looking clouds sail
over the roof of One Monarch Street, their big-headed profiles shadowing
all but one window—that keeps its peachy glint.

(A)

Should we let her go, little rudderless, homeless thing?

#What difference does it make?

#To me? None

We could let her stay - under certain circumstances

^{no #} Do you want her around?

What for? I got you.

She knows how to make trouble.

So do me.

Hey, Celestial.

Ramen is speeding down Monarch Street trying as best he can not to disturb his passenger. He is serene, in control, ^{now} although when he approached the car and looked back at the house he saw

313 Blank

314 312

1

I see you. You and your invisible friend, inseparable on the beach. You both are sitting on a red blanket eating ice cream, say, with a silver coffee spoon, say, when a real girl appears sloshing the wavelets. I can see you, too, walking the shore in a man's undershirt instead of a dress, listening to the friend nobody sees but you. Intent on words only you can hear when a real voice says Hi, want some? Unnecessary now, the secret friends disappear in favor of flesh and bone.

It's like that when children fall ^{for one another} ~~in love with each other~~. On the spot, without introduction. Grown ups don't pay it much attention because they can't imagine anything more majestic to a child than their own selves and

so confuse dependence with reverence. Parents can be lax or strict, timid or confident, it doesn't matter. Whether they are handing out goodies and, scared by tears, say yes to any whim, or whether they spend their days making sure the child is correct and corrected—whatever kind they are, their place is secondary to a child's first chosen love. If such children find each other before they know their own sex, or which one of them is starving, which well fed; before they know color from no color, kin from stranger, then they have found a mix of surrender and mutiny they can never live without. Heed and Christine found such a one.

Most people have never felt a passion that strong, that early. If so, they remember it with a smile, dismiss it as a crush that shriveled in and on time. It's hard to think of it any other way when real life shows up with its list of other people, its swarm of other thoughts. If your name is the subject of Corinthians 1:13 it's natural to make it your business. You never know who or when it will hit or if it can stay the road. One thing is true—it bears watching, if you can stand to look at it. Heed and Christine were the kind of children who can't take back love, or park it. When that's the case, separation cuts to the bone. And if the break up is plundered too, squeezed

for a glimpse of blood shed for the child's own good, then it can ruin a mind. And if, on top of that, they are made to hate ^{each} ~~one~~ another, it can kill a life way before it tries to live. I blame May for the hate she put in them, but I have to fault Mr. Cosey for the theft.

I wonder what he would make of Junior. He was adept, you know, at spotting needy, wild women. But this is now—not then. No telling what this modern breed of junior woman is capable of. Disgraceful. Maybe a caring hand, a constant eye, is enough, unless it's too late and their sleep is merely a waiting. ^(over) Mr. Cosey would know. You could call him a good bad man, or a bad good man. Depends on what you hold dear—the what or the why. I tend to mix them. Whenever I see his righteous face correcting Heed, his extinguished eyes gazing at Christine, I think Dark won out. Then I hear the laugh, remember his tenderness ^{cradling Julia in the sea} ~~with broken things~~; his wide wallet, his hands roughing his son's hair.... I don't care what you think. He didn't have an S stitched on his shirt and he didn't own a pitchfork. He was an ordinary man ripped, like the rest of us, by wrath and love.

I had to stop him. Had to.

Just as well they fought over my menu ^{preference} looking in it for a sign of love

— a smoldering, like a cinder in a mattress —
that no sugar can smother and put out.

and mis-reading it when they did. Heed's grasp of handwriting skills was limited, but she had to wonder in 1971 if the "sweet Cosey child" her husband was willing property to in 1958 was neither her nor Christine but a baby on the way. They never saw the real thing—witnessed by me, notarized by Buddy Silk's wife—leaving everything to Celestial. Everything. Everything. Except a boat he left to Sandler Gibson. It wasn't right. If I had been allowed to read what I signed in 1964 when the Sheriff threatened to close him down, when little children called him names and whole streets were on fire I might have been able to stop him then—in a nice way—keep him from leaving all we had worked for to the one person who would have given it away rather than live in it or near it; would have blown it up rather than let it stand as a reminder of why she was not permitted to mount its steps but was the real sport of a fishing boat. Regardless of what his heart said, it wasn't right. If I had read it in 1964 instead of 1971, I would have known that what looked like seven years of self-pity and remorse was really vengeance, and that his hatred of the women in his house had no level. First they disappointed him, then they defied him, then they turned his home into a barrel of quarreling she-crabs and his life's work into a cautionary

lesson in Black history. He didn't understand: a dream is just a nightmare with lipstick. Whether what he believed was true or no, I wasn't going to let him put his family out in the street. May was sixty-one; what was she supposed to do? Spend her old age in a strait jacket? And Heed was forty-one. Was she supposed to go back to a family who had not spoken to her since Truman? And Christine—whatever she was into wasn't going to last. There wasn't but one solution. ~~I made it quick so it wouldn't hurt so,~~ He wasn't fit to think, and at eighty-one he wasn't going to get better. It took nerve, and long before the undertaker knocked on the door, I tore that malicious thing up. My menu worked just fine. Gave them a reason to stay connected and maybe figure out how precious the tongue is. If properly used, it can save you from the attention of Police Heads hunting desperate women and hard-headed, mis-raised children. It's hard to do but I know at least one woman who did. Who stood right under their wide hats, their dripping beards and scared them off with a word—or was it a note?

Her scar has disappeared. I sit near her once in a while out at the cemetery. We are the only two who visit him. She is offended by the words on his tombstone and, legs crossed, perches on its top so the folds of her

Foxglove can be quick, if you know all that
what you're doing, and doesn't hurt ¹ long.

red dress hide the insult: "Ideal Husband. Perfect Father." Other than that, she seems content. I like it when she sings to him. One of those ^{sweet} raunchy tunes that used to ^{corrupt} ~~excite~~ ^(over) everybody on the dance floor. [^] Either she doesn't know about me or has forgiven me for my [^] solution, because she doesn't mind at all if I sit a little ways off, listening. But once in a while her voice is so full of longing for him, I can't help it. I want something back. Something just for me. So I join in. And hum.

END

Come on back baby. ^{Now} I understand.
Come back baby, Take me by the hand